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BOARD VOTE AND KEY FINDINGS  
 

The District of Columbia Public Charter School Board (“PCSB”) staff has conducted a charter review of 
the District of Columbia AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School (“AppleTree PCS”) according 
to the standard required by the School Reform Act (“SRA”), D.C. Code §§ 38-1802 et seq.1  

PCSB staff’s analysis of the school’s goals and academic achievement expectations (“academic 
expectations”) concludes that AppleTree PCS fully met four goals and academic expectations, 
substantially met one goal, and partially met two goals. The school has not materially violated the law or 
its charter, and is in strong fiscal health. Based on these findings, the PCSB Board voted 6-0 at its 
January 26, 2015 meeting to grant full continuance to AppleTree PCS. 

Apple Tree PCS’s campuses vary in their quality, with some showing consistently outstanding academic 
outcomes for students on multiple metrics and others showing some strengths, but also areas for 
improvement. AppleTree PCS receives management services from the AppleTree Institute for Education 
Innovation (the “AppleTree Institute”), which also partners with other schools to provide early 
childhood instructional support. Given the aggressive growth plan of the AppleTree Institute, and the 
school’s pending expansion to open a new campus co-located with Rocketship Public Charter School 
(“Rocketship PCS”), PCSB suggests that the board of AppleTree PCS focus keenly on the quality of its 
campuses to ensure that they continue to get the needed instructional support to be high-quality schools 
as measured by the school’s goals. Moreover, the school should note that it must fully meet all of its 
goals at its 15-year renewal to receive charter renewal. 

 

CHARTER REVIEW STANDARD 
 

The SRA provides that “PCSB shall review [a school’s] charter at least once every [five] years.”2 As 
part of this review, PCSB must determine whether: 
 

(1) The school committed a material violation of applicable laws or a material violation of the 
conditions, terms, standards, or procedures set forth in its charter, including violations relating 
to the education of children with disabilities; and/or 
 

(2) The school failed to meet the goals and student academic achievement expectations set forth in 
its charter.3 

                                                
1 D.C. Code § 38-1802.12(a)(3). 
2 D.C. Code §38-1802.12(a)(3). 
3 D.C. Code § 38-1802.12(c). 
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If PCSB determines that a school undergoing a five- or ten-year review has committed a material 
violation of law, or has not met its goals and expectations, it may, at its discretion, revoke the school’s 
charter, or grant the school a conditional continuance.4  

Additionally, there is a fiscal component to the charter review. PCSB is required by the SRA to revoke a 
school’s charter if PCSB determines in its review that the school (1) has engaged in a pattern of non-
adherence to generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”); (2) has engaged in a pattern of fiscal 
mismanagement; and/or (3) is no longer economically viable. 
 

SCHOOL BACKGROUND  

AppleTree PCS began operation in 2005 under authorization from PCSB and currently serves three- and 
four-year-old pre-kindergarten students. Its mission is “to provide young children with the social, 
emotional and cognitive foundations that will enable them to succeed in school.”5 

AppleTree PCS was founded by the AppleTree Institute, a non-profit organization founded in 1996 to 
“increase the supply of effective schools through innovation”6 and that created the nation’s first charter 
school incubator. In 2001, AppleTree Institute opened a tuition-free laboratory pre-school that 
implemented a research-based language and literacy program, which then became AppleTree PCS. The 
AppleTree Institute currently provides a range of management services to AppleTree PCS, including 
benefits management, payroll processing, and accounting services, among other things.7 

In 2005, AppleTree PCS initially served 36 students in Southwest DC. It grew to 180 students in 2008.  
In 2009, its enrollment almost doubled by expanding from 180 to 320 students; it also opened the 
Oklahoma Avenue campus that year. It added another 300 students and four new campuses in 2011. 
Today, AppleTree PCS serves over 640 students across five campuses in Wards 1, 6, 7, and 8. In 
December 2014, the PCSB Board approved a request from the school to increase its enrollment ceiling 
from 651 to 833 over the course of three academic years.8 Most of this increase relates to a partnership 
with Rocketship Public Charter School (“Rocketship PCS”). Upon Rocketship PCS’s opening, 
AppleTree PCS will operate a pre-school campus in the Rocketship PCS facility, with projected 
enrollment of 160 students.9  

Information about the school and an overview of its performance data are summarized in the table 
below. 

                                                
4 D.C. Code § 38-1802.12(a)(3); § 38-1802.13. 
5 AppleTree PCS Charter Agreement and Application, attached as Appendix A. 
6 See http://www.appletreeinstitute.org/about/history/, printout attached as Appendix B. 
7 See Board Meeting Minutes from June 16, 2014, attached as Appendix C. 
8 See December 15, 2014 Memorandum, attached to this report as Appendix D. 
9 See Appendix D. 
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Campus Ward Year 
Opened 

2013-14 
Student 

Enrollment 

2010-11 
PMF 2011-12 PMF 2012-13 

PMF 
2013-14 

PMF 

Columbia 
Heights 1 2007-08 161 6 of 6 

targets 10 of 10 targets 4 of 4 
targets 

6 of 7 
targets 

Southwest 6 2007-08 83 

Riverside 
4 of 6 
targets 

Riverside 
9 of 10 targets 4 out of 4 

targets 
6 of 7 
targets Amidon 

6 of 6 
targets 

Amidon 
9 of 10 targets 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 7 2010-11 162 6 of 6 

targets 8 of 10 targets 4 of 4 
targets 

5 of 7 
targets 

Lincoln 
Park 6 2011-12 61 N/A 8 of 10 targets 4 of 4 

targets 
6 of 7 
targets 

Southeast 8 2011-12 172 N/A 

Douglas Knoll 
9 of 10 targets 4 of 4 

targets 
4 of 7 
targets Parklands 

9 of 10 targets 
 

Charter Amendments 
In 2013-14, AppleTree PCS submitted a petition to amend its charter to adopt the Early Childhood 
PMF10 as its goals and academic expectations and to formalize its relationship with the AppleTree 
Institute, which acts as a management organization of the AppleTree PCS campuses. PCSB granted 
AppleTree PCS’s amendment request at its June 2014 board meeting.11  

Previous Charter Review 
PCSB conducted a charter review of AppleTree PCS during the 2010-11 school year. In this review, 
PCSB noted that the school had met its goals and academic expectations; had no known violations 
relating to the education of children with disabilities; had not engaged in a pattern of fiscal 
mismanagement; had followed generally accepted accounting principles; and was economically viable.12 
Based on this review, the PCSB Board voted in February 2011 to grant full charter continuance to 
AppleTree PCS.13  

  

                                                
10 The Early Childhood PMF is a standardized framework for assessing the performance of early childhood programs. 
11 See Appendix C. 
12 See 5-Year Review Board Memorandum, attached as Appendix E. 
13 See Board Meeting Minutes from February 28, 2011, attached as Appendix F. 
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GOALS AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS 
 
The SRA requires PCSB to review whether a school has met its goals and academic expectations at least 
once every five years. Goals and expectations are only considered as part of the renewal analysis if they 
were included in a school’s charter, charter agreement, or accountability plans approved by the PCSB 
Board (collectively, the “Charter”).  

In June 2014, the PCSB Board approved AppleTree PCS’s petition to amend its charter to adopt goals 
and expectations related to PCSB’s EC PMF.14 Consistent with PCSB policy, when a school adopts the 
PMF as its goals and academic expectations, PCSB will assess whether a school has met its goals and 
academic expectations starting in the school year that the respective PMF was formally adopted by the 
PCSB Board. As such, the EC PMF is considered to be AppleTree PCS’s goals and academic 
expectations for pre-kindergarten 3 and pre-kindergarten 4 starting in school year 2013-14. Per PCSB 
policy and the school’s 2014 amendment, these grade levels will be deemed to have met their goals and 
academic expectations at the school’s ten-year charter review based on: 

• Attainment of the majority of targets outlined in the school’s Early Childhood Accountability 
Plans for school years 2010-11 and 2011-12, and the Pilot EC PMF 2012-13. 

• Attainment of all of the following targets in the EC PMF for school years 2013-14: 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 students will meet or exceed the 
average growth or will score in the proficient range on the literacy portion of the Every 
Child Ready assessment, as designated by the publisher; 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 students will meet or exceed the 
average growth or will score in the proficient range on the math portion of the Every 
Child Ready assessment, as designated by the publisher; 

The school will obtain an average score of 3 on Instructional Support, 5 on Emotional 
Support, and 5 on Classroom Organization on the CLASS assessment; 

On average, pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergaten-4 students will attend school 88% of 
the days; and 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 students will progress to grade level 
baseline on the Social-Emotional Learning portion of the Positive Behavior Rating Scale 
assessment, as designated by the publisher.  

 

                                                
14 See Appendix C. 
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The chart below summarizes PCSB’s determinations of whether each academic program met their 
respective goals and academic expectations. These determinations are further detailed in the body of this 
report.  

 
Goals and Academic Expectations  Met? 

1 Literacy Progress Substantially 
2 Literacy Achievement Yes 
3 Math Progress Yes 

4 Math Achievement Yes 

5 Attendance Partially 

  
6 

The school will obtain an average score of 3 on 
Instructional Support, 5 on Emotional Support, and 5 

on Classroom Organization on the CLASS 
Assessment. 

Partially 

7 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 
students will progress to grade level baseline on the 
Social-Emotional learning Portion of the Positive 

Behavior Rating Scale assessment, as designated by 
the publisher. 

Yes 
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1. Early Childhood Literacy Progress. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS substantially met this goal. The school met the majority of its literacy progress targets over the past four years, but did not meet literacy progress 
targets at two of its five campuses in 2013-14. 

Early Childhood Literacy Progress as measured by the 
Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (“PPVT”) 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest15 Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-11 

Preschool and pre-kindergarten students 
will demonstrate an average gain of 4 or 
more standard score points from fall to 

spring on the PPVT. 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

6.53 points.) 

No 
(Students 

achieved an 
average loss of 
4.24 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

9.97 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

6.79 points.) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 
students beginning below a standard score 
of 100 will increase 4 or more points by 
the spring administration on the PPVT. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 13.7 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 13.7 

points.) 

Yes 
Students 

increased an 
average of 13.7 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 7.2 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 6.2 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 13.7 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 9.5 

points.) 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre- kindergarten-
4 students beginning at or above a 

standard score of 100 will maintain or 
increase their standard score points by the 

spring administration on the PPVT. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 1.1 

points.) 

Yes. 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 3.7 

points.) 

Yes. 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 3.7 

points.) 

No. 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 2.7 

points.) 

No. 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 4.1 

points.) 

Yes. 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 3.7 

points.) 

Yes. 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 0.4 

points.) 

2012-13 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-
kindergarten-4 students will gain at least 

four standard score points in 
literacy/language on the PPVT. 

Yes. 
(95.0% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes. 
(96.0% of students met this target.) 

Yes. 
(99.0% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes. 
(98.0% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes. 
(93.0% of students met this target.) 

 

                                                
15 Although the Douglas Knoll and Parklands facilities reported as one campus during the 2012-13 and 2013-14 school years and Riverside and Amidon facilities reported as one campus during the 2012-13 and 
2013-14 school years, each facility reported separately in the 2010-11 and 2011-12 school years.  
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Early Childhood Literacy Progress as measured by 
Test of Preschool Early  Literacy (“TOPEL”) 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-11 

Preschool and pre-kindergarten students 
will demonstrate an average gain of 4 or 
more standard score points from fall to 

spring on TOPEL. 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

5.29 points.) 

. No 
(Students 

achieved an 
average loss of 
1.79 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

16.9 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

13.9 points.) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 
students beginning below a standard score 
of 100 will increase 4 or more points by 
the spring administration on the TOPEL. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 19.5 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 18.3 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 18.3 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 25.1 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 27.5 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 18.3 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 24.6 

points.) 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 
students beginning at or above a standard 

score of 100 will maintain or increase 
their standard score points by the spring 

administration on the TOPEL. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 1.3 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 1.8 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 1.8 

points.) 

No 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 0.5 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 5.1 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 1.8 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 6.5 

points.) 
 

Early Childhood Literacy Progress as measured by the 
Every Child Ready assessment 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2013-14 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and -4 students 
will meet or exceed the average growth or 

will score in the proficient range on the 
literacy portion of the Every Child Ready 

assessment, as designated by the 
publisher. 

Yes 
(63.5% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes 
(67.6% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes 
(63.5% of 

students met 
this target.) 

No 
(56.5% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes 
(82.0% of 

students met this 
target.) 

No (46.4% of students met this 
target.) 
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Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB conducted Qualitative Site Reviews (“QSRs”) of all AppleTree PCS campuses, and observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence16 

Columbia 
Heights 

Teachers worked with students in small groups to blend sounds, read sight words, and write in journals about the thematic unit. Students also read books 
about dinosaurs in the library center. Teachers read books aloud in a whole group setting, stopping to ask the students about the book and engage them in a 
discussion about the topic. 

Southwest 
Students learned how to break down phonemes and identified sight words during small group instruction…During one of the small groups, students 
learned emergent writing skills as they practiced writing letters to their dinosaur pen pals. Students also worked on identifying letters and practicing 
writing their name. 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

Pre-literacy skills were infused throughout the day. Read Aloud time enabled the teacher to dissect a book in many ways. Teachers asked questions about 
the sequence of events and conducted pictures walks. In rooms where students had evidently read the book a few times, the teachers asked about the main 
characters, setting, and character traits. Students practiced singing songs that focused on letters, sounds, and a variety of vocabulary terms during song 
time and practiced letters or words during journal time. 

Lincoln Park 
Teachers presented literacy instruction by emphasizing isolated letter sounds, modeling combining sounds to form words, and leading small groups of 
students in practicing beginning, ending and medial sounds. Teachers worked with small groups to identify words in a group that rhymed and asked 
students to explain to peers how they knew that the words rhymed. 

Southeast 
Teachers instructed students in phonics where students learned about letter sounds and rhyming words. Classroom activities included students practicing 
the sounds that individual letters and letter pairings made as well as choosing the rhyming words in a poem. Students also explored literacy within the 
centers instruction through a variety of activities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
16 See AppleTree PCS Qualitative Site Review reports, attached to this report as Appendix G. 
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2. Early Childhood Literacy Achievement. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS met this goal. The school met all targets related to this goal. 

Early Childhood Literacy Achievement  as measured by the PPVT 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-11 

85% of preschool and pre-
kindergarten students will achieve a 

standard score within the normal 
range on the PPVT 

Yes 
(92% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Yes 
(87% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Yes 
(97% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 

Yes 
(92% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 

2011-12 

85% of pre-kindergarten-3 and 
pre-kindergarten-4 students will 

achieve a standard score at or above 
the normal range, 86 or greater on the 

PPVT 

Yes 
(91.2% of 

students achieved 
a score within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(92% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Yes 
(92% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 

Yes 
(92.7% of 

students achieved 
a score within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(93.1% of 
students 

achieved a score 
within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(90.3% of 
students 

achieved a score 
within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(90.3% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 
Early Childhood Literacy Achievement  as measured by the TOPEL 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia Heights 
Southwest Oklahoma 

Avenue Lincoln Park 
Southeast 

Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-
11 

85% of preschool and pre-
kindergarten students will 
achieve a standard score 

within the normal range on the 
TOPEL. 

Yes 
(96% of students 

achieved a standard 
score within the 
normal range.) 

Yes 
(97% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range) 

Yes 
(100% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 

Yes 
(100% of 

students achieved 
a standard score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 
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2011-
12 

85% of pre-kindergarten-3 and 
pre-kindergarten-4 students 

will achieve a standard score 
at or above the normal range, 
86 or greater on the TOPEL. 

Yes 
(97.3% of students 
achieved a standard 

score within the 
normal range.) 

Yes 
(97.3% of students 
achieved a score 

within the normal 
range) 

Yes 
(97.3% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 

Yes 
(98.7% of 

students achieved 
a standard score 

within the normal 
range.) 

Yes 
(100% of 
students 

achieved a score 
within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(96.1% of 
students 

achieved a score 
within the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(96.1% of 
students 

achieved a 
score within 
the normal 

range.) 
 
 
Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB reviewers observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence17 

Columbia 
Heights 

Teachers worked with some students individually to support more independent reading and writing. Teachers also modeled writing in a whole group 
setting while differentiating levels of what the students could do. Some students were encouraged to draw a picture and explain it while others were asked 
to label their drawings in their journals. 

Southwest 
During one of the observations, all of the students learned sight words beginning with the letter F. The teacher differentiated the level of support to 
students by having one group engage in extra practice identifying sight words…Teachers also assessed students using pictures of “rare words.” Students 
were expected to tell the name of each picture. 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

Generally, students worked in leveled groups in all classrooms and the teachers rotated through, differentiating instruction by spending more time with 
students who needed more attention. The teachers wrote notes throughout the lessons, assessing and tracking the skills of the students during most 
observations. 

Lincoln Park 

Teachers provided differentiated instruction in reading and assessed students to determine progress. Teachers pulled small, homogeneous groups of 
students to work at their skill-level and asked each student to demonstrate the particular skill that they were working on e.g., choosing pairs of rhyming 
words, identifying beginning, ending, and medial sounds, and naming words that began with a certain sound. Teachers provided timely and constructive 
feedback to students and retaught when students had trouble answering questions. 

Southeast 
Students worked in small groups with a teacher in the majority of observations. Teachers gave students individual attention in the small groups and 
assessed their work in real-time. In a few observations teachers also gave students feedback on their work quickly and guided students to make 
adjustments. 

 

                                                
17 See Appendix G. 
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3. Math Progress Indicators. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS met this goal. The school met the majority of the targets related to this goal. 

 

Early Childhood Math Progress as measured by the 
Test of Early Mathematics Ability (“TEMA”) 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-11 

Preschool and pre-kindergarten 
students will demonstrate an average 

gain of 4 or more standard score 
points from fall to spring on TEMA. 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

7.91 points.) 

Yes 
(Students achieved 
an average gain of 

6.37 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 
19.57 points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

achieved an 
average gain of 

14.1 points.) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-
kindergarten-4 students beginning 
below a standard score of 100 will 
increase 4 or more points by the 

spring administration on the TEMA. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 10.1 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 12.4 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 12.4 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 14.9 

points.) 

. Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 13.2 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 12.4 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 11.3 

points.) 

2011-12 

Pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-
kindergarten-4 students beginning at 
or above a standard score of 100 will 
maintain or increase their standard 

score points by the spring 
administration on the TEMA. 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 6.3 

points.) 

No 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 0.5 

points.) 

No 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 0.5 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 6.6 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 0.7 

points.) 

No 
(Students 

decreased an 
average of 0.5 

points.) 

Yes 
(Students 

increased an 
average of 3.6 

points.) 

2012-13 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-
kindergarten-4 students will gain at 

least four scale points in 
mathematics on the TEMA. 

Yes 
(79.0% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes 
(82.0% of students met this target.) 

Yes 
(82.0% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes 
(94.0% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes 
(85.0% of students met this target.) 
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Early Childhood Math Progress as measured by the 
Every Child Ready assessment 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2013-14 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and -4 
students will meet or exceed the 

average growth or will score in the 
proficient range on the math portion of 
the Every Child Ready assessment, as 

designated by the publisher. 

Yes 
(80.4% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes 
(81.7% of 
students 

met this target.) 

Yes  
(80.4% of 
students 

met this target.) 

Yes 
(68.3% of 
students 

met this target.) 

Yes 
(85.2% of 
students 

met this target.) 

No 
(55.4% of students 

met this target.) 

 

Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB reviewers observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence18 
Columbia 
Heights 

The teachers used small dinosaur toys to provide a visual representation of the numbers in the equation. Teachers also delivered math instruction in small 
groups using laminated placemats for counting and adding. Students used manipulatives to solve math problems. 

Southwest 
[S]tudents in one of the centers worked on identifying and writing two and three digit numbers on their whiteboards. Students also used counter blocks to 
count the number of sounds within a word. 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

The school has implemented effective instruction in math to support students’ academic progress. Teachers incorporated math instruction throughout the 
day including songs that were focused on numbers and counting. 

Lincoln Park 
[T]he team noticed the integration of math concepts at various points during the observed lessons. A few teachers asked students to count as they 
transitioned from one activity to another. 

Southeast 
Teachers worked with students on counting and foundational numeracy. The QSR team observed students doing various counting activities from singing 
along with a counting video to counting to a certain number in order to be dismissed to snack. Counting numbers were posted on the stairs and in the 
hallways for students to practice. 

 
                                                
18 See Appendix G. 
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4. Math Achievement Indicators. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS met this goal. The school only measured math achievement in 2011-12, but the majority of campuses met the target that year. 

Early Childhood Math Achievement  
as measured by the TEMA 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia Heights 
Southwest Oklahoma 

Avenue Lincoln Park 
Southeast 

Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2011-12 

85% of pre-kindergarten-3 and 
pre-kindergarten-4 students 

will achieve a standard score 
at or above the normal range, 
86 or greater on the TEMA. 

Yes 
(89.2% of students 
achieved a standard 
score at or above the 

normal range.) 

Yes 
(88.0% of students 

achieved a 
standard score at 

or above the 
normal range.) 

Yes 
(88.0% of students 

achieved a 
standard score at 

or above the 
normal range.) 

Yes 
(91.3% of 
students 

achieved a 
standard score 
at or above the 
normal range) 

Yes 
(100% of 
students 

achieved a 
standard score at 

or above the 
normal range.) 

No 
(74.2% of students 

achieved a 
standard score at 

or above the 
normal range.) 

No 
(74.2% of 

students achieved 
a standard score 
at or above the 
normal range.) 

 
Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB reviewers observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence19 

Columbia 
Heights Teachers also led small group math instruction and presented different levels of problems to different groups of students. Students also had opportunities to work independently. 

Southwest The teachers were able to individually assess student learning through questioning and observation. During two classroom observations students were assessed individually 
using the Every Child Readiness Curriculum (ECR). 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

Teachers had multiple opportunities to differentiate learning for students throughout the day in both reading and math instruction…The teachers wrote notes throughout the 
lessons, assessing and tracking the skills of the students during most observations. 

                                                
19 See Appendix G. 
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Lincoln 
Park 

The teachers generally used all time for instruction. One teacher asked students to count to 20 while she searched for a song they had requested to sing. The teacher gave the 
students a choice in how they wanted to count: doing jumping jacks, clapping their hands, or jumping. This teacher also asked students what day it was based on the date from 
yesterday, asking one student to explain this to the rest of the class. 

Southeast Students worked in small groups with a teacher in the majority of observations. Teachers gave students individual attention in the small groups and assessed their work in real-
time. In a few observations teachers also gave students feedback on their work quickly and guided students to make adjustments. 

 

5. Attendance. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS partially met this goal. The school met 12 of 21 attendance targets since 2010-11. 

 

Attendance Targets 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2010-11 
On average, preschool and pre-

kindergarten students will attend school 
85% of the days 

Yes 
(88.1% in-seat 

attendance) 

 Yes 
(86.2% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(86.2% in-seat 

attendance)  

Yes 
(85.1% in-seat 

attendance) 

Not open in 
2010-11. Not open in 2010-11. 

2011-12 
On average, preschool and pre-

kindergarten students will attend school 
85% of the days 

Yes 
(89.3% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(90.4% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(90.4% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(86.5% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(82.6% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(84.9% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(84.9% in-seat 

attendance) 

2012-13 
On average, preschool and pre-

kindergarten students will attend school 
88% of the days 

No 
(87.3% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(82.1% in-seat attendance) 

Yes 
(90.9% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(90.5% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(83.8% in-seat attendance) 

2013-14 
On average, pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-

kindergarten-4 students will attend 
school 88% of the days. 

No 
(87.2% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(89.0% in-seat attendance) 

No 
(84.2% in-seat 

attendance) 

Yes 
(92.1% in-seat 

attendance) 

No 
(82.2% in-seat attendance) 
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6. The school will obtain an average score of 3 on Instructional Support, 5 on Emotional Support, and 5 on Classroom Organization on the Classroom Assessment 
Scoring System (“CLASS”) Assessment. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS partially met this goal. For the most part, the school met targets related to the emotional support and classroom organization indicators. However, 
the school did not make the targets related to instructional support at any campus and did not meet the target for Classroom Organization at the Oklahoma Campus. 

CLASS is an observational tool that provides a common framework for measuring the quality of classroom interactions that promote children’s development and learning. In the 
2013-14 school year, the DC Office of the State Superintendent of Education (“OSSE”) contracted with an external vendor to administer observations of Pre-K classrooms in all 
schools with early childhood programs.  AppleTree PCS received ratings across three domains: 

• Emotional Support – how well teachers promote a positive classroom climate  
• Classroom Organization -- how well teachers manage children's behavior, time and attention   
• Instructional Support – how well teachers implement the curriculum to promote cognitive and language development 

 

2013-14 CLASS Scores for Early Childhood Programs 
(all ratings on a ‘1’ to ‘7’ scale, with ‘7’ as the highest score) 

Campus Emotional 
Support 

Classroom 
Organization 

Instructional 
Support 

Columbia Heights 5.47 5.33 2.69 
Southwest 5.87 5.48 2.30 

Oklahoma Avenue 5.35 4.84 2.40 
Lincoln Park 5.83 5.41 2.74 

Southeast 5.73 5.38 2.35 
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Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB reviewers observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence20 

Columbia 
Heights 

Overall, PCSB reviewers scored 87.5% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in classroom environment and 85% of observations as proficient or 
exemplary in instructional delivery. Reviewers recorded many instances of teachers and staff exhibiting patience with students and skilled management of 
students’ individual behavior: 
 

Teachers handled crying students in a calm manner with soft voices. Some were briefly removed from the room to get a 
drink. Teachers encouraged students to take deep breaths and explain why they were upset. 

… 
Teachers maintained high expectations for students and encouraged them to keep trying. Students who were having trouble 
blending some sounds continued to practice and were rewarded with praise after accomplishing the task.  
 

Reviewers also recorded many instances of teachers clearly communicating expectations for learning, directions, and procedures to the students through 
oral and written communication: 
 

Teachers communicated directions to students and modeled instructional tasks. Teachers embedded ways to gauge student 
understanding of the material such as asking students to give a thumbs up if they understood or agreed with another 
student’s answer. 

… 
Teachers posed numerous questions to elicit student responses during whole and small group instruction. Teachers repeated 
aspects of the lesson such as putting sounds together to form a word when a student did not arrive at the correct answer. 
Teachers also moved to more challenging tasks depending on student responses. When students finished a set of addition 
problems during small group work, the teacher moved on to more difficult equations with bigger numbers. 
 

Reviewers rated only 67% of the observations as establishing a culture of learning and noted that teachers in a few isolated instances were not engaged 
with students and exhibited a low level of energy for the work. Additionally, reviewers noted a few isolated instances where teachers did not pace the 
lessons well or adjust the lessons based on the student responses or participation level.  

                                                
20 See Appendix G. 
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Southwest 

The Southwest campus had the strongest QSR ratings of all AppleTree PCS campuses in 2013-14: reviewers rated 100% of observations as proficient or 
exemplary in classroom environment and 100% of observations as proficient or exemplary in instructional delivery. Students were focused and understood 
the routines and procedures, and teachers maximized every minute of instruction and communicated effectively with the students. Additionally, reviewers 
observed that: 

The learning centers and small group instruction were comprised of activities and learning opportunities that allowed 
students to experiment with manipulatives and develop basic reading and writing skills. The teachers used a variety of 
materials and resources when working with small and whole groups of students. The teachers also used timers to measure 
time on task and time spent completing tasks and assessments. 

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

At the Oklahoma Avenue campus, reviewers scored 79% of observations as proficient or exemplary in classroom environment and 85% of observations as 
proficient or exemplary in instructional delivery. Examples of teachers and students promoting an environment of learning, exploring, and understanding 
include: 

During one observation students were acting out a bear hunt with the music. When the teacher needed them to lower their 
voices and focus on her, she said, “Please catch a bubble.” Another teacher indicated she needed quiet for a task and students 
put their fingers to their lips. When teachers signaled the change of an activity, the students took the initiative to distribute 
and collect materials needed for the next lesson. 

… 
All teachers communicated the importance of learning to students, saying, “It is important that we all learn this, it will help 
us be good at other things.” and, “That is good, you all knew it. Students, can we do one more?” Teachers expected effort 
and participation from all students. Students responded by being persistent and completed high quality work. Students were 
excited to share their work with the teacher and other students. 

 
Reviewers observed teachers clearly communicating the lesson to students, and students were actively engaged in learning: 
 

Teachers clearly stated the purpose of the lesson and used challenging, age-appropriate vocabulary in all classrooms. The 
teachers’ explanation of the content was clear which invited student participation and thinking. Teachers also incorporated 
additional vocabulary when reading books to the class, such as “cooperate,” “compromise,” “museum,” and “illustrate.” Teachers 
modeled vocabulary and then invited students to use the new words in sentences. 

… 

Students had extensive choice in how they completed tasks and the materials and resources supported the learning goals. Students 
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actively worked on completing graphic organizers, writing their own ideas, designing their own artwork, and creating their own 
play experiences. Additionally the pacing of the lessons provided the time needed for students to be intellectually engaged. 
 

Under the “managing student behavior” domain, reviewers rated only 67% of observations as proficient of exemplary because teachers’ response to 
student misbehavior was inconsistent and could be harsh. Furthermore, reviewers rated only 67% of observations under the “instructional use of 
assessments” domain as proficient or exemplary. Reviewers noted that teachers in a small number of observations globally assessed understanding in the 
class without giving specific feedback to students.  

Lincoln Park 

The Lincoln Park campus received the second highest rating of all of AppleTree PCS’s campuses. Reviewers rated 100% of observations as proficient or 
exemplary in classroom environment and 92% of observations as proficient or exemplary in instructional delivery. PCSB staff concluded that the school had 
extensive strategies in place to meet the needs of all learners and that the six-to-one student ratio allowed teachers to continuously check in with individual 
students, provide feedback, and differentiate instruction. Reviewers recorded many instances of teachers and staff leading caring, cooperative classrooms: 

Teachers told students that they expected their best work, saying, “You are going to sing this song in your best voice.” Teachers 
recognized student effort in small groups as they asked each student a question related to the skill they were learning. Teachers 
said, “I like how you are repeating the words that you heard,” and “Nice job!” Students praised each other for good work, saying, 
“Super, good job!” and “You’re doing a great job!” 

… 

Across all classrooms students transitioned smoothly without assistance from the teacher during center time. Teachers established 
routines and rituals effectively throughout all classrooms, as students quietly entered classrooms at the beginning of the day and 
sat on the carpet, walked up the stairs quietly with their hands on the railing for safety, and cleaned up from snack on their own. 
Students responded consistently to cues and transition techniques, such as, “Everybody stop, hands on top,” which caused all 
students to quiet down and raise hands to show they were listening. 
 

Reviewers also saw teachers presenting lessons clearly, inviting students to think and offer answers to open-ended and single-path questions, and ensuring 
students were following along: 
 

Teachers asked open-ended questions during story time related to students’ prior knowledge of dinosaurs as well as questions 
related to the plot of the book. Students extended the discussion by asking their own higher order questions, like why dinosaurs 
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lived before humans. During snack time teachers walked around the classroom, asking students what they were learning and if 
their snacks were healthy, prompting students to freely discuss with both teachers and peers. 

… 
Teachers provided timely feedback and scaffolding. Teachers praised the students for correct answers and persistence and helped 
students get to the correct answers when needed. In one observation of a small group doing targeted work on social skills, the 
teacher asked each student to say one thing that he or she learned and every student was able to do so. 

 

Southeast 

Reviewers rated 84% of observations as proficient or exemplary in classroom environment and 66% of observations as proficient or exemplary in 
instructional delivery. Teachers showed a high regard for student ability, and reviewers noted well-established routines and procedures. For example: 
 

Teachers and students engaged in positive interactions through actions and words. Students asked teachers for help with 
tying shoes and opening snack bags by regularly saying “please” and “thank you.” Students called classmates by their first 
names when speaking to each other. Teachers also used hand motions and signals such as clapping hands, smiling faces, and 
high fives when students met or exceed expectations to indicate feelings. 
 

Reviewers also noted that students were consistently engaged in learning tasks and that teachers asked questions that elicited a variety of answers and built 
on peers’ responses: 
 

Teachers asked open-ended questions and welcomed multiple approaches to answering questions. All of the observations 
scoring proficient included teachers asking students questions like “What words start with the letter N?” and “Tell me what 
you mean by ‘big’,” which prompted students to share ideas and talk freely. One teacher asked students to respond by adding 
on to what their classmates had said. 
 

PCSB noted that some observations rated below proficient in instructional delivery because teachers asked primarily recall questions, did not use 
appropriate vocabulary, or did not appropriately pace the lessons. For example: 
 

Some teachers did not call on the students who were distracted or sitting improperly, causing only students who could sit 
quietly to fully participate in the learning task. Some students had trouble keeping the pace with a video of a song, which 
resulted in about half of the students not participating in that activity. 
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5. 60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-kindergarten-4 students will progress to grade level baseline on the Social-Emotional learning portion of the Positive Behavior 
Rating Scale assessment, as designated by the publisher. 

Assessment: AppleTree PCS met this goal.  

Early Childhood Math Achievement  
as measured by the Positive Behavior Rating Scale Assessment (“PBRS”) 

 Target Met? 

Year Target Columbia 
Heights 

Southwest Oklahoma 
Avenue Lincoln Park 

Southeast 
Riverside Amidon Douglas Knoll Parklands 

2013-14 

60% of pre-kindergarten-3 and pre-
kindergarten-4 students will progress to 
grade level baseline on the Social-
Emotional learning portion of the Positive 
Behavior Rating Scale assessment, as 
designated by the publisher. 

Yes 
(85.1% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes 
(64.8% of students met this target.) 

Yes 
(85.1% of 

students met 
this target.) 

Yes 
(70.2% of 

students met this 
target.) 

Yes 
(69.3% of students met this target.) 

 

Qualitative Evidence 
In April 2014, PCSB reviewers observed the following evidence in support of this goal.  
 

Campus QSR Evidence21 

Columbia 
Heights 

The QSR team scored 92% of the observations as exemplary or proficient in Creating an Environment of Respect and Rapport. Teacher and student interactions 
were warm and respectful. Teachers encouraged sharing and helped students cooperate as needed. 
Teachers managed student behavior with patience and understanding. They used behavior charts and the “Sit and Watch” chair when appropriate. Teachers 
placed stickers on the behavior charts to highlight appropriate behavior and talked about each student’s behavior as they placed the stickers next to the names. 
The “Sit and Watch” chair was used sparingly. The few students who sat in it were there for a brief time before they reentered the class activity.  

Southwest 
Students managed their feelings and behaviors and also worked cooperatively in their small groups. The students had healthy interactions with their 
classmates and were not observed having many behavioral issues. The teaching staff modeled the appropriate behavior that they wanted to see from 
students and redirected students’ misbehavior in a positive manner. Teachers used a “Sit and Watch” chair for students who were having trouble following 

                                                
21 See Appendix G. 
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directions. A student would sit and learn from other students who were on task and behaving appropriately. Some of the students hugged the teaching staff 
when they entered the classrooms.  

Oklahoma 
Avenue 

To provide students with the social foundation to succeed in school, teachers help students work together, share, and cooperate. Teachers discussed these 
components with students using stories, questions, and one-on-one time. One teacher read a book about sharing and then led the class through questions 
and a discussion about how to share supplies and how to cooperate with others.  

Lincoln Park 

Teachers consistently emphasized social skills in interactions with students by modeling respectful behavior and by praising students for positive 
interactions with peers. One teacher had a conversation with a student about the difference between tattling on a child misbehaving but not harming 
anyone versus telling an adult when a student is putting himself or others in danger. A small group of students worked in a small “social skills” group 
where they learned about age- appropriate social skills and had the opportunity to practice and demonstrate what they learned.  
Teachers supported emotional development by (1) having students watch other students follow directions in a “Sit and Watch” chair in order to get the 
student back on track, (2) praising students for staying on task and paying attention to the teacher’s directions, and (3) allowing the students to choose their 
own activities during center time. Students demonstrated social and emotional proficiency as they transitioned smoothly from center to center and through 
the absence of serious misbehavior.  

Southeast 

There was evidence that the school provides students with a social foundation. The students played and worked together in every observation. Teachers reminded 
students how to share appropriately, when necessary, and the students were generally comfortable completing tasks with each other. The QSR team also observed 
teachers using a “Sit and Watch” chair. Students were directed to sit in this chair and watch other students who were following directions.  
 
The classroom environments allowed students to celebrate each other’s successes. Teachers encouraged students to keep trying when they made a mistake. In one 
classroom where parents visited, the students told the parents about how they learned to tell whether things were a “big deal” or a “little deal,” as it related to how 
they learned to address issues that arose in class.  
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   COMPLIANCE WITH CHARTER AND APPLICABLE LAWS 
 

The SRA requires PCSB to determine at least every five years whether a school has “committed 
a material violation of applicable laws or a material violation of the conditions, terms, standards, 
or procedures set forth in its charter, including violations relating to the education of children 
with disabilities.”22 The SRA contains a non-exhaustive list of applicable laws, and PCSB also 
monitors charter schools for compliance with additional laws in annual compliance reviews. 
Below is a summary of the school’s compliance record. 

Compliance Item Description School’s Compliance Status  
2010-11 to present23 

Fair enrollment 
process 
D.C. Code § 38-
1802.06 

DC charter schools must have a fair and 
open enrollment process that randomly 
selects applicants and does not 
discriminate against students.  

In 2011-12, PCSB found that 
all campuses violated D.C. 
Code § 38-1802.06 when the 
school requested students be 
potty trained in its application. 
PCSB asked the school to 
remove this request and 
resubmit the application for 
PCSB review. This issue was 
resolved. 

Notice and due 
process for 
suspensions and 
expulsions 
D.C. Code § 38-
1802.06(g)  

DC charter school discipline policies 
must afford students due process24 and 
the school must distribute such policies 
to students and parents.  

Compliant since 2010-11. 

 
Student health and 
safety 
D.C. Code §§ 38-
1802.04(c)(4), 4-
1321.02, 38-651 

The SRA requires DC charter schools to 
maintain the health and safety of its 
students.25 To ensure that schools adhere to 
this clause, PCSB monitors schools for 
various indicators, including but not limited 
to whether schools:  
- have qualified staff members that can 

administer medications;  
- conduct background checks for all 

school employees and volunteers; and  
- have an emergency response plan in 

place and conduct emergency drills as 
required by DC code and regulations. 

Compliant since 2010-11. 

                                                
22 D.C. Code § 38.1802.12(c). 
23 See AppleTree PCS Compliance Reports, attached to this report as Appendix H. 
24 See Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565 (1975). 
25 D.C. Code § 38.1802.04 (c)(4)(A). 
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Equal employment 
D.C. Code § 38-
1802.04(c)(5) 

A DC charter school’s employment 
policies and practices must comply with 
federal and local employment laws and 
regulations.   

Compliant since 2010-11. 

Insurance 
As required by the 
school’s charter 

A DC charter school must be adequately 
insured. Compliant since 2010-11. 

Facility licenses 
D.C. Code § 47-
2851.03(d); D.C. 
Mun. Regs., tit. 14, 
§§ 14-1401 et seq.  

A DC charter school must possess all 
required local licenses. 

In 2011-12, the Parklands, 
Oklahoma Avenue, and 
Columbia Heights campuses 
were in the process of 
obtaining updated Certificates 
of Occupancy. 
 
In 2012-13, the Oklahoma 
Avenue had received its 
updated Certificate, but the 
Columbia Heights and 
Parklands updated Certificates 
of Occupancy were still 
pending. Additionally, the 
Amidon campus was also in 
the process of obtaining an 
updated Certificate of 
Occupancy. 
 
In 2013-14, all previously 
pending Certificates of 
Occupancy had been updated. 
The Lincoln Park campus was 
in the process of obtaining an 
updated Certificate of 
Occupancy. The school since 
notified PCSB that an updated 
Certificate of Occupancy for 
this campus was not needed 
because it did not intend on 
enrolling as many students in 
2014-15. 
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Highly Qualified 
Teachers 
 Elementary and 
Secondary Education 
Act (“ESEA”) 
20 U.S.C. § 6301 
 

DC charter schools receiving Title I 
funding must employ “Highly Qualified 
Teachers” as defined by ESEA. 

N/A26 

Proper composition 
of board of trustees 
D.C. Code § 38-
1802.05 

A DC charter school’s Board of 
Trustees must have: 
an odd number of members that does 
not exceed 15; 
a majority of members that are DC 
residents; and 
at least two members that are parents of 
a student attending the school. 

 In 2011-12, PCSB found that 
only one parent was on the 
board. This issue was 
resolved. 

Accreditation 
Status 
D.C. Code § 38-
1802.02(16) 

A DC charter school must maintain 
accreditation from an SRA-approved 
accrediting body approved by the SRA. 

Compliant since 2010-11. 

 

Procurement Contracts 
The SRA requires DC charter schools to utilize a competitive bidding process for any 
procurement contract valued at $25,000 or more, and within three days of awarding such a 
contract, to submit to PCSB all bids received, the contractor selected, and the rationale for which 
contractor was selected.27 To ensure compliance with this law, PCSB requires schools to submit 
a “Determinations and Findings” form to detail any qualifying procurement contract that the 
school has executed.   

Year 

Qualifying 
contracts 

executed by 
AppleTree 

PCS 

Corresponding 
documentation 

submitted to 
PCSB 

2010-11 Data 
unavailable - 

2011-12 8 6 
2012-13 4 4 
2013-14 6 6 

                                                
26 Pre-Kindergarten schools are not required to have “Highly Qualified Teachers,” as the requirement only applies to 
elementary and secondary schools.  
27 D.C. Code § 38-1802.04(c)(1). 
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Special Education Compliance 
Charter schools are required to comply with all federal and local special education laws, 
including, among others, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act28 (“IDEA”) and the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973. The following section summarizes AppleTree PCS’s special 
education compliance from 2011-12 to the present. 

OSSE Special Education Compliance Reviews  
The DC Office of the State Superintendent of Education (“OSSE”) monitors charter schools’ 
special education compliance and publishes three types of reports detailing these findings: (1) 
Annual Determinations; (2) On-Site Monitoring; and (3) Quarterly Findings (also called Special 
Conditions Reports). OSSE’s findings of AppleTree PCS’s special education compliance are 
summarized below. 

Annual Determinations 
As required by a federal regulation, OSSE annually analyzes each LEA’s compliance with 20 
special education compliance indicators, and publishes these findings in an Annual 
Determination report.29 Each year’s report is based on compliance data collected several years 
earlier. As such, OSSE does not require schools to cure any compliance issues detailed in these 
reports. In 2014, OSSE published its 2011 Annual Determination reports (based on the school’s 
2011-12 performance). AppleTree PCS’s Annual Determination compliance is detailed in the 
table below.30 

Year 
Percent compliant with 

audited special education 
federal requirements 

Determination Level 

2010 90% Meets Requirements 
2011 71% Needs Assistance 
2012 106%31 Meets Requirements 

 

On-Site Monitoring Report 
OSSE periodically conducts an on-site assessment of an LEA’s special education compliance 
with student-level and LEA-level indicators, and publishes its findings in an On-Site Monitoring 
Report. At the time, if a school was less than 80% compliant with a student-level and/or LEA-
level indicator, it was required to implement corrections and report these corrections to OSSE.  

                                                
28 20 U.S.C. § 1413(a)(5). 
29 As required by federal regulation 34 C.F.R. § 300.600(c).    
30 See FFY 2011 IDEA Part B LEA Performance Determinations, attached to this report as Appendix I. 
31 The school’s compliance rate is over 100% because OSSE issued a “bonus” compliant indicator – not having any 
longstanding noncompliance issues from FY2009, FY2010, or FY2011. 
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(Beginning in 2013, LEA’s are responsible for being 100% compliant with student-level 
indicators and LEA-level indicators on On-Site Monitoring Reports.) 32  

In 2011, OSSE published an on-site Compliance Monitoring Report of AppleTree PCS based on 
the school’s performance in 2011-12.33 The school was required to implement corrections in the 
following areas. OSSE has since verified that AppleTree PCS has implemented corrections for 
all identified student level findings. 

Student-Level Compliance 

Compliance Area 
Number of indicators 

where corrections were 
required 

Part C to B transition 1 out of 1 

   Initial Evaluations and 
Reevaluations 2 out of 3 

IEP Development 4 out of 9 

Least Restrictive 
Environment 2 out of 2 

Discipline 0 out of 2 

Data Verification 4 out of 7 

Total indicators where 
corrections were 

required 
12 out of 23 

 

LEA-Level Compliance 

Compliance Area 
Number of indicators 

where corrections were 
required 

Data Verification 0 out of 1 

Fiscal Requirements 2 out of 13 

                                                
32 If the school was found to be less than 100% compliant with a student-level indicator that could not be cured 
retroactively, OSSE would identify the point of noncompliance as an LEA-level violation.   
33 See 2011-12 On-Site Monitoring Report Attachments, attached to this report as Appendix J. 
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Total indicators where 
corrections were 

required 
2 out of 14 

 

Special Conditions Quarterly Reports 
OSSE submits quarterly reports to the U.S. Department of Education’s Office of Special 
Education Programs detailing District of Columbia LEAs’ compliance in three areas: (1) Initial 
and Reevaluation Timelines; (2) Early Childhood Transition Timelines; and (3) Secondary 
Transition Requirements. 

In recent special conditions reporting on OSSE’s DC Corrective Action Tracking System 
Database (“DCCATS”), AppleTree PCS was found to be noncompliant for Timely Completion 
of Initial Evaluation during the span of October 1- December 31, 2012. According to OSSE, the 
LEA has since corrected this issue of noncompliance. AppleTree PCS was again found to be 
noncompliant for Timely Completion of Initial Evaluation during the span of January 1, 2013 - 
March 31, 2013. According to OSSE, the LEA has since corrected this issue of noncompliance.34 

Blackman Jones Implementation Review 
With compliance requirements pursuant to IDEA and the 2006 Blackman Jones Consent Decree, 
OSSE manages and oversees the Blackman Jones database that tracks each LEAs’ timely 
implementation of Hearing Officer Determinations (“HODs”) and Settlement Agreements 
(“SAs”). 

As of June 2014, the Blackman Jones Database shows AppleTree PCS has no HODs or SAs.    

 

 

  

                                                
34 See Quarterly Findings Summaries, attached to this report as Appendix K. 
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FISCAL REVIEW 
 
STANDARD OF REVIEW 
The SRA requires PCSB to revoke a school’s charter if PCSB determines that the school:  

• Has engaged in a pattern of non-adherence to generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”); 

• Has engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement; and/or  
• Is no longer economically viable.35 

As part of the charter review process, PCSB reviewed AppleTree Charter School’s financial 
record regarding these areas.36  

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
AppleTree PCS has no pattern of non-adherence to GAAP, nor are there indications that it 
engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement. The school received the highest possible score on 
PCSB’s Charter Audit Resource Management framework – also known as the CHARM™ - in 
each year from FY2011 to FY2013. While many financial metrics improved in FY2014, the 
School’s fiscal score will decline slightly due to two audit findings and a qualified opinion on its 
compliance with the National School Lunch and Breakfast Program. The school has received all 
unqualified audits on its financial statements in each of the last four years.     

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
The following table provides an overview of AppleTree PCS’s financial information over the 
past four fiscal years. Enrollment almost doubled in FY2011 with a corresponding increase in 
revenue. In the last two years, enrollment has risen incrementally to 647 students in FY2014. The 
school has had four consecutive years of operating surpluses, which has allowed it to build a 
much stronger balance sheet, growing both its net asset position and cash balances.     

                                                
35 See D.C. Code § 38-1802.13(b). 
36 This review is based on the school’s FY2011, FY2012, FY2013, and FY2014 audits, attached to this report as 
Appendix L. 



 

29 
 

 

 
SPENDING DECISIONS 
The following table provides an overview of AppleTree PCS’s spending decisions over the past 
four years. In FY2012, the school’s spending on personnel increased due to its increased 
enrollment, from 54% to 62% percent of its total revenue, in line with the typical charter school 
in DC. As the school has grown over the four-year period, its occupancy costs have almost 
doubled. However, as a percentage of revenue, occupancy costs have remained in a relatively 
tight range between 17-19%. All of the school’s spending ratios are near the average of DC 
charter schools.    

 

2011 2012 2013 2014

Audited Enrollment 317 617 639 647
Total DC Funding 

Allocation
 $5,024,489   $10,085,050   $11,008,686  $11,063,469 

Total Federal Entitlements 
and Funding

 $1,720,231   $810,728   $404,243  $874,568 

Unrestricted Cash and Cash 
Equivalents on 6/30/14

 $608,102   $1,038,521   $1,576,777  $2,341,590 

Total Assets  $6,177,404   $6,453,414  $6,680,045 $7,634,887 
Total Current Assets  $3,280,650   $1,513,082  $19,752,102 $2,931,895 

 Total Liabilities  $4,488,584   $4,458,402  $4,080,884 $4,033,359 
Total Current Liabilities  $1,081,796   $1,271,406  $1,113,680 $1,285,947 

Net Asset Position  $1,688,820   $1,995,012   $2,599,161  $3,601,528 

Total Revenues  $6,982,093   $11,198,735   $12,008,981  $13,032,827 
Total Expenses  $5,750,787   $10,892,540   $11,404,832  $12,030,460 

Change in Net Assets  $1,231,306   $306,195  $604,149 $1,002,367 

Audit Year

2011 2012 2013 2014

Total Personnel Salaries and Benefits  $       3,760,675  $       6,953,220  $       7,576,897  $       8,127,002 
Total Direct Student Costs  $          602,697  $       1,043,719  $          907,556  $          886,140 
Total Occupancy Expenses  $       1,178,731  $       2,078,105  $       2,135,829  $       2,241,869 

Total Office Expenses  $            93,943  $          259,509  $          268,965  $          306,205 
Total General Expenses  $          114,741  $          557,987  $          515,585  $          469,244 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)  $       1,231,306  $          306,195  $          604,149  $       1,002,367 

Total Personnel Salaries and Benefits 54% 62% 63% 62%
Total Direct Student Costs 9% 9% 8% 7%
Total Occupancy Expenses 17% 19% 18% 17%

Total Office Expenses 1% 2% 2% 2%
Total General Expenses 2% 5% 4% 4%

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 18% 3% 5% 8%

Audit Year

as a percent of revenue
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ADHERENCE TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
Audits of AppleTree Charter School establish that the School has adhered to GAAP. The 
auditor expressed unqualified/unmodified opinions on the financial statements in each of the past 
four years.  However, the school received a qualified program opinion for its compliance with 
the National School Lunch Program in FY2014. Additionally, auditors noted two findings in the 
most recent year. One of the findings was due to the school’s controls around the lunch program. 
Specifically, AppleTree PCS failed to certify all of the forms submitted by parents.  The other 
finding was due to a lack of a lease or sublease agreement on file to support lease payments to a 
third party landlord for office space. In both cases, the school’s management has responded with 
a plan to rectify the findings.        

 

FISCAL MANAGEMENT 
The school has not engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement. While the School had 
audit findings in FY2014, the first in several years, there are no other concerning signs in the 
financial statements. The school has grown significantly over the last several years, and has used 
the additional revenue to strengthen its balance sheet. For the years of this review, AppleTree 
PCS has consistently received unqualified opinions on its financial statements.  
 
The AppleTree Institute, the school’s management organization37, managed all aspects of its 
finances, including accounting and fiscal compliance services. AppleTree PCS and AppleTree 
Institute are related parties, and share the same board of directors.38 The school also leases and 
subleases facilities from AppleTree Institute. In FY2014, AppleTree PCS paid its CMO 

                                                
37 While the school maintains that the AppleTree Institute is not a management organization of the school, PCSB 
believes that it is appropriate to characterize the relationship as such given that AppleTree Institute provides both 
administrative and educational services to the LEA. 
38 See Appendix L.. 

FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014
Statement Opinion. Required when auditor finds areas of doubt/questionable 
matters. Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unmodified

Statement Material Weakness. A deficiency in internal control, indicating a 
reasonable possibility that a material financial misstatement will not be prevented. No No No No

Statement Non-Compliance. Auditor tests for compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements. No No No No

Program Opinion (A133). Review of compliance with federal requirements 
conducted when school receives $500K+ in federal funds. Unqualified Unqualified N/A Qualified

Program Material Weakness (A133). Lack of  internal control over 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, etc.  No No N/A No

Findings & Questioned Costs. Findings important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance, with documentation of corrective action plans noting 
the responsible party.

0 0 0 2

Unresolved Prior Year Findings. Disclosure of prior audit findings that have not 
been corrected. 0 0 0 0

Going-Concern Issue. Indicates the financial strength of the school is questioned. N/A No No No

Debt-Compliance Issue. School was not in compliance with certain debt 
covenants.  A debt-compliamce issue may prelude insolvency. N/A No No No
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$407,619 for administrative costs. It paid an additional $207,000 to AppleTree Institute to 
provide services related to its federal grant to develop its curriculum.39 
 
ECONOMIC VIABILITY  
AppleTree PCS is economically viable. Audited enrollment has more than doubled in the last 
four years to 647 students in FY2014. The additional revenue has enabled the school to build its 
cash position and net assets. The following tables provide a summary of financial results for the 
past four fiscal years.  Areas of concern (where the school falls outside the norm among DC 
charter schools) are highlighted where applicable.   
 
Financial Performance 
PCSB assesses a school’s financial performance with two key indicators. The first indicator is a 
school’s “operating result” – how much its total annual revenues exceed its total annual 
expenditures. In general, PCSB recommends that a school’s annual operating results are positive. 
Another indicator of a school’s financial performance is its earnings before depreciation 
(“EBAD”)40, a financial performance measure of profitability. Based on these measures, 
AppleTree PCS’s financial performance has been strong in the most recent four years. 

 

Liquidity 
Two indicators of a school’s short-term economic viability are its current ratio41 and its days of 
cash on hand.42 A current ratio greater than one indicates a school’s ability to satisfy its 
immediate financial obligations. The school’s current ratio has been above 1.0 in all four years 
and was 2.3 at the end of FY2014.  

Days of cash on hand is an important liquidity measure because it reflects whether a school can 
withstand unexpected cash delays and still satisfy its financial obligations. Typically, 90 days or 
more of cash on hand is recommended. Less than 30 days of cash on hand is a liquidity concern. 
AppleTree PCS’s cash on hand has been above 30 days each of the last four years and 

                                                
39 See AppleTree PCS FY2014 audit, pp. 7 and 12. 
40 EBAD is the change in net assets plus amortization and depreciation. 
41 A school’s current ratio is its current assets divided by current liabilities. 
42 “Cash on hand” equals unrestricted cash and cash equivalents divided by total expenditures divided by 360 days. 
It is a measure of the school’s ability to pay debts and claims as they come due. 

Indicator
of Concern 2011 2012 2013 2014

Operating 
Surplus/(Deficit)

< 0 $1,231,306 $306,195 $604,149 $1,002,367 

Earnings Before 
Depreciation

< 0 $1,285,620 $540,149 $916,290 $1,319,635 

Aggregated 3-Year Total 
Margin

< -1.5 12.0% 6.9% 7.1% 5.3%

Audit Year
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improved to 70 days at the end of FY2014. The school has realized a positive cash flow from 
operations in each of the past four years. 

 

Debt Burden 
A school’s debt ratio43 indicates the extent to which a school relies on borrowed funds to finance 
its operations, and a ratio in excess of 0.92 is a concern to PCSB. AppleTree PCS’s debt ratio has 
been below the threshold of concern in all four years, and declined to 0.53 in FY14. The school 
received very favorable financing on its bond in 2010, which resulted in a debt service ratio that 
is well below the threshold for concern. Therefore, the school’s debt burden does not pose a 
threat to its economic viability.   

 
 

Sustainability 
A school’s net assets44 and primary reserve ratio are indictors of its sustainability.45 PCSB 
recommends that schools accrue net asset reserves equal to three to six months of operating 
expenditures, and PCSB would be concerned with net assets reserves below zero. AppleTree 
PCS has increased its net asset position significantly in the last four years. In FY2014, the school 
exceeded the recommended three months of operating expenditures. Since neither the net asset 
position nor the primary reserve ratio was negative in any of the four years, the school is 
financially sustainable. 

 
                                                
43 Debt ratio equals total liabilities divided by total assets.  
44 Net Assets equals total assets minus total liabilities. 
45 Primary Reserve Ratio equals total net assets divided by total annual expenses. 

Indicator
of Concern 2011 2012 2013 2014

Current Ratio < 0.5 3.0 1.2 1.7 2.3
Days of Cash On Hand < 30 38 34 50 70

Cash Flow from 
Operations

< 0 $1,770,301 $543,603 $838,908 $1,154,463 

Multi-Year Cumulative 
Cash Flow

< 0 ($252,158) $407,870 $968,675 $1,875,180 

Audit Year

Indicator
of Concern 2011 2012 2013 2014

Debt Ratio > 0.92 0.73 0.69 0.61 0.53
Debt Service Ratio > 10.0% 0.0% 1.1% 1.8% 1.7%

Audit Year

Indicator
of Concern 2011 2012 2013 2014

Net Asset Position < 0 $1,688,820 $1,995,012 $2,599,161 $3,601,528 
Primary Reserve Ratio < 0.00 0.24 0.16 0.2 0.3

Audit Year
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History

Since 1996, AppleTree has focused on increasing children’s access to quality public

schools that prepare them for success in school, work, and life.

AppleTree has been an innovator from the start, merging proven strategies in education with best
practices in business and entrepreneurship. Jack McCarthy, President and CEO, pioneered the creation
of AppleTree, combining his experience in politics and business with a sense of urgency about erasing
America’s achievement gap.

In 1996, AppleTree Institute for Education Innovation was founded to “increase the supply of effective
schools through innovation.”

Operating in Washington, DC, AppleTree created the nation’s first charter school incubator, initially
supporting and underwriting the creation of two charter high schools and the charter conversion of a
junior high school. These schools had high standards and exemplary designs, but students entered
several grade levels behind and struggled to meet the standards to progress to the next grade.
Witnessing these struggles and the heroic efforts of teachers to help students “catch up” led Jack to an
epiphany: “Why not create a preschool that would ensure children enter elementary school ready to
thrive?”

In 2001, AppleTree Institute opened a tuition-free laboratory preschool implementing a research-
based language and literacy program. From 2003 to 2005, AppleTree continued to improve the
instructional program, working with leading experts in early language and literacy instruction.

In 2005, the first AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School campus opened, re-affirming
AppleTree’s value as an innovation incubator.

Six more campuses opened in the next five years across Washington, DC. Today, AppleTree Early
Learning PCS is proud to serve over 640 students in 31 preschool classrooms across all four city
quadrants in DC. Through partnerships with other local education providers, AppleTree’s programs
will reach more than 1,200 DC children in 2013-2014.

Recent Milestones

2010
The Institute develops and pilots its Every Child Ready program for teacher effectiveness.
AppleTree Early Learning PCS fully implements the program during the 2011-12 school year.

AppleTree Early Learning PCS expands from 10 to 16 classrooms to serve 320 students across
three campuses and a temporary site.

We receive an Investing in Innovation (i3) grant from the US Department of Education to
implement Every Child Ready. AppleTree is one of the 49 applicants funded out of 1,698
applications received.

2011
AppleTree Early Learning PCS opens four new campuses, nearly doubling its enrollment from
320 to 620 students, with a presence in all four DC quadrants.

2012
Every Child Ready is selected by NewSchools Venture Fund for use in Accelerate DC, a project
designed to strengthen schools in need of improvement. NewSchools identified Every Child
Ready as a research-based, data-driven model.
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DC Public Charter School Board  
 

Meeting Minutes: June 16, 2014 
7:00 PM 

 
Meeting Location: 

DC Public Charter School Board 
3333 14th Street, Suite 210 

Washington, DC 20010 
 

Public Hearing 
 

Board Members in attendance: Naomi DeVeaux (Ex-Officio); John “Skip” McKoy (Chair); 
Sara Mead; Barbara Nophlin; Don Soifer; Herb Tillery.  
 
Absent: Darren Woodruff 
 
Mr. McKoy called the public hearing to order at 7:39 PM. 
 

I. Excel Academy Public Charter School (“Excel Academy PCS”) Amendment – Goals 
A. PCSB Representative: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
B. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway stated that this Board Action regarding Excel Academy PCS’ 
charter amendment request is open for public comment. She reviewed the 
proposed charter amendment request, which would amend the school’s existing 
goals to adopt the Early Childhood and Elementary/Middle School Performance 
Management Frameworks (“PMF”s) as its goals and academic achievement 
expectations. 

• Ms. Medway added that PCSB staff requests that changes to Excel’s curriculum, 
which will implement two computer-based programs, Rosetta Stone for middle 
school foreign language instruction and Lexis Reading for elementary and middle 
school literacy, be read into the record. 

 
II. Notification of Location and/or SY2014-15 Enrollment Numbers;  

A. Academy of Hope Adult Public Charter School (“Academy of Hope PCS”)  
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Monique Miller, New School Development 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Miller reviewed the PCSB staff recommendation, that the Board approve 
Academy of Hope PCS’ charter so that the school may open at its two existing 
facilities, located at 601 Edgewood Street, NE and 3700 9th Street, SE, 
beginning in the 2014-15 school year,. Ms. Miller advised the Board that the 
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school may move its Southeast facility to 421 Alabama Avenue, SE, as it is 
currently in negotiations with the landlord. 

• Ms. Miller added that the school intends to enroll 300 students in its first year 
of operation, and will increase its enrollment to 1000 students by the 2018-19 
school year. She noted that the enrollment ceiling increased from the ceiling 
included in its original application. As such, the Board voted to leave the 
record open for public comment through June 21, 2014, and authorized Mr. 
McKoy to sign the charter agreement on behalf of the Board if PCSB did not 
receive any public comment requiring further board discussion. 

B. Lee Montessori Public Charter School (“Lee Montessori PCS”) 
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Monique Miller, New School Development 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Miller reviewed the PCSB staff recommendation, that the Board approve 
Lee Montessori PCS’ charter agreement so that the school may open at 2000 
Douglas Street, NE, starting in the 2014-15 school year, and authorize Mr. 
McKoy to sign the agreement with the school.  

• Ms. Miller added that the school will co-locate with Inspired Teaching 
Demonstration Public Charter School, and will enroll 79 students in its first 
year, expanding to enroll 219 students by the 2018-19 school year. She noted 
that the enrollment numbers are slightly higher than those included in the 
school’s application. 

• As such, the Board voted to leave the record open for public comment through 
June 21, 2014, and authorized Mr. McKoy to sign the charter agreement on 
behalf of the Board if PCSB did not receive any public comment requiring 
further board discussion. 

C. Harmony Public Charter School (“Harmony PCS”) 
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Monique Miller, New School Development 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Miller reviewed the PCSB staff recommendation, open for public 
comment through June 21, 2014, that the Board approve Harmony PCS’ 
charter agreement so that the school may open at 62 T Street, NE beginning in 
the 2014-15 school year, deferring the condition that the school obtain an 
insurance certificate because the school will be unable to receive a certificate 
until taking possession of the facility on July 1, 2014, and authorize Mr. 
McKoy to sign the agreement with the school. Ms. Miller added that the 
school would enroll up to 216 students in its first year. 

• As such, the Board voted to leave the record open for public comment through 
June 21, 2014, and authorized Mr. McKoy to sign the charter agreement on 
behalf of the Board if PCSB did not receive any public comment requiring 
further board discussion. 
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D. District of Columbia International (“DCI”) 
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Monique Miller, New School Development 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Miller reviewed the PCSB staff recommendation, that the Board fully 
approve charter amendments and authorize Mr. McKoy to sign amendments 
for (1) DC Bilingual Public Charter School (“DC Bilingual PCS”); (2) Elsie 
Whitlow Stokes Public Charter School (“Stokes PCS”); (3) Latin American 
Montessori Bilingual Public Charter School (“LAMB PCS”); (4) Mundo 
Verde Public Charter School (“Mundo Verde PCS”); and (5) Washington Yu 
Ying Public Charter School (“Yu Ying PCS”). The charter amendments allow 
each school to (1) expand its charter; (2) serve grades 6 through 12; (3) 
contract with DCI to provide education and other serves for students in grades 
6 through 12; (4) increase its enrollment ceilings to accommodate expansion; 
(5) adopt the Elementary/Middle School and High School Performance 
Management Frameworks; and (6) co-locate and operate grades six and seven 
at one campus, located at 3220 17th Street NW, during the 2014-15 school 
year. 

• Ms. Miller added that PCSB staff requests approval for PCSB to enter into an 
agreement with DCI, which will operate the campus serving five co-located 
schools. She stated that the five co-locating schools will collectively enroll up 
to 215 students in the 2014-15 school year. 

• As such, the Board voted to leave the record open for public comment through 
June 21, 2014, and authorized Mr. McKoy to sign the charter agreement on 
behalf of the Board if PCSB did not receive any public comment requiring 
further board discussion. 

 

 

Mr. Soifer moved to adjourn the hearing, and Mr. Tillery seconded. The Board voted approved 
the motion 5-0. The public hearing was adjourned at 7:46 PM. 

 

Public Meeting 
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Board Members in attendance: Naomi DeVeaux (Ex-Officio); Skip McKoy (Chair); Sara 
Mead; Barbara Nophlin; Don Soifer; Herb Tillery.  

 

Absent: Darren Woodruff 

 

Mr. Tillery left the meeting at 9:32 PM, and voted by proxy for some subsequent votes. 

 

Mr. McKoy called the public meeting to order at 7:46 PM. 

 

I. Approval of the Agenda.  Mr. Soifer moved to approve the agenda, and Mr. Tillery 
seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0.  
 

II. Public Comments by Elected Officials. No public officials addressed the Board. 
 

III. Public Comment. No members of the public addressed the Board.  
 

IV. Approval of Minutes – May 19, 2014.  Mr. Soifer moved to approve the minutes from 
the PCSB Board meeting on May 19, 2014, and Ms. Mead seconded. The Board 
approved the motion 5-0. 

 

V. Administrative Contracts over $25,000. Mr. McKoy stated that the contracts would be 
read into the record unless an objection was raised. No objection was raised.  
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VI. Approval of Technology Plan – KIPP DC Public Charter School (“KIPP DC PCS”). 
Mr. McKoy stated that the technology plan would be read into the record unless an 
objection was raised. No objection was raised.   

 
VII. Discussion Item: Community Advisory Group (“CAG”) Update   

A. Representatives:  
1. PCSB: Tomeika Bowden, Associate, Communications 
2. CAG: Ms. Allison Acosta (Ward One); Mr. Alex Hogan (Ward One); Ms. Elisa 

Irwin (Ward Four); Ms. Selma Patillo-Simms (Ward One) 
B. Discussion 

• Ms. Bowden stated the Board approved the CAG in June 2013, and the CAG 
started with 21 members representing every ward of DC. She added that CAG 
subcommittees include: helping Tier 3 schools improve, working with special 
populations, school boundaries, facilities, transportation, and communications. 
She stated that the CAG communications subcommittee distributed a 
communications survey; revised language related to school boundaries; and wrote 
letters to advocate on issues related to school boundaries. 

• Mr. Hogan stated that the subcommittee on communications was tasked with 
finding more effective ways through which PCSB could communicate with DC 
communities. He added that the subcommittee created a survey for current and 
future parents of students in charter as well as DCPS schools. He stated that the 
subcommittee distributed an online survey through neighborhood listservs asking 
parents how they currently receive information from PCSB, and what information 
they would like to see PCSB and charter schools provide. 

• Ms. Acosta summarized the results of the survey, which solicited 201 responses, 
with the most respondents in Wards One, Four, and Five. She said that most 
respondents’ oldest child was in elementary school. She stated that the survey 
revealed that word of mouth was the most popular way for community members 
to get information about DC charter schools. She added that other ways in which 
parents and families learned about schools included My School DC, 
GreatSchools, the DCPS website, school administrators, and school websites. She 
noted that a majority of respondents’ children attended charter schools.  

• Ms. Acosta noted that CAG members were not aware of all of the information 
available on the PCSB website, although the information, such as the performance 
reports, would be helpful to parents. She noted that the survey was conducted 
through email, and might be biased to people who prefer to be communicated 
with through email. She added that one suggestion would be to include all reports 
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about a school on one page. She stated that community listservs could be used to 
relay information, or PCSB could offer an option to sign up for email blasts.  

• Ms. Irwin stated that several CAG members attended the school boundary 
meetings held by the Deputy Mayor for Education (“DME”). She expressed 
concern that at the April DME meeting about school boundaries, there was a sheet 
distributed about the relationship between charter schools and DCPS that 
suggested there may be an infringement on charter school autonomy. She stated 
that the CAG sent a letter to the DC Advisory Committee on Students Assignment 
and Preferences opposing infringement of charter school and PCSB autonomy. 
She noted that as a result of sending the letter, the Deputy Mayor for Education, 
Abigail Smith, has asked to meet with the group.  

• Mr. McKoy asked, when the CAG examined the boundaries and reports, if there 
were other implications for charter schools. Ms. Irwin replied that the CAG would 
continue to look at neighborhood preferences and changing the idea of a city-wide 
lottery. She added these were not issues that could be decided quickly.  

• Mr. Soifer stated he was pleased at the input of the CAG, and asked how many 
CAG members were active. Ms. Irwin stated that the CAG meets bimonthly, but 
hopes to meet more frequently moving forward. She added that the group hopes to 
look at testing; Common Core issues; special populations, including special 
education; and transportation. She noted that one issue that has come up is that 
families with small children have to pay for their own Metro cost, and said that 
one of the proposals put forward by the DME included these transportation costs.  

• Mr. Soifer asked if CAG’s membership includes all areas of the city. The CAG 
members replied in unison that all wards are included except for Ward Two.  

• Mr. Soifer asked the CAG members if they see their constituency as charter 
school families, or as the broader community. Ms. Acosta replied that she comes 
to the CAG as a parent. Mr. Hogan noted that not every person on the board is a 
parent, and that the CAG seeks input from all of its members. Ms. Irwin added 
that the CAG is considering how to obtain more input from parent teacher 
organizations (“PTOs”). Ms. Patillo-Simms stated that the CAG has reached out 
to different types of community organizations, and also conducted outreach 
through the Expo. She noted that the CAG is seeking input from all 
Washingtonians who are passionate about education issues.  

• Ms. Nophlin about asked about the total membership of the CAG. The CAG 
members replied in unison that there are 20 members. Ms. Nophlin asked about 
the number of members from each ward. Ms. Bowden replied that two members 
are from Ward Eight, two members are from Ward Seven, three members are 
from Ward Five, and three from Ward Four. 

• Mr. Tillery express concern about the number of survey respondents to survey, 
particularly from Wards Seven and Eight. He wondered what outreach was 
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conducted. Ms. Patillo-Simms noted that it is difficult to reach families in Wards 
Seven and Eight despite significant effort by the committee. Mr. Hogan added 
that the survey results were not a final product, but a start to the CAG’s outreach. 
He stated that this survey made clear the CAG needed to do more work to reach 
out to families in Wards Seven and Eight. Ms. Acosta added that listserves did not 
appear to be a good way to reach families in those wards. Mr. Tillery stated 
listervs are not a good way to reach low-income families. Ms. Patillo-Simms 
stated that before the meeting, the CAG discussed going into the neighborhoods 
to distribute fliers and make face-to-face contacts. Ms. Nophlin suggested that 
because there are more schools in Wards Seven and Eight, the group could 
distribute information through the schools. Ms. Acosta noted that if families are 
not accessing the Internet, then they are clearly not connecting with the PCSB 
website and the CAG should consider what additional materials would be helpful. 
Ms. Irwin added this is one reason the CAG is looking to partner with PTOs.  

 

VIII. Potomac Lighthouse Public Charter School (“Potomac Lighthouse PCS”) – 
Termination of Relationship with Charter Management Organization (“CMO”)  
A. Representatives 

1. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
2. School: Ms. Betsy Jorgensen, Board Chair; Ms. Melody Giles, Board Secretary 
3. CMO: Ms. Carole Kelley, Regional Vice President, Washington, DC, Lighthouse 

Academies 
B. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway summarized the history of Potomac Lighthouse PCS’ relationship 
with its CMO, Lighthouse Academies, which has served as the school’s CMO for 
the past nine years. She stated that in May 2014, the school provided PCSB with 
written notice of termination of service as well as a draft termination agreement. 
She added that the school’s charter agreement states that the school cannot 
terminate its CMO contract without prior consent of the PCSB Board.  

• Mr. Soifer asked Ms. Jorgensen to speak as to why PCSB should approve the 
termination of relationship agreement. Ms. Jorgensen replied that the school 
negotiated with Lighthouse Academies an agreement of mutual termination, and 
the school is now asking for the PCSB Board to approve that agreement. She 
added that the school’s board will operate the school going forward through the 
2014-15 school year, and has issued a request for proposals (“RFP”) for a new 
operator.  
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• Mr. Soifer clarified whether the RFP would bring in a new operator beginning in 
the 2015-16 school year. Ms. Jorgensen responded that the RFP requests that a 
new operator manage the school beginning in the 2015-16 school year. She added 
that the school has contracted with EdOps for back office services, with the 
remainder of the services to be provided in-house by the school. 

• Mr. Soifer asked about the school’s personnel situation given the change in 
operators. Ms. Jorgensen replied that the school’s current personnel situation is 
strong. She added that the school hired a new principal, Dr. Marian White-Hood, 
as well as a new operations person. She stated that beginning in the 2015-16 
school year, the school would work with the new operator regarding personnel 
issues. 

• Mr. Soifer asked how parents, students, and families were notified of the change 
in the school’s operator. Ms. Jorgensen replied that the school sent out a letter 
notifying parents of the termination. She added that the termination is also on the 
next board agenda. She noted that one of the board member serves as a parent 
liaison, and the new principal has met with several groups of parents.  

• Mr. Tillery asked Ms. Giles, who serves as parent liaison, about the school’s 
climate moving forward. Ms. Giles replied that Ms. White-Hood met with 
parents, and she felt, based on that meeting, that previously unengaged parents 
will be more engaged with the school. She noted that many parents want their 
students to stay at the school and see potential in the operator change. Ms. 
Jorgensen added that parents have given positive feedback about the choice for 
the new principal. 

• Ms. Nophlin asked how the school would hold the principal accountable, and 
what was the intended timeframe for the accountability process. Ms. Jorgensen 
replied that the school is working through this issue, and noted that Ms. White-
Hood presented a detailed outline of her turnaround plan, including immediate 
and urgent items. She added that the school has established goals to which the 
principal would be held accountable. She stated that Ms. White-Hood would 
begin her role as principal on July 1. Ms. Nophlin asked if the accountability 
goals establish a year-long timeframe. Ms. Jorgensen replied that some of the 
goals must be accomplished within 100 days after Ms. White-Hood assumes the 
role of principal, and other goals must be accomplished within the first year. 

• Ms. Nophlin asked about the process used to select the school’s new principal. 
Ms. Jorgenson replied that the school undertook multiple rounds of extensive 
interviews, and also created a board committee to select the principal. Ms. Giles 
added that the committee conducted a round of phone interviews, then selected 
the best applicants, and conducted a round of in-person interviews. She stated that 
the top three applicants were the selected to make a 15-minute presentation about 
their plan for the school. Ms. Jorgensen stated that the candidates were made 
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aware of board concerns and issues with the school, and their presentations were 
targeted to address these concerns.  

• Ms. Mead asked about the impact of the termination of the operator relationship 
on the school’s finances. Ms. Jorgensen replied that the impact on the school 
would be a net positive. She stated that the school had two contracts with 
Lighthouse Academies: (1) a main contract for the provision of school services, 
and (2) a facilities management contract. She noted that most of the functions 
covered under the contracts will be brought in-house. She stated that the main 
school services contract with Lighthouse Academies was $300,000 annually; the 
new contract for back office services would cost about $150,000. She said that the 
biggest impact on the school’s finances may be based on fluctuations in the 
school’s enrollment.  

• Ms. Mead asked if the school owns or leases its building. Ms. Jorgensen replied 
that the school leases its building. Ms. Mead asked who owns the building, and 
Ms. Jorgensen replied that the Charter Schools Development Corporation 
(“CSDC”) owns the building. Ms. Mead asked if termination of the operator 
relationship would impact the school’s ability to remain in its current facility. Ms. 
Jorgensen replied that the school has been in discussion with CSDC, and that the 
lease has a provision for subordination of the management fee to Lighthouse 
Academies; the school is working with CSDC regarding what is needed to 
acknowledge the termination.  

• Ms. Mead asked how many of the duties that the school will bring in-house as a 
result of the termination will be added to the duties of existing staff, and how 
many will require hiring of new staff. Ms. Jorgensen stated that the school would 
be hiring new people, but some of the duties would be shifted to current staff. 

• Ms. Mead asked about the teacher retention rate following the operator 
termination. Ms. White-Hood replied that the hiring team has reviewed 
applications and conducted phone screens, and that, following these phone 
screens, she conducts an interview with candidates. Ms. Jorgensen added that all 
preschool and special education teachers are returning, but the school will be 
replacing many teachers in other grades.  

• Ms. Mead asked Ms. White-Hood if she had an opportunity to evaluate teachers 
and staff at the school. Ms. White-Hood responded that she reviewed evaluations 
made by the previous principal as well as Ms. Kelley, but added that she 
conducted parent meetings, staff interviews, and focus sessions with students to 
obtain a full picture of staff performance. 

• Ms. Mead asked about the school’s enrollment for the 2014-15 school year based 
on My School DC results. Ms. Kelley stated that, based on the My School DC 
process, the school will enroll 350 students in the 2014-15 school year, although 
she noted that the school’s enrollment goal was 390 students. She added that the 
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school enrolled 425 students in the 2013-14 school year, but the school predicted 
there would be a drop in enrollment through attribution. She stated that she is 
confident the school will meet its enrollment goals.  

• Ms. Mead asked if the school would change its name, and Ms. Jorgensen replied 
that the school would be changing its name. Ms. Mead asked Ms. Jorgensen to 
clarify if the name change was part of the Board’s vote. Ms. Jorgensen replied 
that the name change was not part of the Board’s vote, but, per the termination 
agreement, the name change must be completed by June, and the school will 
updated its articles of incorporation and bylaws accordingly.  

C. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to approve the operator termination agreement between 
Potomac Lighthouse PCS and Lighthouse Academies, and Ms. Nophlin seconded. 
The Board approved the motion 5-0. 

 
IX. Authorize Board Chair to Sign 15 Year-Year Renewed Charter Agreement 

A. Ideal Public Charter School (“Ideal PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Dr. George Rutherford, Principal; Ms. Gloria Dobbins, Assistant 

Principal/Instructional Coordinator 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 
recommending that the Board vote to approve Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 
15-year charter agreement with Ideal PCS.  

• Ms. Medway reviewed the changes in the new charter agreement, which 
include (1) updated articles of incorporation and bylaws; and (2) updated 
goals and academic achievement expectations, including adoption of the Early 
Childhood and Elementary/Middle School PMFs. She summarized the PMF 
target the school must meet at the time of charter review and renewal. 

3. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to authorize Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 15-year 
agreement with Ideal PCS, and Mr. Tillery seconded. The Board approved the 
motion 5-0. 

B. Meridian Public Charter School (“Meridian PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Mr. Chris Siddall, Board Chair 

2. Discussion 
• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 

recommending that the Board vote to approve Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 
15-year charter agreement with Meridian PCS.  
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• Ms. Medway reviewed the changes in the new charter agreement, which 
include (1) updated articles of incorporation and bylaws; and (2) updated 
goals and academic achievement expectations. 

• Ms. Mead asked Ms. Medway and Mr. Siddall to explain the NAEP rubric 
expectation included in the school’s science goal. Ms. Medway stated that the 
rubric was based on an internal evaluation, and Mr. Siddall added that it 
included peer evaluation.  

3. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to authorize Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 15-year 
agreement with Meridian PCS, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board approved the 
motion 5-0. 

C. Perry Street Preparatory Public Charter School (“Perry Street Prep PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Ms. Cindy Brown, Board Chair; Mr. Shadwick Jenkins, Head of 

School 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 
recommending that the Board vote to approve Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 
15-year charter agreement with Perry Street Prep PCS. 

• Ms. Medway reviewed the changes in the new charter agreement, which 
include (1) engagement with a high quality early childhood operator to 
operate the school’s pre-kindergarten program beginning in the 2014-15 
school year; (2) closure of the school’s high school program at the end of the 
2014-15 school year; (3) updated articles of incorporation; and (4) updated 
goals and academic achievement expectations, including adoption of the Early 
Childhood and Elementary/Middle School PMFs, as well as two school-
specific goals for special education and data submission. She summarized the 
PMF target the school must meet at the time of charter review and renewal. 

• Ms. Mead asked the school to discuss their progress on the two conditions, 
which included (1) obtaining an early childhood operator, and (2) closure of 
the high school program. Mr. Jenkins replied that the school reached out to 
AppleTree, and is considering two options regarding the high school, 
including whether (1) it will close entirely, or (2) whether the school will 
obtain a new operator for the high school program. Ms. Mead asked about a 
timeline for moving forward regarding the high school. Mr. Jenkins replied 
that the school will make a decision by the end of the summer.  

• Ms. DeVeaux asked to clarify what two options the school was considering 
for its high school program going forward. Ms. Medway replied that one 
option would be to have an asset acquisition of the high school program, and 
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Mr. Jenkins added that the second option would be to have no high school at 
all in the facility.  

• Mr. Soifer, referencing a clause in the goals and academic expectation 
achievement section of the charter agreement states, “at [the school’s 
5-year review, no later than 20th year of operation . . . ,” asked if there is any 
way that the 5-year and 20th year of operation would be separated. Ms. 
Medway replied that PCSB intends to conduct its five-year review of Perry 
Street Prep PCS in the school’s 20th year of operation. 

• Mr. McKoy noted that if the school found an operator for its high school, it 
would need to come back before the Board to approve an agreement.  

3. Vote: Mr. Tillery moved to authorize Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 15-year 
agreement with Perry Street Prep PCS, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board 
approved the motion 5-0. 

D. Roots Public Charter School (“Roots PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Dr. Bernida Thompson, Principal; Ms. Gilda Sherrod-Ali, Board 

Chair; Ms. Winifred Wright, Director of Program Compliance; Ms. Rasheki 
Kuykendall, Vice Principal 

2. Discussion 
• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 

recommending that the Board vote to approve Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 
15-year charter agreement with Roots PCS. Ms. Medway noted that the 
school’s board elected not to continue with the school’s six through eighth 
grade program after the 2014-15 school year, so that the school will cover a 
prekindergarten-three through fifth grade program only in subsequent years.  

• Ms. Medway reviewed the changes in the new charter agreement, which 
include (1) updated articles of incorporation and bylaws, and (2) updated 
goals and academic achievement expectations, and (3) updated grade levels.  

• Ms. Mead noted that the school’s special education goal was unusual because 
it must be accomplished by 2016 instead of measuring a five-year timeframe. 
Ms. Medway replied that the school’s special education goal was not about 
OSSE compliance, but was a self-assessment to make sure the school is 
complying with all special education laws. She added that PCSB will work 
with the school regarding this goal, and the school will be required to adhere 
to a special education plan thereafter. Ms. Mead clarified whether the Board 
would be making a high-stakes decision in 2016, and Ms. Medway replied 
that the Board would not be making a high-stakes decision about the school at 
that time.  
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• Ms. Mead asked, regarding the mission-specific goals, if the school will be 
held to a certain number of students, or instead that if they will include 
evidence in the school’s annual report. Ms. Thompson replied that the school 
would include evidence in its annual report.  

3. Vote: Ms. Nophlin moved to moved to authorize Mr. McKoy to sign a renewed 
15-year agreement with Perry Street Prep PCS, and Mr. Tillery seconded. The 
Board approved the motion 5-0. 

 
X. Fully Approve Charter and Authorize Board Chair to Sign Initial 15-Year Charter 

Agreement 
A. Lee Montessori Public Charter School (“Lee Montessori PCS”) 

1. Representatives 
a. PCSB: Ms. Monique Miller, Manager, New School Development 
b. School: Mr. Chris Pencikowski, Head of School, Lee Montessori 

2. Discussions 
• Ms. Miller summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 

recommending that the Board approve (1) Lee Montessori PCS to open at 
200 Douglas Street, NW for school year 2014-15, and (2) Mr. McKoy to 
sign a 15-year charter agreement with the school.  

• Ms. Miller noted that the school did not meet two conditions: (1) that it 
submit a School Emergency Response Plan (“SERP”) and (2) that it 
submit an insurance certificate. She stated PCSB requests that the Board 
defer these conditions until its September 15, 2014 meeting because the 
school must first take possession of its facility, which will occur on 
August 1, 2014, before it may take steps to meet these requirements.  

• Ms. Nophlin asked Mr. Pencikowski to discuss the school’s enrollment. 
Mr. Pencikowski stated that the school participated in My School Dc, and 
received 530 applications for 79 slots. He added that the school has a 
waitlist for every grade, and that the waitlist for the pre-kindergarten-three 
program exceeds 200 students. 

• Mr. Tillery asked about the request that the Board approve the school and 
authorize Mr. McKoy to sign a charter agreement without first meeting all 
conditions. Mr. Pencikowski replied that through discussions with PCSB, 
the school determined it was imprudent to move ahead with plans for 
space we have not occupied yet. 

• Mr. McKoy stated that the record will remain open seven days after the 
vote. 

3. Vote: Mr. Soifer moved to fully approve Lee Montessori PCS and authorize 
Mr. McKoy to sign a charter agreement with the school, pending no public 
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comment is received within the remaining 7-day window and Mr. McKoy 
seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0. 

B. Harmony Public Charter School (“Harmony PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Monique Miller, Manager, New School Development 
b. Schools: Dr. Soner Tarim, Superintendent; Mr. Bulent Coban, Harmony 

Public Schools Leader and School Developer; Ms. Julie Norton, Director 
of Communications; Ms. Juliet Squire, Board Member 

2. Discussions 
• Ms. Miller summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 

recommending that the Board approve (1) Harmony PCS to open at 62 T 
Street, NE for school year 2014-15, and (2) Mr. McKoy to sign a 15-year 
charter agreement with the school. She added that the staff requests that 
the Board defer the condition regarding submission of the school’s 
insurance certificate. She noted that the school cannot receive an insurance 
certificate until it takes possession of its facility on July 1, 2014.  

• Ms. Miller stated that the Advisory Neighborhood Commissioners were 
notified by PCSB staff, but because the 30-business day requirement had 
not yet been met, the record will stay open for 7-days.  

• Mr. Soifer congratulated the school on its progress, and asked the school 
representatives to comment on its progress. Dr. Tarim noted that the most 
significant challenge was finding a facility, which was significantly 
different than Harmony’s experiences in Texas. He added that the school 
has identified strong local board members. Mr. Soifer asked about the 
school’s enrollment. Dr. Tarim stated that the school currently has 92 
applicants, and hopes to meet its target enrollment of 216 students with 
support of the community. 

• Mr. McKoy asked about the ration of local board members to the total 
board. Dr. Tarim replied that the school has five found board members, 
three of which reside in DC. 

• Ms. Nophlin asked about neighborhood outreach and response? Dr. Tarim 
replied that the school held an open house meeting, which over 30 people 
attended, including the Councilmember from Ward Five. He noted that the 
school received a mix of applications from all wards of the city. He added 
that the school currently has 92 applicants, and the goal next year is to 
enroll 216 students. 

• Mr. Tillery asked on what evidence the school based its confidence that it 
will open for the 2014-15 school year. Dr. Tarmin replied that the school 
is basing its confidence on the initial public response.  
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3. Vote: Mr. Nophlin moved to fully approve Harmony PCS and authorize Mr. 
McKoy to sign a charter agreement with the school, pending no public 
comment is received within the remaining 7-day window, and Mr. Soifer 
seconded. The Board approved the motion 4-0. Ms. Mead was recused from 
voting. 

 
C. Academy of Hope Adult Public Charter School (“AOH PCS”) 

1. Representatives 
a. PCSB: Ms. Monique Miller, Manager, New School Development 
b. School: Ms. Lecester Johnson, Executive Director; Mr. Brian McNamee, 

Chief Operating Officer 
2. Discussions 

• Ms. Miller summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 
recommending that the Board approve (1) AOH PCS to open at its own 
existing facilities, at 601 Edgewood Street, NE and at 3700 9th Street, SE, 
for school year 2014-15, and (2) Mr. McKoy to sign a 15-year charter 
agreement with the school. Ms. Miller noted that the location of the 
second school might change. 

• Mr. Tillery asked the school if it intended to move toward adopting the 
Adult Education PMF? Ms. Johnson replied that the school first wanted to 
get through a year as a charter school, but it will look closely at the Adult 
Education PMF for next year.  

• Ms. Nophlin asked for clarification on whether the school plans to move 
to another location, or if it will instead add another campus? Ms. Johnson 
replied that the Ward Five campus would move to Ward Eight.  

3. Vote: Mr. Nophlin moved to fully approve AOH PCS and authorize Mr. 
McKoy to sign a charter agreement with the school pending no public 
comment is received within the remaining 7-day window and Mr. Soifer 
seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0.  

D. Democracy Prep DC Public Charter School (“Democracy Prep DC PCS”) 
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Monique Miller, Manager, New School 

Development 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Miller summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 
recommending that the Board approve Mr. McKoy to sign a charter 
agreement with Democracy Prep DC PCS. 

• Ms. Miller noted that the school is in negotiations to acquire Imagine SE 
PCS, and the parties are working together to resolve one outstanding issue.  

3. Vote: Mr. Tillery moved to approve Mr. McKoy to sign a charter agreement 
with the school pending Democracy Prep Public Schools (“DPPS”) approval, 
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and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0. Ms. Mead was 
recused from voting. 

 
XI. 10-Year Charter Reviews: Approve Charter Continuance 

A. William E. Doar, Jr. Public Charter School (“WEDJ PCS”) 
1. Representatives:  

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: John Goldman, Board Chair, WEDJ PCS 

2. Discussion: 
• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 

recommending that the Board vote to continue WEDJ PCS’ charter with two 
conditions: (1) the school must amend its charter agreement to accurately 
reflect curriculum, instruction, and mission of the school, and (2) the school 
and PCSB must agree to a Corrective Action Plan, as permitted by the 
school’s charter agreement.  

• Ms. Medway reviewed the standard for review and the findings of the PCSB 
staff 10-Year Review Report, as well as the required content of the Correction 
Action Plan. 

• Mr. Soifer asked Mr. Goldman if he add any additional comments, 
particularly regarding the school’s performance in the last two academic 
years. Mr. Goldman replied that the school’s precarious financial situation has 
been remedied, and the school carries about one million dollars in cash 
reserves. He noted that at end of 2012, all of the school’s board members 
resigned except for Goldman, who proceeded to rebuild the board in 
consultation with Charter Board Partners. He stated that the school conducted 
an audit in partnership with Ten Square, and noted that the school made 
progress in 2013-14. He added that the school looks forward to positive PMF 
and DC-CAS results.  

• Mr. Goldman stated that the school double-blocked math and English, and 
also rearranged its schedule to ensure interventions were available for every 
student. He said the results have been favorable. He noted that the school’s 
reenrollment is up, and that the school has strong partnerships with the 
National Philharmonic Orchestra and the Shakespeare Theatre Company. He 
noted that the school’s PMF score decreased from 2011-12 to 2012-13, but 
said that if the school had properly accounted for its attendance and 
reenrollment data, the school would have achieved a Tier 2 score. He stated 
that he believes the school is making progress and can meet the benchmarks 
established by PCSB.  
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• Mr. Soifer asked about assessments implemented by the school. Mr. Goldman 
responded that the school worked with ANet, and also implemented 
specialized pull out groups.  

• Ms. Mead asked about the leadership currently in place at the school. Mr. 
Goldman replied that midway through the school year, it became clear that the 
existing leadership was not aligned with board and the leadership was 
removed. The board has worked with Ten Square to move forward, and the 
school is currently conducting a search for a new Executive Director. 

• Mr. McKoy stated that he initially questioned why the school should be 
continued, but noted that the school has underwent a positive turnaround 
effort over the last few years so that there has been movement in the right 
direction. He stated that he would like to see an upward adjustment of the 40 
PMF target because the school had very low performance prior to the past 
four years.  

• Ms. Mead stated that she does not agree with Mr. McKoy’s remarks because 
she thought it was difficult to justify continuing the school. She added that she 
is open to voting for the staff recommendation because it would result in a 
series of one-year continuances. She stated that she also wants to see the PMF 
goal for the current school year increased.  

• Mr. Soifer stated that he agrees with the observations made by Mr. McKoy 
and Ms. Mead, and noted that in looking beyond top line numbers and 
examining components of the framework, he observed particularl areas of 
growth. He suggested that the school be required to come within one point of 
42 PMF points for school year 2013-14, within 1 point of 47 PMF for school 
year 2014-15, and  at least two years of achieving 55 points prior to its 15-
year renewal.  

3. Vote: Mr. Soifer moved for conditional continuance of WEDJ PCS’ charter with 
amended performance measures, and Ms. Nophlin seconded. The Board approved 
the motion 5-0. 

B. DC Bilingual Public Charter School (“DC Bilingual PCS”) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Ms. Myrna Peralta, President and CEO, CentroNía & Board 

Secretary, DC Bilingual PCS 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum to the Board 
recommending that the Board vote to continue DC Bilingual PCS’ charter 
with three conditions, including that: (1) over the next four years, the school 
must fully comply with the School Reform Act’s (“SRA’s”) requirements 
regarding procurement contracts, which PCSB will assess as part of the 
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school’s renewal in 2018-19; (2) the school develop with PCSB staff a 
milestone-based plan to strengthen its financials and separate them from 
CentroNía; and (3) PCSB have full access to review the financial books and 
records of CentroNía.  

• Ms. Medway reviewed the standard for review and the findings of the PCSB 
staff’s 10-Year Review Report.  

• Mr. Soifer asked Ms. Peralta if she had anything to add. Ms. Peralta replied 
that the school has been diligently working on the procurement issue. She 
stated that because the school has a large English Language Learner (“ELL”) 
population, many contracts are sole source contracts, including for special 
education. She stated that the school should have documented the 
procurement process. She noted that CentroNía will provide access to its 
financial records. She said that the school has confronted financial hurdles in 
meeting the needs of special education students, but the school must meet the 
needs of those students.  

• Ms. Medway clarified that full access to CentroNía’s financial books and 
records extends beyond the audits.  

• Ms. Mead asked about the school’s early childhood performance as well as 
the school’s Classroom Assessment Score System (“CLASS”) score as an 
indicator of the school’s early childhood performance. Ms. Peralta replied that 
the children and families coming to DC Bilingual PCS are often new 
immigrants and frequently come with literacy and language challenges. She 
added that the school is working with families to offer literacy classes and 
build other skill sets.  

• Ms. Medway observed that the school is not administering early childhood 
assessments in Spanish where such administration is permitted, and asked if 
this is a conscious decision. Ms. Peralta replied that she would need to talk to 
the school leader about this issue. 

• Ms. Medway stated that CLASS performance is a qualitative assessment 
conducted by OSSE and will be part of PCSB’s Early Childhood Performance 
Management Framework (“EC PMF”). She noted the school scored well on 
CLASS as well as PCSB’s Qualitative Site Review (“QSR). She noted the 
school scored highly in instructional strategies. She stated that the school’s 
QSR showed a strong emphasis on student engagement.  

• Ms. Mead noted that one critique made of PCSB is that the Board focuses too 
much on data, but the QSRs are a strong example of how PCSB looks beyond 
numbers.  

• Ms. Mead asked how many children come to the school through its 
connection to other programs operated by CentroNia. Ms. Peralta replied that 
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a number of the infants and toddlers involved in CentroNia’s programing go 
on to attend DC Bilingual.   

C. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to conditionally continue DC Bilingual PCS’ charter 
agreement with conditions, and Mr. Tillery seconded. The Board approved the motion 
4-0. Mr. McKoy was recused from voting. 

 

XII. Approve Charter Amendments 
A. Thurgood Marshall Academy Public Charter School (“TMA PCS”) – Replicate, 

Expand (conditional) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB Representative: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Ms. Alexandra Pardo, Executive Director, TMA PCS 

2. Discussion 
• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that 

the Board conditionally approve TMA PCS’ charter agreement amendment 
request to (1) increase the school’s enrollment ceiling, (2) replicate its high 
school program, and (3) open a second campus beginning operation in the 
2015-16 school year. 

• Ms. Medway reviewed the conditions proposed by staff, which include that 
the school (1) update its goals and academic achievement expectations, and 
(2) locate a facility in which to operate. 

• Ms. Medway noted that the school was one of the highest-performing high 
schools in the city. 

3. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to conditionally approve TMA PCS’ charter agreement 
amendment request, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board approved the motion5-0, 
with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy.  

B. Two Rivers Public Charter School (“Two Rivers PCS”)  - Replicate, Expand 
(conditional) 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB Representative: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
b. School: Ms. Jessica Wodatch, Two Rivers PCS 

2. Discussion 
• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that 

the Board conditionally approve Two Rivers PCS’ charter agreement 
amendment request to (1) increase the school’s enrollment ceiling; (2) 
replicate its pre-kindergarten-three through eighth grade program; and (3) 
open a second campus beginning operation in the 2015-16 school year.  
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• Ms. Medway reviewed the conditions proposed by staff, which include that 
the school (1) receive full continuance on its upcoming ten-year charter 
review, and (2) update its goals and academic achievement expectations 
following this review. 

• Ms. Medway noted that Two Rivers PCS is also one of the highest-performing 
charter school campuses in the city.  

3. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to approve Two Rivers’ PCS charter agreement 
amendment request, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-
0, with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy. 

C. AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School (“AppleTree PCS”) – 
Relocate, Adopt New Goals, Clarify CMO-PCS Relationship 
1. PCSB Representative: Ms. Sarah Medway, Charter Agreement Specialist 
2. Discussion 

• Ms. Medway summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that 
the Board approve Apple Tree PCS’ charter agreement amendment request to 
amend the school’s goals and academic achievement expectations to adopt the 
Early Childhood PMF, and to formalize the school’s relationship with 
AppleTree Institute. She added that the school is notifying PCSB of the 
relocation of its Southwest campus, located at Riverside Baptist Church at 620 
I Street, SW and Amidon Elementary School (401 I Street, SW) to the 
Jefferson Middle School site at 801 7th Street, SW.   

3. Vote: Ms. Nophlin moved to approve AppleTree PCS’ charter amendment 
request, and Ms. Mead seconded. The Board approved the motion 4-0, with Mr. 
Tillery voting by proxy. Mr. McKoy was recused from voting.  

D. DC Bilingual Public Charter School (“DC Bilingual PCS”); E.L. Public Charter 
School (“Stokes PCS”); Latin American Montessori Bilingual Public Charter 
School (“LAMB PCS”); Mundo Verde Public Charter School (“Mundo Verde 
PCS”); Washington Yu Ying Public Charter School (“Yu Ying PCS”) – Grade 
Expansion 
1. Representatives 

a. PCSB Representative: Ms. Tami Lewis, Senior Advisor, Special Education 
b. Schools: Ms. Maquita Alexander, Executive Director, Yu Ying PCS; Ms. 

Diane Cottman, Executive Director, LAMB PCS; Ms. Linda Moore, Founder 
and Senior Advisor, Elsie Whitlow Stokes PCS; Mr. Lester Matlock, Board 
Chair, DC Bilingual PCS; Ms. Myrna Peralta, President and CEO, CentroNía 
& Board Secretary, DC Bilingual PCS; Ms. Carmen Rioux-Bailey, Chief 
Education Officer, DCI; Ms. Kristin Scotchmer, Mundo Verde PCS; Ms. 
Mary Shaffner, Chief Operations Officer, DCI;  

2. Discussion 
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• Ms. Lewis summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that the 
Board approve charter agreement amendment requests and authorize Mr. 
McKoy to sign charter agreement amendments for (1) DC Bilingual PCS; (2) 
Stokes PCS; (3) LAMB PCS; (4) Mundo Verde PCS; and (5) Yu Ying PCS. 
The charter amendments would allow each school to (1) expand to serve 
grades six through twelve, if applicable; (2) increase enrollment ceilings to 
accommodate this expansion; (3) adopt the Elementary/Middle School and 
High School PMFs for grades six through twelve; and (4) co-locate and 
operate grades six and seven in school year 2-014-15 on one campus located 
at 3220 16th Street, NW.  

• Ms. Lewis added that, in addition, PCSB staff recommends that the Board 
authorize PCSB to enter into an agreement with DCI, which will operate the 
campus at which where the five schools will co-locate.  

• Mr. Soifer noted that DCI is one of the most exciting education stories 
happening in the city.  

3. Votes:  
• DC Bilingual PCS: Ms. Mead moved to approve DC Bilingual PCS’ charter 

agreement amendment request and authorize PCSB Vice Chair Darren 
Woodruff to sign the charter amendment, and Ms. Nophlin seconded. The 
Board approved the motion 4-0 with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy. Mr. McKoy 
was recused from voting.  

• Stokes PCS: Ms. Nophlin moved to approve Stokes PCS’ charter agreement 
amendment request and authorize Mr. Woodruff to sign the charter 
amendment, and Ms. Mead seconded. The Board approved the motion 4-0 
with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy. Mr. McKoy was recused from voting. 

• LAMB PCS: Ms. Mead moved to approve LAMB PCS’ charter agreement 
amendment request and authorize Mr. McKoy to sign the charter amendment, 
and Mr. McKoy seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0 with Mr. 
Tillery voting by proxy. 

• Mundo Verde PCS: Ms. Nophlin moved to approve Mundo Verde PCS’ 
charter agreement amendment request and authorize Mr. Woodruff to sign the 
charter agreement, and Ms. Mead seconded. The Board approved the motion 
4-0 with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy. Mr. McKoy was recused from voting. 

• Yu Ying PCS: Ms. Mead moved to approve Yu Ying PCS’ charter agreement 
amendment request and authorize Mr. McKoy to sign the charter amendment, 
and Ms. Nophlin seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0 with Mr. 
Tillery voting by proxy. 

• DCI: Ms. Mead moved to approve PCSB to enter into a contract with DCI, 
and Mr. McKoy seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0 with Mr. 
Tillery voting by proxy.  
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X. Life Notices of Concern – Multiple Schools 
A. Representatives 

1. PCSB: Ms. Rashida Kennedy, Manager, Equity and Fidelity Team 
2. School: Dr. Jeffrey Grant, Principal, Friendship PCS – Blow-Pierce Elementary 

and Middle; Interim Principal at Options PCS 
B. Discussion 

• Ms. Kennedy summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that the 
Board lift the Notices of Concern issued to Friendship PCS – Blow-Pierce 
Elementary and Middle as well as Options PCS because they demonstrated 
improvement in their truancy rates. She reviewed the standard each school must 
meet to lift the Notices of Concern. 

• Dr. Grant stated that Friendship PCS – Blow-Pierce Elementary and Middle is 
working diligently to improve in-seat attendance, and is working with families to 
identify areas of need. Examples of efforts the school has made to improve 
attendance include, but are not limited to, knocking on doors; maintaining 
constant contact with parents; utilizing the DC Child and Family Services Agency 
(“CFSA”); and rewarding positive behavior. 

• The Options PCS representative stated that Options PCS has created a new 
position of Family and Engagement Coordinator. He noted that the school has 
changed it data and accountability measures, and has invited CFSA to the school. 
He added that the school’s intervention team has been supportive in improving 
student attendance, which has taken significant effort.  

C. Vote: 
• Friendship PCS – Blow-Pierce Elementary and Middle: Ms. Mead moved to lift 

the Notice of Concern issued to the school, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board 
approved the motion 3-0, with Mr. Tillery voting by proxy. Mr. McKoy and Ms. 
Nophlin were recused from voting. 

• Options PCS: Ms. Mead moved to lift the Notice of Concern issued to the school, 
and Mr. McKoy seconded. The Board approved the motion 5-0, with Mr. Tillery 
voting by proxy.  

 
XI. Open for Public Comment – School Year 2014-2015 Performance Management 

Framework (“PMF”) Technical Guide 
A. PCSB Representative: Ms. Naomi DeVeaux, Deputy Director 
B. Discussion 

• Ms. DeVeaux summarized the PCSB staff memorandum recommending that the 
Board vote to open for public comment the 2014-15 PMF Technical Guide, which 
includes the Early Childhood PMF (“EC PMF”); Elementary/Middle School PMF 
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(“ES/MS PMF”); High School PMF (“HS PMF”); Adult Education PMF (“AE 
PMF”); and the Alternative Accountability Framework (“AAF”).  

C. Vote: Ms. Mead moved to open the 2014-15 PMF Technical Guide for public 
comment, and Mr. Soifer seconded. The Board approved the motion 4-0. 

 

XI. Public Comment. Mr. McKoy thanked Ms. Monique Miller, Manager, New School 
Development, who will be moving on from PCSB, for her service to the Board.  
 

XII. Adjourn. Mr. Soifer moved to adjourn the meeting, and Ms. Mead seconded. The Board 
approved the motion 5-0. The meeting was adjourned at 10:03 PM. 
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DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD 
 

! Charter!Actions!Requiring!a!Vote! ! Non4Voting!Board!Items!
! !!Approve!a!Charter!Application!(15!yrs.)! ! !!Public!Hearing!Item!
! !!Approve!a!Charter!Renewal!(15!yrs.)! ! !Discussion!Item!
!!!!! !!Approve!Charter!Continuance!(5!or!10!yrs.)! !Read!into!Record! !
! !!Approve!a!Charter!Amendment!Request! ! !
! !!Give!a!Charter!Notice!of!Concern!!
! !!Lift!the!Charter!Notice!of!Concern!
! !!Commence!Charter!Revocation!Proceedings!!
! !!Revoke!a!Charter!!!!!!!
! !Board!Action,!Other__________________________________!
!
! Policies!!
! !Open!a!New!Policy!or!Changes!to!a!Policy!for!Public!Comment!!
! !Approve!a!New!Policy!
! !Approve!an!Amendment!to!an!Existing!Policy!
 
PREPARED BY:  Laterica Quinn, Equity and Fidelity Specialist 
 
SUBJECT:  Board Vote on Enrollment Ceiling Increase Requests: 

• AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School 
• Creative Minds International Public Charter School  
• DC Preparatory Academy Public Charter School 
• Ingenuity Prep Public Charter School 
• The Next Step/El Proximo Paso Public Charter School 

 
DATE:   December 15, 2014 
A hearing on the following Board Actions occurred at the Public Charter School Board’s 
November 17, 2014 meeting.  PCSB did not receive any public comment on this proposal. 
 
Overview 
The DC Public Charter School Board (“PCSB”) staff recommends that the Board approve, with 
modifications, the charter agreement amendment requests of the five schools listed below, and 
approve the PCSB Board Chair John H. “Skip” McKoy to sign each of the agreement 
amendments on behalf of the Board.  AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School (“PCS”), 
Creative Minds International PCS, DC Preparatory Academy PCS, Ingenuity Prep PCS, and The 
Next Step/El Proximo Paso PCS each submitted separate proposals to PCSB to amend their 
charter agreements for the purpose of increasing their enrollment ceilings.  Notices of the 
proposed increases, the public hearing, and the public comment period were widely distributed, 
and separate web links to those documents may be found in Appendix G. 
 
When considering these proposals, the board was encouraged to bear in mind PCSB’s 
Enrollment Ceiling Increase Policy, found at Attachment A.  Below is a summary of each 
school’s proposal and its strengths and weaknesses. Beginning at Attachment B, the documents 
include details of each proposal, including grade-by-grade information. 
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Summary of Proposals 
 

1. AppleTree Public Charter School 
  

 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18  
(Maximum Ceiling) 

Current Ceiling 651 651 651 
Proposed Ceiling (by school) 851 991 1151 
Difference 200 340 500 
    
PCSB Staff Recommendation 
for New Ceiling 

673 
(Increase: 22) 

833 
(Increase: 182) 

833 
(Increase: 182) 

 
Rationale:  
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School (“AppleTree PCS”) requests to increase its 
current enrollment ceiling by a total of 500 students, over the course of three years, as described 
in the table above, resulting in a new maximum enrollment of 1151 students for school years 
(“SY”) 2017-2018 and 2018-2019.  This increase request is due in part because in September 
2014, AppleTree PCS moved into a new, larger, facility for its Southwest campus at 801 7th St 
SW, which can accommodate an additional 22 students.  However, the majority of this 
enrollment ceiling increase is intended to accommodate a new campus of eight prekindergarten 
classrooms co-located with the Rocketship Public Charter School (“Rocketship PCS”) facility at 
Raynolds Place SE, in Ward 8, which was originally scheduled to open in SY 2015-2016 and 
intended to serve up to 160 AppleTree PCS students.  Subsequent to AppleTree PCS petitioning 
for the enrollment ceiling increase, PCSB learned on November 3, 2014 that Rocketship PCS 
may not open until SY 2016-2017, which will delay AppleTree PCS’s opening in the Raynolds 
Place location until that school year.   
 
Additionally, according to testimony provided by Jack McCarthy, the school’s board chair, at the 
PCSB public hearing on November 17, 2014, AppleTree PCS is also planning to co-locate with 
other elementary charter schools that are looking to add prekindergarten and kindergarten grades 
to their schools.  During his testimony, Mr. McCarthy explained that if approved for the full 
enrollment ceiling increase of 500 students, the school would use 160 spots for the Rocketship 
partnership, another 40 spots would be allotted at the school’s Southwest campus, and the 
remaining 300 spots would “hopefully” be used for future partnerships with other elementary 
charter schools.  Mr. McCarthy testified that AppleTree currently has an existing partnership 
with Democracy Prep Public Charter School (“Democracy Prep PCS”), but that partnership is 
covered under Democracy Prep’s enrollment ceiling.  Other than its partnerships with 
Rocketship PCS and Democracy Prep PCS, AppleTree PCS has not yet secured any additional 
partnerships that would warrant an enrollment increase at this time.    
 
Assessment of Proposal:  
AppleTree PCS operates across five campuses located throughout Wards 1, 6, 7, and 8, and has 
sufficient access to multiple facilities.  The school has a history of meeting its enrollment 
projections within approximately 99% of its projected enrollment for the past two school years.  
The school’s re-enrollment rate of 63% in SY 2012-13 and 2013-14 is lower than the standard of 
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PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, which is 65%.  However, given that the school only serves 
two grade levels, PreK-3 and PreK-4, flexibility to this rule may be warranted.  During the public 
hearing on November 17, 2014, the school’s board chair acknowledged that AppleTree has a low 
re-enrollment rate, but he also expressed optimism that AppleTree’s plans to develop new 
partnerships with other elementary charter schools may be a solution to this concern. The school 
is not currently under any corrective action, nor has it received any notices of concern or charter 
warnings in the past five years.  According to PCSB’s review of the school’s most recent 
financial audit of fiscal year 2013, no concerns were found. The school is currently accredited by 
AdvancED, and it has consistently met or exceeded at least 2/3 of its achievement targets for 
both its Accountability Plans and the Early Childhood Performance Management Framework 
(“PMF”) on all of its existing campuses.  According to the 2014 Early Childhood PMF, four of 
the school’s campuses met 100% of their achievement targets for SY 2013-2014, and its 
Southeast campus met 71% of its achievement targets, which still exceeds PCSB’s minimum 
standard of meeting at least 2/3 of its targets. 
 
PCSB Staff Recommendation: 
Given the fact that AppleTree PCS has not yet secured any new partnerships with schools, aside 
from its agreement with Rocketship PCS, there does not appear to be an immediate need for the 
school to increase its enrollment ceiling by a total of 500 students at this time.  However, 
because Appletree PCS is nearly at capacity with 650 students under its existing enrollment 
ceiling of 651, and the school recently expanded to open the Southwest campus that currently has 
space to enroll 22 additional students, PCSB staff recommends that the Board approve an 
enrollment ceiling increase of 22 students, from 651 to 673, beginning in SY 2015-2016.  In 
addition, to accommodate the school’s plans to co-locate with Rocketship PCS and serve up to 
160 students beginning in SY 2016-2017, PCSB staff recommends that the Board approve a 
maximum enrollment ceiling increase to 833 beginning in SY 2016-2017 (a total enrollment 
ceiling increase of 182).  Once AppleTree PCS reaches its maximum enrollment, the school may 
apply for a new enrollment ceiling increase if it identifies a need at that time. 
 
   
For further details see Appendix B.  
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2.  Creative Minds International Public Charter School 
 
 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 (Maximum Ceiling) 
Current Ceiling 217 236 255 272 
Proposed Ceiling 234 272 306 340 
Difference 17 36 51 68 
 
Rationale:   
Creative Minds International Public Charter School (“Creative Minds PCS”) requests to increase 
its current enrollment ceiling by 68 students over the course of four years, beginning with adding 
17 prekindergarten (“Pre-K”) students in school year (“SY”) 2015-2016 and resulting in a 
maximum enrollment for SY 2018-2019 of  340. According to the school, the rationale for their 
request is due to the high demand for Pre-K spaces in DC public schools, and the fact that there 
are 377 students on their Pre-K waitlist.   
 
Assessment of Proposal:  
In SY 2015-2016, Creative Minds PCS will be relocating to a new facility, the Sherman Building 
at the Armed Forces Retirement Home, with a ten-year lease.  The school’s leadership reports 
that the new facility will provide room for Creative Minds PCS to grow to full capacity without 
having to relocate again.  The school has a positive history of meeting its enrollment projections 
within approximately 99% of its projected enrollment for SY 2014-2015, and 100% for SY 
2013-2014 and SY 2012-2013. The school’s re-enrollment rate, at 92% for SY 2013-14 is higher 
than the standard of PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, which is set at a 65% minimum. The 
school is not currently under any corrective action, and according to a PCSB review of the 
school’s most recent financial audit for fiscal year 2013, the school is doing well financially with 
a small budget.  Creative Minds PCS is currently in its third year of operation, and the school is 
planning to pursue accreditation from the International Primary Curriculum beginning in 2015.  
Since its startup in 2012, Creative Minds PCS has met 100% of its academic achievement targets 
on its Accountability Plan. 
 
PCSB Staff Recommendation: 
Given the school’s access to a facility, positive academic performance history, and its sufficient 
re-enrollment rate, in accordance with PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Increase Policy, PCSB staff 
recommends that the Board fully approve Creative Minds PCS’s enrollment ceiling increase 
request.   
 
For further details see Appendix C. 
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3. DC Preparatory Academy Public Charter School 
 
 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Maximum Ceiling 
Current Ceiling 1350 1562 1689 1801 1873 
Proposed Ceiling 1562 1689 1801 1873 1945 
Increase 212 127 112 72 72 

 
Rationale:   
DC Preparatory Academy Public Charter School (“DC Prep”) requests to increase its current 
enrollment ceiling by 212 students, from 1,350 to 1,562 for school year (“SY”) 2015-2016. The 
school proposes that its ultimate enrollment ceiling, in SY 2019-2020, would increase to 1,945 
from a previous ultimate enrollment ceiling of 1,873, which is just 72 students.  The enrollment 
ceiling increase is based on the immediate demand for more high-quality, college-preparatory 
programs for Washington, DC students, particularly in Wards 7 and 8.  They believe the increase 
in student enrollment will help to address this need by allowing them to grow the Benning 
Middle Campus by another grade level and opening a new elementary campus in Ward 8.  On 
August 18, 2010 the PCSB Board approved the school’s request to replicate its elementary 
school campus.  The school, with PCSB approval, delayed its expansion plans in favor of a 
slower expansion plan and in fall 2015, the new Ward 8 facility is due to open. 
 
Assessment of Proposal:  
DC Prep currently operates at four campuses, of which two are located in Ward 5, and the other 
two are located in Ward 7. The school is also in the final stage of lease negotiations to obtain an 
additional facility located in Ward 8.  The school has a history of meeting its enrollment 
projections within an average of about 97% for SY 2014-2015, SY 2013-2014 and SY 2012-
2013.   All of DC Prep campuses’ re-enrollment rates are above 83% for SY 2013-2014, which is 
higher than the standard of PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, set at a 65% minimum. The 
school is not currently under any corrective action.  According to a PCSB review of the school’s 
most recent financial audit for fiscal year 2013, the school currently has a strong net asset 
position.  DC Prep PCS’s Edgewood Middle School is accredited by American Academy for 
Liberal Education (“AALE”); however AALE does not accredit early childhood grades, forcing 
DC Prep PCS to seek accreditation through AdvancED for its other three campuses.  The school 
expects to complete the process by the end of the 2014-2015 school year, or during the first half 
of the 2015-2016 school year.  For the past three school years, each DC Prep elementary campus 
has met or exceeded at least 2/3 of its Accountability Plan, and the school’s Edgewood Middle 
campus is currently rated Tier 1 according to the 2014 PMF.  Additionally, although not tiered 
because it was in its first year of operation, the school’s Benning Middle campus earned a PMF 
score of 91.8% for SY 2013-2014. 
 
PCSB Staff Recommendation: 
Given the school’s access to a facility, positive academic performance history, and its sufficient 
re-enrollment rate, in accordance with PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, PCSB staff 
recommends that the Board fully approve DC Prep PCS’s enrollment ceiling increase request.   
 
For further details see Appendix D. 
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4. Ingenuity Prep Public Charter School 
 
 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18  2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Maximum 
Current Ceiling 276 336 396 396 396 396 396 
Proposed 
Ceiling 

319 417 491 565 639 713 778 

Increase 42 81 95 169 243 317 382 
 
Rationale:   
Ingenuity Prep PCS requests to increase its current enrollment ceiling by a total of 382 students, over the 
course of seven years, as described in the table above, resulting in a new maximum enrollment of 
778 students for school year (“SY”) 2021-2022.  School leaders are specifically seeking to 
accelerate the growth of the school’s prekindergarten (“PK”) program and wish to open 
additional PK classes (to scale to two PK-3 classes and three PreK-4 classes by SY 2015-2016).  
Subsequent changes in the school’s enrollment reflect their board’s intention to open a sufficient 
number of K-8th grade seats to serve all students who have come through their PreK program. 
 
Assessment of Proposal:  
Ingenuity Prep PCS currently operates in a single facility in Ward 8, and the school intends to 
continue operating in the same facility for future school years.  For SY 2014-2015, the school 
met its enrollment projection within 93%, and in SY 2013-2014 the school met 100% of its 
enrollment projection.  The school’s re-enrollment rate of 80% for SY 2013-2014 is higher than 
the standard of PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, which is set at a 65% minimum. The school 
is not currently under any corrective action, but on March 13, 2014, Ingenuity Prep PCS received 
a notice of concern after being identified by PCSB as an outlier for having an exceptionally high 
truancy rate of 32.4%.  The notice of concern was lifted on May 14, 2014, after PCSB staff noted 
that the school’s data showed “improvement in attendance for the majority of students who were 
defined as truant through February 28th (61% of truant students improved).”  According to a 
PCSB review of the school’s most recent financial audit for fiscal 2013, no concerns were raised 
regarding the fiscal year (“FY”) 2013 audit.  Ingenuity Prep PCS is in its second year of 
operation, so the school has not yet obtained accreditation.  According to the 2014 Performance 
Management Framework (“PMF”) for SY 2013-2014, Ingenuity Prep PCS met 8/9 or 88% of the 
achievement targets on the Early Childhood PMF, exceeding PCSB’s enrollment ceiling increase 
criteria of meeting at least 2/3 of targets.   
 
Beyond the criteria of the Enrollment Ceiling Policy, it is important to note that Ingenuity Prep 
PCS’s school leaders have proven to be very proactive in seeking improvement for their school.  
For example, they reached out to PCSB and other schools regarding best practices in reducing 
truancy, and they recently completed the Special Education Qualitative Assurance Review, just 
to name a few.       
 
PCSB Staff Recommendation: 
Given the school’s access to a facility, positive academic performance during SY 2013-2014, 
sufficient re-enrollment rate, and the very strong positive impression left by various board and 
staff visits to the school, in accordance with PCSB’s Enrollment Ceiling Policy, PCSB staff 
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recommends that the Board approve Ingenuity Prep PCS’s enrollment ceiling increase request.  
However, given that the school is only in its second year of operation and only has one year of 
data to show, staff suggests the following condition.  At the school’s 5 year charter review, if the 
school’s goals have not been sufficiently met, from SY 2018-2019 on, the future enrollment 
increases as written in this proposal would be void.  If this occurs, the school enrollment ceiling 
would cease increasing, and remain 491, even if this means halting growth by grades. 
  
  
For further details see Appendix E.  
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5. The Next Step/El Proximo Paso Public Charter School 
 
 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 (Maximum Ceiling) 
Current Ceiling 350 350 350 
Proposed Ceiling 400 450 500 
Increase 50 100 250 
 
Rationale:   
The Next Step/ El Proximo Paso Public Charter School (“Next Step PCS”) requests to increase 
its current enrollment ceiling by 250 students, from 350 to 500 by school year 2017-2018, by 
adding 50 seats each year, over the next three years. The school’s leaders believe it currently has 
capacity to expand its evening program to serve more students. Also, the school is currently 
subleasing part of its facility to LAYC Career Academy Public Charter School (“LAYC Career 
Academy PCS”), which may decide to vacate in spring 2015 pending an opportunity to secure its 
own facility that has not yet been finalized. If LAYC Career Academy PCS vacates, Next Step 
PCS reports that it would also have additional space to expand its daytime program as well.  
Although the school’s current enrollment for SY 2014-2015 is at 339, which is 5% below its 
enrollment ceiling of 350 students, the school’s leadership is concerned that the demand for adult 
education is increasing in the District and the school may risk exceeding its enrollment ceiling in 
SY 2015-2016 if it remains at only 350.     
 
Assessment of Proposal:  
Next Step PCS operates in a single facility in Ward 1, and the school intends to continue 
operating in the same facility for future school years.  For the past two school years, Next Step 
PCS has largely met its enrollment projections within an average of about 90%.  The school’s 
retention rate for SY 2013-2014 was 69%, a measurement for adult schools after the GED testing 
period.  The school also reports that there are currently 185 students on its waitlist for SY 2014-
2015.  The school is not currently under any corrective action, nor has it received any in its 
history.  According to a PCSB review completed of the school’s most recent financial audit for 
fiscal year 2013, no concerns were raised.  PSCB staff found strong margin, surplus, and 
liquidity, and the school ended FY14 with $2.4 million in net income. Next Step PCS is currently 
accredited through Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools Commissions on 
Elementary and Secondary Schools.  For the past three years, Next Step PCS has met at least 2/3 
of its achievement targets on its Accountability Plan.  According to the 2014 Adult Education 
PMF, the school met 100% of its achievement targets for SY 2013-2014 (as interpreted by 
scoring within the range of the floor and maximum target on all measures).  
 
PCSB Staff Recommendation: 
Given the school’s access to a facility and positive academic performance history, PCSB staff 
recommends that the Board fully approve Next Step/El Proximo Paso PCS’s enrollment ceiling 
increase request.   
 
 
For further details see Appendix F. 
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Date: ____________ 
PCSB Action: ______Approved  _______Approved with Changes  ______Rejected 
 
Changes to the Original Proposal: _______________________________________ 
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APPENDIX A 
 

ENROLLMENT CEILING INCREASE POLICY (JULY, 2012) 
 
A school must meet the following minimum criteria in order to be considered for an enrollment 
ceiling increase request:  
 

1) Access to a facility to accommodate the projected enrollment (as demonstrated through a 
lease)  

2) A history of meeting enrollment projections (within at least 80% of enrollment 
projections for the two most recent years);  

3) Currently not under corrective action;   
4) At least a satisfactory rating on 3 of the 5 Fiscal Management criteria outlined in the 

Charter Review Framework; and,  
5) If beyond Year Six of operation, the school is properly accredited  (or at least a candidate 

for accreditation)  
 
PCSB staff will generally recommend FOR an enrollment increase in the following cases:  
 

1) For standard schools, a score of 65 or greater on the most recent PMF or for schools with 
non-tested grades, meeting over 2/3 of the school’s accountability plan targets on the 
most recent accountability plan;  

2) Re-enrollment rate of at least 80%;  
3) Evidence of a wait list of at least the number of students planned in the enrollment 

increase;  
 
PCSB staff will generally recommend AGAINST an enrollment increase in the following cases:  

1) For standard schools, a score of less than 50 on the most recent PMF; For schools with 
non-tested grades, meeting fewer than ½ of the school’s accountability plan targets on the 
most recent accountability plan;  

2) Re-enrollment rates of lower than 65%;  
3) No evidence of a wait list.  

 
PCSB staff will generally base its decision on the totality of other factors (listed below) in the 
following cases:  

1) PMF scores of between 50 and 64 on the most recent PMF; For schools with non-tested 
grades, meeting between ½  and 2/3 of the school’s accountability plan targets on the 
most recent accountability plan;  

2) For schools with three years or fewer of operating history.  
 
Other factors to be considered: 
 

1) Trends in academic performance; 
2) Results of qualitative assessments of academic quality and operational capacity, such as 

PDRs or other instruments to be developed by PCSB; (this is particularly important for 
schools with three years or fewer of operating history);  
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3) Size of the requested increase;  
4) Rationale for the requested increase.   

 
Notes:   

• For multi-campus schools, the above criteria are only for the campus for which the 
expansion is being requested.  

• For schools with a PMF score and an Accountability Plan, both criteria parts of 
criteria 1 must be met.     
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APPENDIX B 
AppleTree PCS  

 
Background/Rationale Eligibility based on Policy 

AppleTree PCS requests to increase its 
current enrollment ceiling from 651 to 
851 for SY 2015-2016.  The majority 
of this increase is to accommodate a 
new campus co-located with the 
Rocketship facility at Raynolds Place, 
SE.  (Note:  the Board learned on 
November 3 that the Rocketship 
facility may not open until 2016-17.) 

AppleTree PCS opened in 2005 and 
has grown from serving 36 students in 
Southwest DC to serving 647 students 
across five campuses.  The school has 
consistently fulfilled its mission of 
providing young children with the 
social, emotional, and cognitive 
foundations needed for success in 
school and life by only serving grades 
prekindergarten-3 (“PK-3”) and 
prekindergarten-4 (“PK-4”).  The 
school’s charter was signed into 
agreement on June 8, 2005 and will be 
a candidate for renewal in SY 2020-
2021. 
 
Regarding the school’s academic 
history, AppleTree PCS has 
consistently met over 2/3 of its targets 
for both its accountability plans and 
the PMF.  The table provided on the 
following page of this proposal 
demonstrates the school’s academic 
performance for school years 2010-
2011, 2011-2012, 2012-2013, and 
2013-2014. 

Access to a Facility ! 
In September 2014, AppleTree PCS opened a 
new Southwest Campus facility that has an 
unused classroom with capacity for 22 
students.   
 
In SY 2016-16, AppleTree plans to partner 
with Rocketship Public Charter School to 
open eight new classrooms of Preschool and 
Pre-Kindergarten students in Ward 8. (Note: 
AppleTree classrooms are generally 
comprised of 20 students. 20*8=160 spaces). 
Enrollment History " 
The enrollment ceiling for SY 2014-2015 is 
651, and the school has a current enrollment 
of 650 students attending in grades PK-3 
through PK-4.  In SY 2013-2014, 647 
students were enrolled with an enrollment 
ceiling of 651. In SY 2012-2013, the school 
had 639 students enrolled with an enrollment 
ceiling of 651.  
 
The 2013-14 re-enrollment rate was 63%, 
which is below the standard for an 
enrollment ceiling increase. The school 
reports a re-enrollment rate for the current 
school year of 67% (unverified, audit 
numbers not confirmed), and its waiting list 
as of July 2014 is 418 students.  
Corrective Action ! 
The school is not currently under any 
corrective action. 
Fiscal Management Rating ! 
According to a review completed by PCSB 
staff of the school’s most recent financial 
audit, no concerns were raised.  The school 
maintains a strong financial position, and 
there were no findings in the FY13 audit. 
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Accreditation Status ! 
AppleTree PCS is currently accredited by 
AdvancED. The school’s accreditation is 
scheduled to expire on June 30, 2017. 
 

 
 
 
 

AppleTree Early Learning PCS 
 

Academic History 
 

2013-14 Early Childhood PMF 
 

At least 2/3 of targets met for all campuses:  ! 
 

AppleTree PCS campus Scores on each indicator that fall between the 
floor and target on the EC PMF 
 

Columbia Heights 7/7 targets met 
 

Lincoln Park 7/7 targets met 
 

Oklahoma Ave 7/7 targets met 
 

Southeast 5/7 targets met 
 

Southwest 7/7 targets met 
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AppleTree Early Learning PCS 
Enrollment Ceiling Increase Request 

 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD 

 
 
SUBMITTED BY:  Anne Zummo Malone – AppleTree Early Learning PCS  
 
SUBJECT:             Request for an Enrollment Increase   
            
DATE:                  September 25, 2014 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUEST 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School submits to the District of Columbia Public 
Charter School Board this request to increase its current enrollment ceiling of 651 to 851 for the 
2015-2016 school year.  
 
BACKGROUND  
Please address all questions and requests for information in narrative form. This information 
provides helpful background to the PCSB Board as it reviews these notifications. 
 
Overview of School Performance 

1. Provide the following information about your school: (1) number of years in operation; 
(2) grade levels served; (3) and the expiration date of the school’s charter agreement.   

 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School has operated since 2005 and has grown 
from initially serving 36 students in Southwest DC to currently serving 647 students across 
five campuses.   AELPCS has continued to fulfill its mission of providing young children 
with the social, emotional, and cognitive foundations needed for success in school and life by 
only serving Preschool and Pre-Kindergarten grade levels.  The charter was signed into 
agreement on June 8, 2005 and will expire on June 8, 2020 

 
2. Summarize the school’s academic performance history, including PMF scores and/or 

accountability plan results for the past three years. 
 
AELPCS has consistently met the majority of its targets for both accountability plans and the 
PMF, as demonstrated in the data below: 
 
 
2010-2011:  AppleTree set performance targets for its Accountability Plan as follows: 

• Preschool and Prekindergarten students will demonstrate an average gain of 4 or more 
standard score points from fall to spring test administration on the following assessments: 

# Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (PPVT) 
# Test of Preschool Early Literacy - Print Awareness (TOPEL) 
# Test of Early Mathematics Ability (TEMA) 
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• All academic targets were met for Preschool students across all campuses, and the 

majority of targets were met for Pre-Kindergarten students as well. 
• Preschool and Pre-Kindergarten students also met all student achievement targets set 

during the 2010-2011 school year (85% of Preschool and Pre-Kindergarten students will 
achieve a standard score within the normal range as established by the test publisher, for 
PPVT and TOPEL - PA) 

 
2011-2012:  AppleTree set performance targets for the PPVT, TOPEL-PA, and TEMA as 
follows: 

• Preschool and Pre-Kindergarten students beginning below a standard score of 100 will 
demonstrate an average gain of 4 or more standard score points from fall to spring 
administration; those beginning at or above a standard score of 100 will demonstrate 
maintenance or better as indicated by an average change of zero or more standard score 
points. 
o All academic targets were met for Preschool students across all campuses, and the 

majority of targets were met for Pre-Kindergarten students as well. 
 
2012-2013:  The targets that AppleTree set for students in SY12-13 were differentiated by 
baseline scores for the PPVT and TEMA: 

• For students starting the year below a standard score of 86, the goal was a gain of 4 
standard score points for each assessment. 

• For students starting the year above a standard score of 85, the goal was no regression (a 
gain of zero or more points). 

• All campuses met these targets for both assessments, as they all had more than 60% of 
students meet the PMF targets for PPVT and TEMA. 

 
All campuses also met the targets set for the CLASS assessment, as all campuses scored above 5 
in the Emotional Support and Classroom Organization domains. 
 
2013-2014:  AppleTree set performance targets for students as follows: 
1. Meet or exceed the average PCSB-approved growth goal or score proficient on the Every 

Child Ready Language and Literacy and Math Assessments.   
2. 60% of Pre-K-3 and Pre-K-4 students will progress to grade level baseline on the Positive 

Behavior Rating Scale, as designated by the publisher. 
3. The school will obtain an average score of 4 on Instructional Support, 6 on Emotional 

Support, and 6 on Classroom Organization on the CLASS assessment. 
4. On average, Pre-K-3 and Pre-K-4 students will attend school 88% of the days. 
AppleTree students met the majority of these targets at each campus: 

• Results, Goal 1:  60% of students will meet or exceed the average growth or achievement 
goal on the Every Child Ready – Language and Literacy assessment. 

o The Southeast and Oklahoma Ave campuses did not meet this goal.  The 
Columbia Heights, Southwest, and Lincoln Park campuses all successfully met 
this goal. 

• Results, Goal 2:  60% of students will meet or exceed the average growth or achievement 
goal on the Every Child Ready - Math assessment. 
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o All campuses except for the Southeast campus met this goal. 
 

• Results, Goal 3:  Campuses will maintain an in-seat attendance rate of at least 88%. 
o The Lincoln Park and Southwest campus met this goal. 
o The Columbia Heights campus missed the goal by a fraction of a point (87.16%), 

and the Oklahoma Ave and Southeast campus did not meet the goal. 
 

• Results, Goal 4:  Social Emotional – 60% of all students will make progress towards 
grade level baseline on the Positive Behavior Rating Scale.  

o All campuses met this goal. 
 

3. List all notices of concerns, charter warnings, or corrective actions issued to the school by 
PCSB in the past five years, as well as how the school responded to such notices and 
warnings. 
 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS has not received any notices of concern, charter 
warnings, or corrective actions in the past five years. 
 

4. Summarize the school’s enrollment history for the previous five years, including (a) the 
school’s current enrollment; (b) the school’s current enrollment ceiling; (c) the school’s 
reenrollment rates; and (d) the number of students on the school’s waiting list each year.  

 
 SY14-

15 
SY13-14 SY12-13 SY11-12 SY10-11 

Enrollment 650 647 639 620 321 
Enrollment Ceiling 651 651 651 651  
Re-enrollment rate 67% 63% 63% 60% 60.6% 
Waiting list (as of 
July of SY) 

418 516 259 459  
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Proposed Enrollment Increase 
 
1. Explain the school’s rationale for proposing to increase its student enrollment. 

 
AppleTree proposes to increase its student enrollment by 200 students.  In September 2014, 
AppleTree opened a new Southwest Campus facility that has an extra classroom that is not 
currently being used, but has capacity for 22 students.  In 2015-16, AppleTree plans to 
partner with Rocketship Public Charter School to open eight new classrooms of Preschool 
and Pre-Kindergarten students in Ward 8. 

 
2. Complete the enrollment matrix included at the end of this document.  

 
3. How will the proposed enrollment increase impact the school’s operations and finances? 

Provide a proposed budget and budget narrative.  Please see separate attachment. 
 

4. Will the proposed enrollment increase cause the school to exceed the maximum occupancy 
load detailed in the school’s certificate of occupancy? If so, when and how will the school 
address this? 

 
The certificate of occupancy at the Southwest campus is 140 students, so adding 22 students 
to the current student population of approximately 84 will not exceed the maximum.  The 
building in Ward 8 is currently under construction and will be built to meet the anticipated 
enrollment.   

 
5. Has the school informed stakeholders (including staff, parents, and advisory neighborhood 

commissioners) of the proposed new campus?  If so, how were stakeholders notified?  Please 
describe any concerns raised by stakeholders. 
 
AppleTree participated in a community meeting with Rocketship in July 2014 to share the 
news of the partnership with community members and stakeholders.  No concerns were 
raised.  AppleTree leaders attended the ANC meeting in Southwest in Spring 2014 to seek 
support for the relocation to the modular building on the campus of Jefferson.  Concerns 
were raised about drop off and pick up, but AppleTree has met those needs by utilizing the 
parking lot at Riverside Baptist Church and seeking a crossing guard for the intersection of 
7th and I Streets SW.  The ANC gave their support to the relocation. 
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AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School 
Enrollment Matrix – All Campuses 

Although PCSB requests that schools detail their proposed enrollment 
through 2018-19, note that schools may only seek approval for an 
enrollment increase for the school years remaining before the school’s next 
scheduled high-stakes review or renewal. If the school is requesting an 
enrollment increase at more than one campus, it should complete a separate 
enrollment matrix for each such campus. 

 Academic Year 
2014-15 

Academic Year 
2015-16 

Academic Year 
2016-17 

Academic Year 
2017-18 

Academic Year 
2018-19 

 Current Projected Current Projected Current Projected Current Projected Current Projected 

LEA Total 650 650 650 825  991  1151  1151 

Projected 
% - Special 

Needs 

5% 6%  5%  5%  5%  5% 

Projected 
% - ELL 

7% 7%  6%  6%  6%  6% 

# 
Campuses* 

5 5  6  7  8  8 
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APPENDIX C 
Creative Minds PCS 

 
Background/Rationale Eligibility based on Policy 

The school is currently in its third year of 
operation, serving grades prekindergarten-3 
through fourth grade.  The school will reach 
its enrollment ceiling’s full capacity with its 
first cohort of fifth grade students in SY 
2015-2016.  Since its start in 2012, Creative 
Minds PCS has met or exceeded 2/3 of its 
academic achievement targets on its 
Accountability Plan.  The table provided on 
page four of this proposal outlines the 
school’s academic performance history for 
SY 2012-2013 and SY 2013-2014. 
 
Due to the high demand for prekindergarten-
3 (“PK3”) seats in DC, as well as the 
number of PK3 students on Creative Minds 
PCS’s waitlist (377) for SY 2014-2015, the 
school is requesting an enrollment ceiling 
increase from 217 to 234 for SY 2015-2016, 
along with subsequent increases of 17 
students per school year that follows.  
 

Creative Minds PCS currently has two 
classrooms designated for each of its 
prekindergarten-3 through first grade cohorts, 
and one classroom designated for each second 
grade through fourth grade cohorts.  Each 
classroom currently has the capacity to serve 
up to 17 students.  When the school reaches 
capacity in SY 2015-2016 with a fifth grade 
cohort, its existing enrollment ceiling schedule 
would allow the school to serve 34 students 
per grade level for grades prekindergarten-3 
through fifth grade.  However, the school now 
recognizes an increased demand for 
prekindergarten-3 seats, hence its enrollment 
ceiling increase request.  If approved, Creative 
Minds PCS would have the capacity to serve 
three classrooms for each grade, up to 51 
students per grade level. 

Access to a Facility ! 
In 2015-2016, the school will be relocating to 
its new facility, the Sherman Building at the 
Armed Forces Retirement Home, with a ten-
year lease.  The school’s leadership reports 
that the new facility will provide room for the 
school to grow to full capacity without having 
to relocate again.   
Enrollment History ! 
The enrollment ceiling for SY 2014-2015 is 
183, and the school has a current enrollment 
of 181 students attending in grades 
prekindergarten-3 through fourth grade.  In 
SY 2013-2014, 136 students were enrolled 
with an enrollment ceiling of 136. Similarly, 
in SY 2012-2013, the school had 105 students 
enrolled with an enrollment ceiling of 105.  
 
The school’s re-enrollment rate for the current 
school year is 92%. Prior to opening in SY 
2012-2013, Creative Minds PCS had a waitlist 
of 450 students.  In SY 2013-2014, it had a 
waitlist of 872 students, and presently with 
full enrollment the school has 706 students on 
the waitlist. 
Corrective Action ! 
The school is not currently under any 
corrective action. 
Fiscal Management Rating ! 
According to a review completed by PCSB 
staff of the school’s most recent financial 
audit, the school is doing well financially 
with a small budget.  Additionally, there were 
no audit findings from FY13. 
Accreditation Status ! 
Pending PCSB’s approval of the International 
Primary Curriculum (“IPC”) as an accrediting 
agency, the school is planning to pursue 
accreditation through IPC beginning in 2015. 
Academics ! 
On the 203-14 EC PMF, 12 of 12 indicators 
were within the range of the floor and target.  
Three scores hit the maximum target. 
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Creative Minds PCS Request for an Enrollment Ceiling Increase 
 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD  
 
 
SUBMITTED BY: Golnar Abedin, Ph.D. – Creative Minds International PCS 

SUBJECT: Request for an Enrollment Increase 

DATE: September 24, 2014 
 
 
REQUEST 
Creative Minds International Public Charter School submits to the District of Columbia Public 
Charter School Board this request to increase its current enrollment ceiling of 217 to 234 for 
the 2015-16 school year, along with subsequent increases (of 17 students/year associated with 
an additional classroom) in the years that follow.    

 
BACKGROUND 
Creative Minds International Public Charter School is in its third year of operation. The 
School is approved to serve preschool through 5

th grade. CMI has had great success as 
shown by the school’s academic performance, waitlist numbers, and reenrollment rates 
(please see information in “Overview of School Performance” below). 

 
In 2015-16, the school will be relocating to its new facility, the Sherman Building at the 
Armed Forces Retirement Home (AFRH) with a ten-year lease. The new facility provides the 
school with plenty of room to grow to full capacity without having to relocate again. 

 
Based on the demand for preschool seats in DC, and the number of preschool students on CMI’S 
waitlist this year (377), CMI is requesting an enrollment increase of 17 students for the 2015-16 
school year to raise the 2015-16 enrollment ceiling from 217 to 234. CMI has a maximum class 
size of 17 students. Currently we have 2 classrooms of each grade for grades preschool through 
1st, and one classroom of each grade for grades 2-4.  Within the existing plan, CMI would serve 
two classrooms of each grade (34 students per grade from preschool-5th grade) when it reaches 
full capacity. We are requesting to add a preschool classroom of 17 students next year to 
increase the number of preschool seats at our school from 34 to 51.  Subsequently, we would 
have 3 classrooms for each grade (up to 51 students divided into 3 classroom per grade from 
preschool-5th grade). 

 
Given the school’s academic success and the demand for preschool seats, we request the 
approval of an enrollment increase of 17 students for the 2015-16 school year and related 
increases in subsequent years, (please see Enrollment Matrix below regarding the effect of this 
increase on subsequent years’ enrollment). 
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Overview of School Performance 
 

1.   Provide the following information about your school: (1) number of years in 
operation; (2) grade levels served; (3) and the expiration date of the school’s 
charter agreement. 

 
Creative Minds International Public Charter School (“CMI”) is in its third year of 
operation. It currently serves students in Preschool to 4th grade. CMI is approved to 
serve students up to 5th grade. CMI’s charter expires after the initial fifteen-year period 
on July 1, 2027. 

 
2.   Summarize the school’s academic performance history, including PMF scores 

and/or accountability plan results for the past three years. 
 

Overall, CMI students have far exceeded grade level expectations based on the school’s 
Accountability Plan (2012-13) and the Early Childhood PMF results (2013-14) listed 
below in Table 1. (CMI’s PMF scores were just released to the school for the verification 
process and are available to the PCSB staff for review). 

 
 

Table 1: Academic Performance Data 
 

Assessment PS and PK 
Literacy 
(GOLD 
Assessmen
t) 

PS and PK 
Math 
(GOLD 
Assessmen
t) 

K-2 Literacy 
(DRA 
Assessment) 

K-2 Math 
(GMADE 
Assessment) 

3rd Grade 
ELA 
DC-CAS 

3rd Grade 
Math 
DC-CAS 

2012-13 
(Accountability 
Plan) Grades 
served: 
Preschool-2nd 

Goal: At least 
60% 
of students 
will meet or 
exceed 
widely held 
expectations 
of growth. 
CMI Results: 
98.1% 

Goal: At least 
60% 
of students 
will meet or 
exceed 
widely held 
expectations 
of growth. 
CMI Results: 
90.8% 

Goal: At least 
50% of 
students will 
demonstrate 
one year of 
growth on the 
DRA 
assessment 
between fall 
and spring. 
CMI Results: 
78.1% 

N/A N/A N/A 

2013-14 
(Early Childhood 
PMF) Grades served: 
Preschool-3rd 

PMF Floor: 
60% will 
meet or 
exceed 
widely held 
expectations 
of growth. 
CMI Results: 
100% 

PMF Floor: 
60% will 
meet or 
exceed 
widely held 
expectations 
of growth. 
CMI Results: 
97% 

PMF Floor: 
50% 
PMF Target: 
90% 
CMI Results: 
93% 

PMF Floor: 
50% 
PMF Target: 
90% 
CMI Results: 
98% 

% Proficient 
or Advanced: 
83.3% 
(Cohort: 12 
students. 
50% of 3rd  
Grade 
Students had 
IEP’s; 16% 
had level 4 
IEP’s) 

% Proficient 
or Advanced: 
41.6% 
(Cohort: 12 
students. 
50% of 3rd  
Grade 
Students had 
IEP’s; 16% 
had level 4 
IEP’s) 

 
3.   List all notices of concerns, charter warnings, or corrective actions issued to the 

school by PCSB in the past five years, as well as how the school responded to 
such notices and warnings. 

None 
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4.   Summarize the school’s enrollment history for the previous five years, including (a) the 
school’s current enrollment; (b) the school’s current enrollment ceiling; (c) the school’s 
reenrollment rates; and (d) the number of students on the school’s waiting list each year. 

 
(a) Currently CMI is fully enrolled for SY 2014-15 with 181students attending preschool 
- 4th grade. (b) The enrollment ceiling is 183 for SY 2014-15, however, we have enrolled 
181 students because we decided to keep the class sizes of our two upper grade classrooms (3rd 

and 4th grades) smaller to meet the needs of students with IEP’s served in those classrooms. 
Last year (SY 2013-14), CMI’s second year of operation, 136 students were enrolled, with an 
enrollment ceiling of 136.  The first year of operations (SY 2012- 
13), the school had 105 students enrolled with an enrollment ceiling of 105.  (c) The school’s 
re-enrollment rate for the current school year is 92%. (d) Before CMI opened in 
its first year, the School had a waitlist of 450 students. Going into the 2013-2014 school 
year, CMI had a waitlist of 872 students. At present for SY 2014-15 with full enrollment, CMI 
still has 706 names on the waitlist. 

 
Proposed Enrollment Increase 

 
1.   Explain the school’s rationale for proposing to increase its student enrollment. 

 
Based on the demand for preschool spaces in DC public schools, and at CMI in particular 
(377 students on the preschool waitlist), along with the availability of space in CMI’s new 
facility, the School is in a great position to serve DC public school students with more seats 
that provide them with high quality, inclusive educational opportunities. 

 
2.   Complete the enrollment matrix included at the end of this document. (See 

Enrollment Matrix at the end of the document). 
 

3.   How will the proposed enrollment increase impact the school’s operations and 
finances? Provide a proposed budget and budget narrative. 
(Please see budget at the end of the document). 

 
The addition of a preschool classroom of 17 students will strengthen the school’s financial 
base and sustainability in 2015-16 and beyond. Given the small class sizes at CMI, we do not 
expect that the slight increase in enrollment will have a large impact on school operations. We 
will maintain the class size and teacher/student ratio currently in practice; 2-3 preschool 
teachers (depending on students’ needs in the classroom) will be hired to serve the additional 
class of 17 preschool students. In addition, to meet the professional development needs of the 
Early Childhood (EC) staff, track EC assessment data, and support the school’s leadership 
team, the position of Early Childhood Coordinator will be added for the 2015-16 school year. 

 
4.   Will the proposed enrollment increase cause the school to exceed the maximum 

occupancy load detailed in the school’s certificate of occupancy? If so, when and how 
will the school address this? 
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No. CMI’s new facility at the Sherman Building accommodates many more students 
than the school will enroll in its current or proposed enrollment plan even when the 
school reaches full capacity. 

 
5.   Has the school informed stakeholders (including staff, parents, and advisory 

neighborhood commissioners) of the proposed new campus? If so, how were 
stakeholders notified? Please describe any concerns raised by stakeholders. 
The CMI Board of Trustees has approved the enrollment increase request. ANC 
5A, CMI staff and parents have been informed of this proposal. No concerns 
were raised by stakeholders. 

 
 

Creative Minds International Public Charter School 
Enrollment Matrix – All Campuses 

 
Although PCSB requests that schools detail their proposed enrollment through 2018-19, note 
that schools may only seek approval for an enrollment increase for the school years 
remaining before the school’s next scheduled high-stakes review or renewal. If the school is 
requesting an enrollment increase at more than one campus, it should complete a separate 
enrollment matrix for each such campus. 

 
 

Grade Aca
dem

ic 
Year 

2014-15 

Academic 
Year 2015-16 

Academic 
Year 2016-17 

Academic 
Year 2017-18 

Academic 
Year 2018-19 

Pre-Kindergarten-
3 (PK-3) 

3
4 

51 51 51 51 

Pre-K 4 3
4 

34 51 51 51 

Kindergarten 
3
4 

34 34 51 51 

Grade 1 
3
4 

34 34 34 51 

Grade 2 1
7 

34 34 34 34 

Grade 3 
1
4 

17 34 34 34 

Grade 4 
1
4 

17 17 34 34 

Grade 5  17 17 17 34 

LEA Total 
1
8
1 

238 272 306 340 

Projected % - 
Special Needs 

3
0
% 

30% 30% 30% 30% 

Projected % - ELL 3
% 

3% 3% 3% 3% 

# Campuses* 
1 1 1 1 1 
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Creative Minds International Public Charter School 
2015-16 Budget 

September 19, 2014  
 
 
 

REVENUE 
2015-16  Percent of Total 

Revenue 

Per Pupil Charter Payments  $2,789,738  56% Per 
Pupil SPED   $937,348  19% Per 
Pupil Summer School    $0   0% Per 
Pupil Facilities Allowance   $731,136  15% 
Federal Entitlements    $64,067   1% Other 
Government Funding/Grants    $69,977   1% 

Total Public 
Funding  $4,592,266  92.7% 

Private Grants and Donations    $50,000   1.0% 
Activity Fees   $304,549   6.1% Other 
Income     $5,513   0.1% 

Total Non-Public 
Funding  $360,061  7.3% 

 
 

TOTAL REVENUES  $4,952,327 
 
 
 
 

ORDINARY EXPENSE 
2015-16  Percent of Total 

Revenue 
  Personnel Salaries and Benefits   
  Administration  $582,415  11.8%   

Classroom Teachers $700,194 14.1% 
Teacher Assistants $477,405 9.6% 
Arts Teachers $236,866 4.8% 
Other Educational Professionals $515,597 10.4% 
Other Staff $53,045 1.1% 
After Care $84,872 1.7% 
Employee Benefits & Taxes $433,119 8.7% 
Contracted Staff $35,628 0.7% 
Staff Development Expense $53,045 1.1% 

 
Subtotal: Personnel Expense  $3,172,186  64.1% 

 
Direct Student Expense  

Textbooks $25,249 0.5% 
Student Supplies and Materials $75,748 1.5% 
Library and Media Center Materials $12,625 0.3% 
Student Assessment Materials $18,937 0.4% 
Contracted Student Services $138,495 2.8% 
Miscellaneous Student Expense $61,076 1.2% 

 
Subtotal: Direct Student Expense  $332,130  6.4% 

 
Occupancy Expenses 
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Rent  $127,640  2.6% 
Building Maintenance and Repairs                                 $19,807                             0.4% 
Utilities                                                                                   $0                                 0.0% 
Janitorial Supplies                                                                 $0                                 0.0% 
Contracted Building Services                                          $66,023                             1.3% 

 
Subtotal: Occupancy Expenses  $213,470  4.3% 

 
Office Expenses 

Office Supplies and Materials                                          $31,562                             0.6% 
Office Equipment Rental and Maintenance                    $46,892                             0.9% 
Telephone/Telecommunications                                     $14,768                             0.3% 
Legal, Accounting and Payroll Services                        $116,164                            2.3% 
Printing and Copying                                                         $6,312                              0.1% 
Postage and Shipping                                                       $3,787                              0.1% 
Other Office Expense                                                       $25,249                             0.5% 

 
Subtotal: Office Expenses  $244,734  4.9% 

 
General Expenses 

Insurance                                                                          $38,273                             0.8% 
Transportation                                                                    $2,652                              0.1% 
Food Service                                                                    $225,577                            4.6% 
Administration Fee (to PCSB)                                         $24,064                             0.5% 
Management Fee                                                                  $0                                 0.0% 
Other General Expense                                                   $31,290                             0.6% 

 
Subtotal: General Expenses  $321,856  6.5%  

 
TOTAL ORDINARY EXPENSES  $4,284,376  86.5% 

 
 

NET ORDINARY INCOME  $667,951  13.5% 
 

Depreciation Expense  $250,071  5.0% 
Interest Expense   $87,980  1.8% 

 
NET INCOME  $329,900  6.7% 

 
 

CAPITAL BUDGET 
  Computers and Materials  $21,801  0.4%   
 Classroom Furnishings and Supplies  $31,827  0.6% 

Office Furnishings and Equipment  $13,261  0.3% 
Renovation/Leasehold  Improvements  $10,000  0.2% 

 
TOTAL CAPITAL BUDGET  $76,890  1.1% 

 
 



Appendix D- DC Prep PCS 
 

26 
 

APPENDIX D 
DC Prep PCS 

Background/Rationale Eligibility based on Policy 
DC Prep opened in 2003, and is 
currently in its twelfth year of 
operation.  The school provides 
services to students in grades 
prekindergarten-3 through eighth at 
four campuses located in Wards 5 
and 7.  DC Prep requests to increase 
its current enrollment ceiling of 
1,350 to 1,562 for the 2015-16 
school year. The school believes the 
increase will allow the Benning 
Middle Campus to expand a grade 
level, as well as allow the school to 
open a new elementary campus in 
Ward 8.  

On August 18, 2010 the PCSB 
Board approved the school’s request 
to replicate and open a new 
elementary school campus.  
However, due to the need for 
additional planning time to secure a 
facility, the school requested to delay 
the opening of its third elementary 
school campus until an unspecified 
date.  The PCSB Board approved 
this request on March 19, 2012.  DC 
Prep is now in the final phase of 
lease negotiations for a facility in 
Ward 8 where it intends to open its 
newest elementary school campus in 
2015.  

DC Prep has consistently been a high 
performing network of charter 
schools that provides quality college-
preparatory programs for students in 
the District.  For the past three 
consecutive years, the school has 
produced high achievement on the 
DC CAS assessment, and its middle 
school campus, Edgewood Middle, 
is currently rated Tier 1 according 
the PMF.  The table provided on 
page 4 of this proposal outlines the 
school’s academic achievement 
performance for the past three years. 

Access to a Facility ! 
DC Prep currently operates at four 
campuses located in Ward 7.  
Additionally, the school is in final lease 
negotiations to obtain an additional 
facility located in Ward 8. 
Enrollment History ! 
The enrollment ceiling for SY 2014-
2015 is 1350, and the school has a 
current enrollment of 1320 students 
attending in grades prekindergarten-3 
through eighth grade.  In SY 2013-2014, 
1220 students were enrolled with an 
enrollment ceiling of 1250. Similarly, in 
SY 2012-2013, the school had 1138 
students enrolled with an enrollment 
ceiling of 1150.  The school’s re-
enrollment rate for the past five years 
averages about 83%, and its longest 
waitlist had approximately 1146 students 
on it. 
Corrective Action ! 
The school is not currently under any 
corrective action. 
Fiscal Management ! 
According to a review completed by 
PCSB staff of the school’s most recent 
financial audit, the school currently has 
strong net asset position.  Although there 
was one minor audit finding in FY13, 
PCSB staff determined that it would not 
be material to the school’s request for an 
enrollment ceiling increase. 
Accreditation Status ! 
 DC Prep is currently in the candidacy 
phase of seeking accreditation through 
AdvancED.  The school “expects to 
complete the process by the end of the 
2014-15 school year, or during the first 
half of the 2015-16 school year.” The 
Edgewood Middle campus was formerly 
accredited through the American 
Academy for Liberal Education 
(“AALE); however AALE does not 
accredit early childhood programs so DC 
Prep decided to seek accreditation 
elsewhere. 
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DC Preparatory Academy PCS 
Academic History 

 
2013-14 PMF 

 
At least 2/3 of EC PMF targets met ! 

At least 65 on the ES/MS PMF:  ! 
 
 

DC Prep PCS campus • PMF score  
• Scores on each indicator that fall between 

the floor and target on the EC PMF 
 

Benning Elementary 12/12 targets met  
*maximum score on two indicators (PreK 
literacy and math) 
 

Benning Middle 90.8% (non-tiered, first year campus) 
 

Edgewood Elementary 12/12 targets met 
 

Edgewood Middle Tier 1:  91.1% 
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DC Prep Enrollment Ceiling Increase Request 

 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD 

 
 
SUBMITTED BY:  Kenny Wang, DC Prep 
SUBJECT:  Request for an Enrollment Increase 
DATE:  October 3, 2014 

 
 
REQUEST 
DC Prep Public Charter School submits to the District of Columbia Public Charter School 
Board this request to increase its current enrollment ceiling of 1,350 to 1,562 for the 2015-
16 school year. 

 
BACKGROUND 
Please address all questions and requests for information in narrative form. This 
information provides helpful background to the PCSB Board as it reviews these 
notifications. 

 
Overview of School Performance 

1.  Provide the following information about your school: (1) number of years in 
operation; (2) grade levels served; (3) and the expiration date of the school’s 
charter agreement. 

 
(a) 12th year of operation (first campus opened in Fall 2003) 

i.  Edgewood Middle Campus (EMC) opened in Fall 2003 
ii.  Edgewood Elementary Campus (EEC) opened in Fall 2007 

iii.  Benning Elementary Campus (BEC) opened in Fall 2008 
iv.   Benning Middle Campus (BMC) opened in Fall 2013 
v.  Ward 8 Elementary Campus (Ward 8 EC) to open in Fall 2015 

(b) PreK-3 – 8th grade 
i.  EMC serves 4th-8th grade 

ii.  EEC serves PreK-3 – 3rd grade 
iii.  BEC serves PreK-3 – 3rd grade 
iv.  BMC serves 4th & 5th grade in SY14-15 but will add 6th grade in 

SY15-16, and ultimately serve 4th-8th grade at scale. 
v.  Ward 8 EC will open in Fall 2015 with just PreK-3 and PreK-4. 

The school will then “grow up” one grade level per year until 
ultimately serving PreK-3 – 3rd grade. 

(c) 2017-18 
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2.  Summarize the school’s academic performance history, including PMF 
scores and/or accountability plan results for the past three years. 

 
 SY11-12 SY12-13 SY13-14 

PMF Score EMC: 90.8% EMC: 89.6% EMC: 91.1% 
BMC: 90.8% 
EEC: N/A 
BEC: N/A 

PMF Tier EMC: Tier 1 EMC: Tier 1 EMC: Tier 1 
BMC: N/A 
EEC: N/A 
BEC: N/A 

# of Accountability 
Targets Met 

BEC: 6 
EEC: 7 

BEC: 7 
EEC: 6 

N/A 

Total # of 
Accountability 
Targets 

BEC: 7 
EEC: 8 

BEC: 8 
EEC: 8 

N/A 

DC CAS – Reading 
Proficiency 

EMC: 72% proficient 
EEC: 76% proficient 

EMC: 79% 
EEC: 68% 
BEC: 54% 

EMC: 81% 
EEC: 70% 
BEC: 70% 
BMC: 78% 

DC CAS – Math 
Proficiency 

EMC: 89% proficient 
EEC: 73% proficient 

EMC: 92% 
EEC: 76% 
BEC: 59% 

EMC: 92% 
EEC: 81% 
BEC: 69% 
BMC: 84% 

OSSE Accountability 
Classification 

EMC: Reward 
EEC: Rising 

EMC: Reward 
EEC: Rising 
BEC: Rising 

EMC: Reward 
EEC: Rising 
BEC: Reward 
BMC: Reward 

EMC = Edgewood Middle Campus 
EEC = Edgewood Elementary Campus 
BEC = Benning Elementary Campus 
BMC – Benning Middle Campus 
*Notes – While Benning Middle will not receive a tier this year because it first opened in 2013-14, its score is in the Tier 1 
range. Both Benning Elementary and Edgewood Elementary will not receive a PMF score or tier for 2013-14. 

 
3.  List all notices of concerns, charter warnings, or corrective actions issued to 

the school by PCSB in the past five years, as well as how the school 
responded to such notices and warnings. 

 
DC Prep has not been issued any notices of concerns, charter warnings, or 
corrective actions in the past five years. 

 
4.  Summarize the school’s enrollment history for the previous five years, 

including (a) the school’s current enrollment; (b) the school’s current 
enrollment ceiling; (c) the school’s reenrollment rates; and (d) the number of 
students on the school’s waiting list each year. 

 
 SY09-10 SY10-11 SY11-12 SY12-13 SY13-14 

Projected enrollment 
levels 

 
850 

 
907 

 
979 

 
1100 

 
1213 
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Audited enrollment 
levels 

 
845 

 
909 

 
1022 

 
1138 

 
1220 

Re-enrollment 
percentage rate 

 
77% 

 
83% 

 
86% 

 
85% 

 
84% 

# of students on the 
waiting list 

 
410* 

 
424 

 
411 

 
735 

 
1,146 

*Estimated. 
 
Proposed Enrollment Increase 

 
1.  Explain the school’s rationale for proposing to increase its student 

enrollment. 
 

We believe that there is a critical need for more high-quality, college-preparatory 
programs for Washington students, particularly in Wards 7 and 8. Based on our 
track record of success – DC Prep has been the city’s highest-performing network 
of public charter schools on the DC CAS for three consecutive years – we believe 
that our requested increase in student enrollment will help to address this 
important need by allowing us to grow our Benning Middle Campus by another 
grade level and enabling us to open a new elementary campus in Ward 8. 

 
2.  Complete the enrollment matrix included at the end of this document. 

 
See below. 

 
3.  How will the proposed enrollment increase impact the school’s operations 

and finances? Provide a proposed budget and budget narrative. 
 

DC Prep has consistently received strong reviews from the PCSB, including no 
findings noted on PCSB’s FY13 Charter Audit Resource Management (CHARM) 
scorecard. With the expansion of DC Prep’s Benning Middle Campus and the 
opening of a new Ward 8 Elementary Campus, we will continue to apply the same 
budgeting principles that we’ve used for our existing campuses. DC Prep’s FY16 
proposed budget has not been finalized, but staffing, student, occupancy, and 
business expenses will be aligned with enrollment projections. With 
commitments from NewSchools Venture Fund, U.S. Department of Education 
Charter Schools Program, and a number of foundations and private donors, we are 
confident that we will have sufficient financial resources to fund our school 
operations. 

 
4.  Will the proposed enrollment increase cause the school to exceed the 

maximum occupancy load detailed in the school’s certificate of occupancy? If 
so, when and how will the school address this? 

 
The proposed enrollment increase will not cause DC Prep’s schools to exceed the 
maximum occupancy loads detailed in the schools’ certificate of occupancy. 
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Once the proposed location for the new Ward 8 Elementary Campus has been 
finalized, DC Prep will apply for a new certificate of occupancy that will 
accommodate the proposed enrollment for the new school location. 
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5.  Has the school informed stakeholders (including staff, parents, and advisory 
neighborhood commissioners) of the proposed new campus?  If so, how were 
stakeholders notified?  Please describe any concerns raised by stakeholders. 

 
DC Prep opened its Benning Middle Campus in Fall 2013 with three homerooms 
of 4th grade students and then added 5th grade students in Fall 2014. The plan for 
the school has always been for it to “grow up” a grade each year through 8th 

grade. At full capacity, the Benning Middle Campus will serve approximately 300 
students in 4th through 8th grade. 

 
Announcements and plans for the Benning Middle Campus have been shared with 
DC Prep families, staff, funders, and partners both through literature and in- 
person. No concerns of significance have been raised. There is great support for 
and excitement about our expansion plans. This enthusiasm has been shared by 
the local Advisory Neighborhood Commission (7F01), particularly as it relates to 
our recent site renovations and construction build-out to accommodate the 
ongoing growth of Benning Middle. 

 
Community engagement plans for our new Ward 8 Elementary Campus are 
currently underway. Initial reactions from the community indicate that DC Prep 
will be a welcome addition to the Ward 8 community. Outreach to elected 
officials, ANC members, parents, and other community members will continue 
over the next few months. 
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DC Prep Public Charter School 
Enrollment Matrix – All Campuses 

 
Although PCSB requests that schools  detail their proposed enrollment through 2019-20, note that schools may  

only  seek approval for an enrollment increase for the school  years remaining before the school’s next scheduled 
high-stakes review or renewal. If the school  is requesting an enrollment increase at more than one campus, it 

should complete a separate enrollment matrix for each such campus. 
 
 

Grade 

 

Academic Year 
2015-16 

 

Academic Year 
2016-17 

 

Academic Year 
2017-18 

 

Academic Year 
2018-19 

 

Academic Year 
2019-20 

 
Pre-School 

231 231 231 231 231 

Pre- 
Kindergarten 

(Pre-K) 

207 
 

207 
 

207 
 

207 
 

207 

 
Kindergarten 

162 243 243 243 243 

 
Grade 1 

144 144 216 216 216 
 

Grade 2 
144 144 144 216 216 

 
Grade 3 

144 144 144 144 216 
 

Grade 4 
156 156 156 156 156 

 
Grade 5 

156 156 156 156 156 
 

Ungraded ES 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Grade 6 

132 132 132 132 132 

 
Grade 7 

46 92 92 92 92 

 
Grade 8 

40 40 80 80 80 

Ungraded 
MS/ JHS 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
Grade 9 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Grade 10 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Grade 11 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Grade 12 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Ungraded SHS 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Alternative 0 0 0 0 0 

Special Ed 
Schools 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
Adult 0 0 0 0 0 

 

LEA Total 1562 1689 1801 1873 1945 

Projected % - 
Special  Needs 

10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 

Projected % - 
ELL 

1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 

 
# Campuses* 5 5 5 5 5 
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APPENDIX E 
Ingenuity Prep PCS 

 
Background/Rationale Eligibility based on Policy 

Ingenuity Prep PCS is scheduled to increase its enrollment each 
year by 60 as per its current charter agreement.  They are 
requesting to increase the number of students in each grade 
level from its current 65 to 74. This increase of 9 students per 
grade level would begin in prekindergarten-4 (“PK4”) in SY 
2015-2016, while PK3 would remain a smaller group of 50, 
and then expand to PK3, PK4, and kindergarten (“K”) in SY 
2016-2017. Ultimately, the school proposes to serve 778 PK3 
through eighth graders. The school was founded in April 
2012, and it is currently in its second year of operation.  
Ingenuity Prep currently serves students in grades 
prekindergarten-3 through first grade, and the school 
intends to add a grade each year until it reaches capacity 
with a fourth grade cohort.  
 
The school requests to increase its enrollment ceiling 
because it believes there is a sufficient demand for its 
program in Southeast DC, where its current campus is 
located.  Additionally, the school would like to increase its 
enrollment to provide high quality education to more 
students in the District, particularly students in grades 
prekindergarten-3 and prekindergarten-4, to ensure they 
are provided an adequate pipeline of educational services 
that will better prepare them for success in kindergarten. 
Ingenuity Prep believes an enrollment ceiling increase will 
allow the school to open additional prekindergarten-3 and 
prekindergarten-4 classes in the coming school years. 
 
According to the school’s report in its amendment request, 
“Ingenuity Prep took the first steps towards achieving its 
mission of ensuring students are prepared to be successful 
in college and beyond as impactful civic leaders. On 
assessments such as AppleTree’s ECR assessment and the 
NWEA MAP assessment, Ingenuity Prep’s students’ 
baseline achievement scores were among the lowest of 
available comparison datasets.” While PMF scores are not 
yet available for the school’s founding year, the data 
provided on page four of this proposal demonstrates the 
academic progress that the school reported for the 2013-
2014 school year.   
 

Access to a Facility ! 
Ingenuity Prep currently operates in a 
single facility in Ward 8.  The school 
intends to continue operating in the same 
facility for future school years. 
Enrollment History ! 
The enrollment ceiling for SY 2014-2015 
is 216 and the school has a current 
unaudited enrollment of 201 students in 
grades prekindergarten-3 through first 
grade.   In SY 2013-2014, 108 students 
were enrolled with an enrollment ceiling 
of 108.  
  
According to the school’s unaudited 
report, its re-enrollment rate for SY 2014-
2015 was approximately 80%.  The 
school reports that it currently has 60 
students on its waitlist, of those students 
approximately 50% are in grades 
prekindergarten-3 and prekindergarten-4.   
Corrective Action ! 
The school is not currently under any 
corrective action. 
Fiscal Management ! 
According to a review completed by 
PCSB staff of the school’s most recent 
financial audit, no concerns were raised 
regarding the fiscal year (“FY) 2013 
audit. PCSB staff found that the school 
seems to being doing well with a small 
budget.  
Accreditation Status  (N/A rating) 
According to PCSB’s records, Ingenuity 
Prep PCS is not currently accredited.  
The school is in its second year of 
operation. 
Academics ! 
On the 203-14 EC PMF, 8 of 9 indicators 
were within the range of the floor and 
target. The PreK literacy progress target 
was missed.  Two indicators had scores 
that hit the maximum target (both in 
CLASS). 
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Ingenuity Prep Enrollment Ceiling Increase Request
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APPENDIX F 
Next Step/El Proximo Paso PCS 

 
Background/Rationale Eligibility based on Policy 

Next Step PCS requests an 
enrollment ceiling increase 
from 350 to 400 students for 
SY 2015-2016.  Additionally, 
the school requests the 
following subsequent 
enrollment increases: 450 
students in SY 2016-2017; and 
500 students in SY 2017-2018 
and each school year 
thereafter. 
 
The school was originally 
chartered in 1996 by the 
former District of Columbia 
Board of Education, and 
moved to PCSB’s jurisdiction 
in 2007.  The school’s original 
charter was written to serve 
pregnant teenagers and 
teenage mothers. In 2008, the 
school amended its charter to 
primarily serve immigrant 
students who are also English 
Language Learners (“ELLs”).  
Presently, Next Step PCS 
provides adult education 
services to primarily ELL 
students between the ages of 
16 and 24.  PCSB renewed the 
school’s charter in 2011. 
 
According to the PCSB School 
Performance Reports from 
school years 2010-2011, 2011-
2012, and 2012-2013, Next 
Step PCS met at least four of 
its five performance targets. 
The chart on page 4 of this 
proposal summarizes these 
determinations. 

Access to a Facility ! 
Next Step PCS operates in a single facility in Ward 1.  
Within that facility, the school reports that it “has the 
capacity to expand” its evening program.  Additionally, 
the school is currently subleasing part of its facility to a 
third-party tenant, so in the event that tenant decides to 
vacate, Next Step PCS would have additional space to 
expand its daytime program as well.   
Enrollment History ! 
The enrollment ceiling for SY 2014-2015 is 350 and the 
school has a current enrollment of 339 students between 
the ages of 16 and 24.  In SY 2013-2014, 316 students 
were enrolled with an enrollment ceiling of 350. Also, in 
SY 2012-2013, the school had 277 students enrolled 
with an enrollment ceiling of 250. 
 
The school’s retention rate for SY 2013-2014 was 69%, 
and is based on the retention rate measurement for adult 
schools after the GED testing period.  The school 
currently has 185 students on its waitlist for SY 2014-
2015. 
Corrective Action ! 
The school is not currently under any corrective action. 
Fiscal Management ! 
According to a review completed by PCSB staff of the 
school’s most recent financial audit, no concerns were 
raised.  PSCB staff found strong margin, surplus, and 
liquidity, and the school ended FY14 with $2.4mm in 
net income. There were no audit findings from FY13. 
Accreditation Status ! 
Next Step PCS is currently accredited through Middle 
States Association of Colleges and Schools 
Commissions on Elementary and Secondary Schools 
(which also accredits adult programs). 
Academics ! 
On the 2013-14 Adult Education PMF, 7 of 7 indicators 
were within or above the range of the floor and target. 
Two indicators had scores that exceeded the maximum 
target (Entered Employment or Entered Postsecondary 
and Retained Employment or Entered Postsecondary). 
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Next Step PCS Enrollment Ceiling Increase Request 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: Julie Meyer, Executive Director, The Next Step Public Charter School 
SUBJECT:  Increasing Enrollment Ceiling 

2. Click  here to select type of charter·amendment #2.  (If applicable) 
DATE:  9/12/2014 

 
 

SCHOOL BACKGROUND 
Please address the following questions in their entirety. This information provides helpful background to the PCSB Board 
as it reviews these requests. 

 
Overview of School Performance 
1.   Provide the following information about your school: 

 

a)   Number of years in operation: 16 completed school years 

b)   Grade levels served: ages 16-24 

c)   Expiration date of the school's charter agreement: 2026 
 
 

2.   In 1-2 paragraphs, summarize the school's  operational and academic performance history, including PMF scores 
and/or accountability plan results, and any notices of concerns, charter warnings, or corrective actions issued to the 
school b  PCSB in the   p ast five   years. 
The Next Step PCS CTNSPCS) has received no warnings or corrective actions in its history.  The adult education 
PMF is still in pilot stage; INS scored 66.7% on the 20 13-14 pilot. More important, the school has met five out 
of five Accountability Plan goals in three of the past four years and four out of five goals one year.  Note that 
these accountability plan goals will become the school's  official charter goals, subject to PCSB approval. TNSPCS 
also received unanimous approval for its second fifteen-year chapter in 2011 and a glowing review from the 
visiting re-accreditation team of the Mid-States Association in spring, 2014. 

 
 

3.   Please complete the following enrollment matrix*. 
*If requesting an amendment for more than one campus, please complete a separate enrollment matrix for each campus. 

 
**If school is not currently at Maximum  Enrollment, please add columns to include all projected school years until maximum 
enrollment is expected to be reached. 

 

Enrollment Matrix- All Campuses 
 

  

Academic Year 
2014-15 

 

Academic Year 
2015-16 

 

Academic Year 
2016-17 

 

Academic Year 
2017-18 

 

Academic Year 
2018-19 

 Current Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected 

LEA Total 339 350 400 450 500 500 

Projected % - SPED 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Projected % -ELL 80% 80% 75% 75% 75% 75% 

#Campuses* I I I I I I 
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Part C: Non-Material Charter Amendment Request 
 

*ONLY complete Part C if applying to amend one of 
the following: 

• Increasing  Enrollment Ceiling; 
• Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws; 
• Operation of Additional Campuses (w/  no change to grade 
configurations); 
• LEA Status for Special Education; or 
• Voluntary Closure of a Campus or Grade Level(s) 

 
*If applying to amend more than 1 of the above mentioned items, please duplicate this form and complete a 
separate request for each. 

 
 
 

Non-Material 
Amendment 
Request 

 

The Next Step PCS submits to the DC Public Charter School Board ("PCSB")  this request to 

amend the Increasing Enrollment Ceiling  included in its charter by amending its enrollment 

ceiling.  If approved, this amendment will be effective 8/1/2015. 

 
 
 

1.    Explain the school's  rationale for amending its 
enrollment ceiling. 

 

TNSPCS has met enrollment targets every year, and will do so again this year.  Demand for the 
school's  program continues to be high and the waiting list is long.  The city has an estimated 10,000 
"disconnected  youth," with only approximately 3000 seats available in educational programs. We 
have the capacity currently to expand our evening program.  Should our tenant decide to move to 
their own quarters, we would also have more space during the daytime. 

 

 
 

2.    How will the new enrollment ceiling support or enhance the 
school's  mission? 

 

The new enrollment ceiling will allow TNS to serve more disconnected youth, including the large 
population of overage and under-credited English language learners who require a specialized 
program to compensate for poor academic backgrounds in their native language, as well as lack of 
English proficiency and significant life challenges. Having full-time day and part-time evening 
programs with English GED, Spanish GED and ESL components gives these students, many of 
whom have children and/or work, the scheduling as well as programmatic flexibility that they 
require and which can be difficult to obtain in other programs. 

 
 

3.   Has the school informed stakeholders  (including the ANC, staff and parents) of the proposed 
amendment?  If so, how were stakeholders notified?  Please describe any concerns raised by 
stakeholders. 

 

The ANC has approved a unanimous resolution supporting TNSPCS'  enrollment ceiling increase.  
No concerns were raised, given that TNS students all take public transportation and most staff do, as 
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well.   Staff are aware of plans to continue to grow the evening program and support expansion to 
the extent supported by our facility, as long as class sizes are kept small and student support services 
are robust.  Few students live with their parents, as many students are adults. 

 

 
 

4.    If this request is for an additional campus, please describe all funds (including public and 
private) the school has earmarked for this new campus.  (If not applicable, please write N/A.) 

 

NA 
 
 
 

5.   If proposing an enrollment ceiling increase, summarize the school's  enrollment history for the 
previous five years: (If not applicable, please write NIA.) 

2013-14  316 
 

2012-13  250  (277 audited; first year in new, larger facility) 
 

2011-12   158 
 

2010-11   144 
 

2009-10   112 
 

(a) The school's current enrollment: 340 
(b) The school's current' enrollment ceiling: 350 
(c) The school's reenrollment rates: 69% "retention" rate [adult schools measured by post-testing 
rate] 
(d) The number of students on the school's waiting list each year: 185 currently (fluctuates 
throughout the year) 
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APPENDIX G 
 

ANC, Councilmember, DC Register and Website Notifications 
 

Please use the links below to view the notices submitted to the public for each school’s charter 
amendment petition to increase the school’s enrollment ceiling for SY 2015-2016. 
 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School 
http://bit.ly/1uxcAYY  
 
Creative Minds International Public Charter School  
http://bit.ly/1z2QSLc  
 
DC Preparatory Academy Public Charter School 
http://bit.ly/1wA45Mk  
 
Ingenuity Prep Public Charter School 
http://bit.ly/10Z03kG  
 
Next Step/El Proximo Paso Public Charter School 
http://bit.ly/1ElU3k9 
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CHARTER REVIEW ANALYSIS 
 

APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL  

2010-2011 Charter Review Analysis 

 
 
Executive Summary 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School has been in existence for six years.  Based on 
the School Reform Act, §38-1802.13(a) (b)1, AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School is 
not a candidate for charter revocation.  The school has not committed any known violations of 
the conditions, terms, standards or procedures set forth in the charter; has met the goals and 
student achievement expectations set forth in the charter; has engaged in generally accepted 
accounting principles, has not engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement and is economically 
viable.  
 
Charter Review Analysis 
The following analysis of AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School’s charter addresses 
whether it is a candidate for revocation based on §38-1802.13(a) (b) of the School Reform Act:        
 

(1) Has the school committed a violation of applicable law or a material violation of  
the conditions, terms, standards, or procedures set forth in the charter, including 

       violations relating to the education of children with disabilities?  No.  
 
There is no evidence that AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School has 
committed a violation of applicable law or a material violation of the conditions, terms, 
standards, or procedures set forth in the charter, including violations relating to the 
education of children with disabilities.  The school has submitted Annual Reports in a 
timely manner; is governed by a Board of Trustees in a manner consistent with the law; 
has maintained the health and safety of its students; and has not committed any known 
violations related to the education of children with disabilities.  The school is not under 
PCSB corrective action and had no compliance, governance or financial issues during the 
2009-2010 school year. Additionally, the school passed the Preliminary Charter Review’s 
compliance, governance, and financial standards based on data from the 2005-2009 
school years. 
 

                                                 
1 Pursuant to the School Reform Act, §38-1802.13(a) (b), a public charter school may be a candidate for revocation if the eligible chartering 
authority determines that the school: 1) Committed a violation of applicable law or a material violation of the conditions, terms, standards, or 
procedures set forth in the charter, including violations relating to the education of children with disabilities; 2) Failed to meet the goals and 
student academic achievement expectations set forth in the charter; 3) Engaged in a pattern of non-adherence to generally accepted accounting 
principles; 4) Engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement; or 5) Is no longer economically viable. 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL  

2010-2011 Charter Review Analysis 

(2) Has the school failed to meet the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations set forth in the charter?  No.  
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School passed the Preliminary Charter 
Review in February 2010. AppleTree demonstrated progress on its internal assessments 
and has systems in place to further monitor student performance (see Student Outcomes 
Narrative).   
 
Across all of the indicators, the Riverside campus scores were lower than those at the 
other campuses.  This campus is comprised of all four-year-olds (Pre-Kindergarten 
students), nearly all of whom matriculated from the Amidon campus.   While on average, 
the baseline assessment scores at Riverside are higher than those at other campuses, the 
end of year assessments show the least amount of growth.   AppleTree recognizes the 
need to raise the level of instruction in order to support students' growth towards higher 
levels of achievement.  AppleTree is committed to providing these supports and believe 
that with focused professional development and the addition of a pacing guide for Pre-
Kindergarten, students at Riverside will achieve higher levels.    
 

 

 
(3) Has the school engaged in a pattern of non-adherence to generally accepted 

accounting principles? 
 
Based on its interim financial reports and annual financial audits, Appletree PCS has 
adhered to GAAP.  Key results of the FY10 financial audit are as follows: 
 
Summary of Audit Results (GAS) 
! The auditors’ report expresses an unqualified opinion on the financial statements 
! Financial statements conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America 
! No deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements that were considered 

to be material weaknesses/ significant deficiencies were reported in the report of 
internal control over financial reporting  

! No deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements that were considered 
to be material weaknesses/ significant deficiencies were reported on compliance and 
other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with 
GAS 

! No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements were disclosed 
during the audit 

Summary of prior audit findings and corrective action plan 
! Not applicable as there were no prior findings 
Other information 
! The school incurred a $46K decrease in net assets during the year 

o Cumulative net asset surplus of $458K 
! $631K of cash at the end of the year 
! $66K account receivable 

! Average cost per student = $19,888 
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! Related party:  Appletree Institute for Education Innovation, Inc.  AIEI supports the 
school a strategic partner and has made a commitment to fund any operating 
shortfalls of the school.  The school leases its facilities from the Institute.  As of June 
30, 2010, the school’s outstanding balance due to the Institute was $0.  The amount 
due to the Institute was $160K at the conclusion FY2009. 

! Lease commitments:  The school’s lease with the Institute commenced on June 15, 
2006 and expires on June 14, 2016.  The school has a renewal option of five years.   
The annual rent is equal to the facility allotment received from the DC Government 
and may vary from year to year.  The minimum lease payments for future time-
periods FY2011 through FY2015 are $960K per annum.  

 
Overall, Appletree PCS has been efficient in administering accounting policies which 
follow PCSB accounting guidelines. 
 
Appletree PCS has submitted it annual audits to the PCSB in a timely fashion.  Each of the 
school’s audits (FY06-10) received an unqualified opinion.   
 
 

(4) Has the school engaged in a pattern of fiscal mismanagement?  
 
Based on the information available, PCSB believes that the Appletree PCS has 
solid fiscal management processes in place.  The school’s audit reports (FY06-
FY10) reflect sound accounting and internal controls policies.  The school has 
done an adequate good job submitting all necessary documents to PCSB for 
review when required.  The school should continue to rely upon debt only when 
necessary.  For the year ending June 30, 2010, the school’s nets assets decreased 
to $458K down $46K from its five-year high of $504K the prior year.  
Additionally, the school’s liquidity ratio of 1.78 is an indication that the school 
has rebound from its earlier liquidity challenges.  As with any not-for-profit 
organization, the school should seek to continuously improve its fiscal 
management and internal controls. 

 

 
(5) Is the school no longer economically viable?  

 
The following table is a representation of the school’s assets, liabilities and net assets at 
the conclusion of its last five fiscal periods (FY06 through FY10). 
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The schools total assets increased nearly 2700% from FY06 to FY09; primarily as a result of 
expansion.  The school’s liabilities continue to remain at appropriate levels conducive to a 
public charter school. 
 
The following table is a representation of the school’s revenues and expenditures over the last five 
fiscal periods (FY06 through FY10). 
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Appletree PCS has concluded two of its last three fiscal periods with positive net income balances.  The 
school has been able to able to amass an adequate net asset reserve as a result of its recent budgetary 
successes (see table below).  School leadership must look to grow the school’s cash reserves to levels 
sufficient enough to cover three to six months of operating expenses.  

 

 
 
Appletree PCS has been able to successfully manage its working capital needs and has been able to 
generate positive working capital balances at the conclusion of each of the last two fiscal periods (see 
table below).  The school has sufficient liquid assets as indicated by the FY10 year ending liquidity 
ratio of 1.78. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Appletree PCS makes spending decisions appropriate for the management of educational programs.  
Salaries and occupancy costs are somewhat out of line with industry comparables and PCSB financial 
metrics but not flagrantly.  As indicated by the chart below, the school’s four-year average salary and 
occupancy expenditures expressed as a percentage of total revenue are 65% and 16% respectively; PCSB 
established thresholds are 50% for salary and 25% for occupancy (75% when summed).   
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2010-2011 Charter Review Analysis 

 
 
Based on the information contained in the tables and charts above, PCSB staff 
concludes that Appletree PCS is economically viable and of sound fiscal health. 
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AGENDAS/MINUTES/BOARD DECISIONS

February 28, 2011
Board Members in Attendance:
Mr. Don Soifer, Presiding; Mr. Will Marshall; Ms. Emily Bloomfield; Ms. Sara Mead; and Mrs.
Josephine Baker (ex-officio) 

Mr. Don Soifer called the meeting to order at 6:45pm.

Approval of the January Minutes
Mr. Don Soifer asked for a motion for the minutes from the January meeting.  Mr. Will Marshall
moved the motion.   Ms. Sara Mead seconded, the motion was unanimously accepted, and the
January minutes were approved.

Acknowledgement of Public Officials
No elected officials were present.

Administrative Committee
The contracts for February 2011 for more than $25,000 were received by the PCSB and were
read and accepted into the record.

School Oversight Committee – Request to Operate in a New Location-Options Public
Charter School
Representatives: Jeff Smith, Board of Directors; David Crawford, clinical director; Sharee
Lawler, Advisory Neighborhood Commissioner

Mr. Clarence Parks from staff introduced the request to the Board for Options Public Charter
School to establish an alternative site for students with severe emotional or discipline issues.

Mr. Jeff Smith spoke about the popularity of Options as a place for students who have
disciplinary issues, until the state requested that Options take on more students.

Mr. Don Soifer asked if the influx of these new students is the reasoning for the increased
number of reportable incidents.  A representative from the school answered that that was
indeed the reason for the increased number of reportable incidents at the school, and began
reading into record Options new proposal for meeting the needs of these new students
including their academic curriculum changes, behavior intervention plans, and therapy sessions
with a psychiatrist.

Mr. Don Soifer asked that Options explain the details of the timeline for the move to the new
site.  A representative from Options replied that the proposed new site is not currently
occupied by another party, but that it is furnished and ready for their occupation upon PCSB
approval. Mr. Don Soifer asked if occupation could happen right away, depending on Board
approval.  The same representative from Options said that they are ready to move into the
new location in a few days of Board approval.

Mr. Don Soifer asked about IDEA compliance and for a discussion about the manifestation of
disability, and if Options’ new plan would be compliant with IDEA and federal special education
regulations.  The same representative from earlier stated that yes, it is, and that they
confirmed with the Office of the State Superintendent of Education (OSSE), who they
collaborated with on this.

Mr. Don Soifer wanted clarification that the only students using the site would be the students
that are being discussed- those students in the proposed 45 day plan, and whose needs are
not being met in their current setting and require more wrap around services.  A
representative from the school replied that that was indeed the case.

Ms. Sara Mead asked if these students had been placed in the new site previously.  A
representative from the responded that these students had not been placed at the site
previously.  Ms. Sara Mead then asked where then were they placed. She was informed by a
representative from the school that they were placed in a church across the street, a location
that the Board had not approved.  Representatives from Options apologized to the Board for
placing students in a location not given previous Board approval and told the Board that they
didn’t know that they needed prior Board approval to operate in new locations.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked if the students are coming out of residential or day settings, and
was told by representatives from the school that they are coming from a combination of
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settings.  Ms. Emily Bloomfield stated that Options isn’t providing a residential program for the
kids who were in residential programs, and asked what they’re doing to meet the needs of
those students.  A representative from the school answered that Options reviews each
student’s IEP, and that when students are moved from residential facilities into a situation
where there are 300-400 students, that these students have difficulty in dealing with such a
transition.  Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked if the new setting is a combination of residential and
standard settings, and was told by a representative from the school that Options was looking
at the model of some DCPS schools where there are 10 students in each class, along with
three adults.  A representative from the school elaborated that the proposed facility is small
and that there is no hallway and no stairwell for students to hide and cut class.  The number of
students in the facility would be quite small, and the way that they plan on moving the
students would be restrictive, logistically speaking.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked if students sent there for disciplinary infractions have due process
rights and if this location would increase the number of students at Options.  She was
informed that the students do have due process rights and that the move to the new location
would not increase the number of students enrolled at Options.

Mr. David Crawford went into detail about each individual student’s clinical behavior plans and
the measures in place for formal and informal evaluation. 

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked how the school was financing the new location.  A representative
from the school answered that Options operates in a frugal manner as much as possible and is
thus able to find the financing to operate this program.

Mr. Will Marshall asked how the state could ask them to take on more students.  A
representative from the school said that they had not reached their enrollment cap when the
state took their action.  Mr. Will Marshall asked what else Options has done to deal with the
complaints stemming from their situation.  A representative answered that they are doing
more work to be involved with their ANC.  The school’s principal, Robert Allen, then approached
the Board to address that issue. 

Mr. Allen addressed the board discussing dismissal policies and how staff is dispersed blocks
from the school itself to make sure dismissal is orderly.  The school goes to police meetings to
be responsive to their neighbors’ concerns.  Inside the school they have dedicated their dean
to do nothing but mediations (208 of them thus far).  It has resulted in a marked decline in
aggression, but the numbers are still quite high.  He added that Options also engages in home
visits, and that he personally does door to door visits with community members to see how
they’re doing.  He hands out his cell phone number to them as well.

Mr. Don Soifer asked for a clarification about a point related to parent appeals and if they are
fully compliant with IDEA process and federal special education laws.  A representative from
the school answered that it is.

Mr. Don Soifer asked ANC Commissioner Sharee Lawler about parking.  Commissioner Lawler is
not from the proposed location, and could not speak to that issue.  She said she is very
pleased with her relationship with Options.

Mrs. Josephine Baker asked how they’re doing their Race to the Top (RttT) responsibilities in
addition to this current proposal.  A representative from the school said that they’re being
monitored very closely by OSSE in regards to their RttT program.

Mr. Don Soifer asked for someone to address parking at the new location.  A representative
from the school answered that they’ve rented space from New Bethany Baptist Church.

Mr. Don Soifer asked if the new school would maintain the same hours as the current location. 
A representative from the school answered no, and that the new location would operate from
9am-2:45pm for academic courses, and at 2:45 students will receive counseling.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield moved the motion to approve the new location.  Mr. Will Marshall
seconded.  All were in favor except for Ms. Sara Mead who opposed.  Motion passed.

School Oversight Committee- Request to Delay Opening- DC Preparatory Academy Public
Charter School Elementary School Campus
Representatives:  None. 

Ms. Kimberly Worthington from the staff introduced DC Preparatory Academy’s request to open
a consolidated elementary school in Ward 8 before the Board.  Mr. Will Marshall moved to grant
their request to delay.  Ms. Sara Mead seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.

School Oversight Committee - Charter Review – Capital City Public Charter School 
Representatives:  Karen Dresden, Head of School; Ms. Candace Crawford, Chair of Board

Ms. Kimberly Worthington introduced the review findings before the Board.  Based on the
School Reform Act, Capital City is not a candidate for charter revocation. 

Ms. Karen Dresden began by stating the school’s accomplishments in recent history including
the start of an upper school and their DC CAS test scores.  She also discussed what they’re
doing to address their challenges as well.

Ms. Candace Crawford spoke of the school’s plans to expand programs and for new spaces to
meet their expansion goals.
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Mr. Don Soifer asked for a motion for continuance.  Ms. Sara Mead moved for a motion, Ms.
Emily Bloomfield seconded, and all were in favor.  Charter continuance was granted.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review - Paul Public Charter School 
Representatives:  Jim Moss, Board Chair; Kimberly Spriggs; Sterling Ward, Board Member;
Kathleen Geary, Board Member; Jami Dunham, Head of School; Danielle Singh, Head of
Academics

Ms. Kimberly Worthington introduced the review findings before the Board. Based on the
School Reform Act, Paul is not a candidate for charter revocation.  
 
Ms. Jami Dunham gave a summary of Paul’s gains and current academic status to the Board.

Ms. Danielle Singh discussed some of the school’s changes from 2006 until now to make
progress, and some of their continuing challenges.

Ms. Kimberly Spriggs spoke on Paul’s financial status and their success in moving forward even
with state funding shortfalls and enrollment changes.  She also mentioned the possibility of
adding a high school and exploring the feasibility of such a move.

Mr. Jim Moss spoke about how much of school leadership and their board is new and that the
school is in a transition.  He spoke of how the school’s board has taken on greater
responsibility in making AYP and finding avenues to make further progress and oversee that
the school maintains sound fiscal standing.

Mr. Don Soifer asked for further info on re-enrollment and enrollment.  Ms. Jami Dunham
detailed how many of the schools in the area have transitioned from a k-5 into a k-8 model,
and that as other schools are improving, parents are becoming savvier in terms of where they
choose to send their kids, explaining the difficulties in enrollment and re-enrollment.

Mr. Don Soifer asked for a motion.  Mr. Will Marshall moved for continuance, and Ms. Emily
Bloomfield seconded. The motion was carried unanimously.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – Tree of Life Community Public Charter School 
Representatives: Carl Hampton, Board Chair; Patricia Williams, Executive Director; James
Darrow, Board Member; Leonard Harvey, Business Manager
 
Ms. Susan Miller of the staff introduced the review findings before the Board. Based on the
School Reform Act, Tree of Life is not a candidate for charter revocation. 

Ms. Patricia Williams detailed to the Board about their initiatives and what Tree of Life is doing
to make improvements.

Mr. James Darrow gave the Board a summary of Tree of Life’s financial situation.

Mr. Don Soifer asked the school’s representatives to speak to their progress in making AYP. 
Ms. Patricia Williams spoke to the achievement levels depending on grade level and strategies
that they are employing to improve progress.

Mr. Don Soifer asked if they still have school buses and offer transportation.  Ms. Patricia
Williams said that they operate buses and transport approximately 70% of their students

Mr. Don Soifer asked about re-enrollment.  Tree of Life stated that they reached close to 60%
re-enrollment but would like it to be higher.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked if they reached their enrollment cap.  Ms. Patricia Williams said that
they meet their targets, but have never had to do a lottery.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked who their geographic competitors for enrollment are.  Ms. Patricia
Williams spoke to two schools that have either renovated or reopened.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked about the high rate of teacher turnover.  Ms. Patricia Williams said
that they’re receiving a state grant and as a beneficiary of the New Schools Venture Fund,
they’re focusing on keeping teachers.  Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked what she thinks their
retention rate will look like.  Ms. Patricia Williams said that they expect it to be high.

Mr. Don Soifer asked them to speak to their future plans and if they plan to fund academic
gains financially. James Darrow spoke to their work to pay off loans to improve liquidity.

Mrs. Josephine Baker had concerns about their curriculum aligning with state standards and
what they’re doing to get it to a high level.  Ms. Patricia Williams said that she didn’t agree
with board staff’s assessment.

Mr. Will Marshall moved to grant continuance, and Ms. Sara Mead seconded.  Mr. Will Marshall
and Ms. Emily Bloomfield stated that Tree of Life has a long way to go to be where they want
to see them.  Charter continuance was approved unanimously.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter
School 
Representatives: Ann Zummo Malone, Manager of Academic Programs; Jack McCarthy, Board
Member; Russ Williams, Executive Director

Mr. Don Soifer pointed out that he has the proxy vote for Mr. Darren Woodruff and that he will
be exercising it for AppleTree. Ms. Sara Mead is recusing herself from this vote because she
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was a former member of this school’s board.

Ms. Marissa Mikoy of staff introduced AppleTree’s review findings before the Board.  AppleTree
is not a candidate for charter revocation. 

Mr. Russ Williams read a third party, independent evaluation of the school’s program.  Mr. Jack
McCarthy mentioned that they were awarded a federal Investing In Innovation grant.

Mr. Don Soifer asked why AppleTree was pursuing accreditation through Middle States.  Ms.
Ann Zummo Malone said that Middle States has a more robust self study.

A motion was moved, seconded and passed unanimously.  Dr. Darren Woodruff was voted in
by proxy by Mr. Don Soifer.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – Early Childhood Academy Public Charter
School 
Representatives: David Schreiber, Board Member; Wendy Edwards, Principal and Executive
Director; Thann Ingraham, Vice Principal 

Ms. Jacqueline Scott-English of the staff introduced Early Childhood Academy’s review findings
before the Board.  The school is not a candidate for revocation. 

Ms. Wendy Edwards gave a summary of the school’s academic performance.  Thann Ingraham
gave a summary on their initiatives to make progress which includes personal learning
communities, and extended learning day programs as well.

Mr. Don Soifer asked a question about financial process and about procurement and alleged
incidences of non-reporting certain purchases and items over $25,000.  David Schreiber
answered that such lapses are not acceptable to the school’s board.

Mrs. Josephine Baker asked about their plans for facilities.  Ms. Wendy Edwards answered that
she been working for the last two years with Building Hope to find a facility that can house all
of their classrooms.  They have no capacity to grow in their current facilities. She added that
the school has strong financials and have $1.5 million in reserve and they want to use that to
purchase a new property.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked about teacher retention.  Ms. Wendy Edwards responded that they
have lost 5 teachers: three for poor performance; one retired; and one was murdered.

A motion was moved by Mr. Will Marshall, seconded and passed unanimously.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – Howard University Middle School of Math
and Science Public Charter School (HUMS2)
Representatives: Sue White, Head of School; Yohance Magubela, Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Kimberly Worthington introduced their review findings before the Board.  HUMS2 is not a
candidate for revocation.

Ms. Sue White introduced the four board members that were present.  She also introduced
staff.

Mr. Yohance Magubela spoke to the close relationship between the school and Howard
University itself, including offering teacher’s professional development from Howard’s School of
Education.  Howard provides a computer for every student in school and another one with high
speed internet for use at home. 

Mr. Don Soifer asked them how they use data to guide efforts to improve quality of instruction
for students.  Mr. Yohance Magubela replied that they’ve hired a fulltime data specialist to work
with teachers and administrators.

Ms. Sara Mead asked about Howard’s instances of non compliance in terms of special
education and the steps they are taking.  Mr. Yohance Magubela stated that the school
inherited incomplete files, began workshops and hired an inclusion teacher.

Ms. Josephine Baker asked about the areas that are limited in curriculum as identified in the
Program Development Review (PDR).  Ms. Sue White said that they’ve purchased curricula from
Montgomery County, MD, and Arlington County, VA for science and hired a curriculum
consultant.

Ms. Sara Mead moved to grant continuance. Ms. Emily Bloomfield seconded.  The motion was
unanimously approved.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – Bridges Public Charter School
Representatives: Olivia Smith, Principal and Director; Kate McGuin, Special Education
Coordinator; Noelani Mussman; Betsy Centofati, Board Chair

Mr. Clarence Parks introduced the school’s review findings before the Board.  Bridges is not a
candidate for charter revocation.

Ms. Olivia Smith summarized their school mission and their focus on children with special needs
and preschoolers.

Ms. Kate McGuin gave a summary on their special education program

Ms. Betsy Centofati stated that the organizational structure is thin to help finance the pre k
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program, but that they have won a grant from OSSE.

Mr. Don Soifer asked why they went through Middle States to be certified. Ms. Olivia Smith said
that it was a better fit for them, as NAEYC accreditation would require them to change
themselves programmatically.

Ms. Josephine Baker asked if they have plans to expand or if they want to remain at their small
size.  Ms. Betsy Centofati said that this is why they’ve undergone the feasibility study, so that
they can see if they can grow in size.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield moved the motion that their charter be continued. Mr. Will Marshall
seconded and it was agreed to unanimously.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – Potomac Lighthouse Public Charter
School
Representatives: Keirston Woods, Board Chair; Raymond Richards, Principal 

Ms. Keirston Woods introduced some of the staff and board members on hand.

Ms. Carolyn Trice of the staff introduced their review findings before the Board.  Potomac
Lighthouse is not a candidate for revocation.

Ms. Keirston Woods thanked the Board and staff for the feedback that they’ve received from
the PDR.  She gave a short summary of the school’s history and academic plans for the future
and finances.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked about keeping leadership in place.  Mr. Raymond Richards says that
he plans on staying at the school for some time.

Ms. Josephine Baker asked about the increase in performance and what they want to do to
sustain it.  Mr. Raymond Richards said that they using data to drive performance.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield moved for continuance, and Ms. Sara Mead seconded the motion. 
Continuance passed unanimously.

School Oversight Committee – Charter Review – YouthBuild Public Charter School 
Representatives: Mark Jordan, Board Chair; Andrea Henson, Principal

Ms. Charlotte Cureton of staff introduced their review findings before the Board.  She stated
that they are not a candidate for charter revocation.

Ms. Andrea Henson gave a summary of school’s enrollment, and how it has met goals of
accountability and curriculum.  Mr. Mark Jordan summarized the school’s board history and
governance and stated that the school is financially stable.

Ms. Emily Bloomfield asked about the school’s pass rate on the GED and on attendance.  Ms.
Andrea Henson said that attendance was a big challenge last year and that they’ve created an
“attendance counselor” and put procedures into place to deal with it, and are currently at an
80% attendance rate, and that they are using data driven instruction to focus on the GED.

The Motion was moved by Ms. Sara Mead, seconded, and agreed to unanimously. Dr. Darren
Woodruff was voted in by proxy by Mr. Don Soifer. Mr. Will Marshall excused himself after the
agenda item began.

Public Comment
None.

 

Mr. Don Soifer adjourned the meeting at 10:17 pm.

About

Parents/Community

School Leaders

News Room

Find a Charter School

Factsheet

Enrolling at a DC Charter School

Charter School Directory

Charter School Job Opportunities

Work at the PCSB

Start a Charter School

Contact Us

Public Charter School Board

Copyright 2014 | All Rights Reserved.

3333 14th Street, NW, Suite 210

Washington, DC 20010

http://www.addthis.com/bookmark.php
http://www.dcpcsb.org/About-the-Board.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/SearchSchools.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/MISC/For-School-Leaders.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/News-Room.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/SearchSchools.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/data/files/fast%20facts%20-%20october%202013%5B1%5D.pdf
http://www.dcpcsb.org/Parents/Enrolling-Your-Child.aspx
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheet/pub?key=0AuiMYhgzOOSVdEc0em5kWDBzeVFiTi13XzJmLVlZdVE&single=true&gid=16&output=html
http://www.dcpcsb.org/School-Leaders/Charter-School-Job-Opportunities.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/About-the-Board/Work-at-PCSB.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/School-Leaders/Start-a-Charter-School.aspx
http://www.dcpcsb.org/Contact-Us.aspx


 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix G 



 
May 23, 2014 
 
Jack McCarthy, Board Chair 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – Lincoln Park 
138 12th Street NE 
Washington, DC 20002 
 
Dear Mr. McCarthy: 
 
The Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducts Qualitative Site Reviews (QSR) to gather and 
document evidence to support school oversight. According to the School Reform Act § 38-1802.11, 
PCSB shall monitor the progress of each school in meeting the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations specified in the school’s charter. Your school was selected to undergo a QSR during the 
2013-14 school year for the following reason: 

 
o School is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year 

 
Qualitative Site Review Report 
A QSR team conducted on-site review visits of AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School–
Lincoln Park (AppleTree PCS– Lincoln Park) between March 31 through April 11, 2014. The purpose 
of the site review is for PCSB to gauge the extent to which the school’s goals and student academic 
achievement expectations were evident in the everyday operations of the public charter school. To 
ascertain this PCSB staff and consultants evaluated your classroom teaching by using an abridged 
version of the Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching observation rubric. Members of the QSR 
team conducted 30 to 45 minute observations in classrooms. The QSR team scored each observation 
based on the critical attributes outlined in the Framework for Teaching. The team also visited a board 
meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission, and charter 
goals. 
 
The QSR team’s report is attached. You will find that the Qualitative Site Review Report focuses 
primarily on the following areas: charter mission and goals, classroom environments, and instructional 
delivery. The QSR results for the school were exceptionally strong.  Congratulations! 
 
We appreciate the assistance and hospitality that you and your staff gave the monitoring team in 
conducting the Qualitative Site Review at AppleTree PCS–Lincoln Park. Thank you for your continued 
cooperation as PCSB makes every effort to ensure that AppleTree PCS–Lincoln Park is in compliance 
with its charter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Naomi DeVeaux 
Deputy Director 
 
 



Enclosures 
cc: School Leader 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – Lincoln Park (AppleTree PCS – Lincoln Park) serves 61 students in pre-kindergarten-3 (PK3) 
through pre-kindergarten-4 (PK4) and is part of a five campus pre-kindergarten network serving over 600 students. The DC Public Charter 
School Board (PCSB) conducted a Qualitative Site Review (QSR) at all campuses because the school is eligible for a10-year Charter Review 
during the 2014-15 school year. 

The QSR team conducted observations over the course of a two-week window from March 31 through April 11, 2014. A team of two PCSB staff 
members (including a PCSB staff member with extensive special education experience) and one consultant conducted six observations of 
AppleTree PCS – Lincoln Park’s three classrooms. In each of the classrooms, there was a lead teacher, teaching assistant and teaching 
fellow. For the purpose of this report, an adult delivering instruction to children will be referred to as a “teacher.” All of the observations are 
based on the student-teacher interactions among all of the teaching staff in the classroom. The spirit of the QSR process is to observe the 
educational experience for all students, inclusive of students with disabilities, at a particular school. The results of this QSR reflect what the QSR 
team observed in all learning environments within your school, including the one Special Education teacher observed in the inclusion and pull-
out settings. The QSR team used Charlotte Danielson’s Framework for Teaching Rubric throughout the observations and observed classrooms 
primarily in the morning. In addition to this two-week window, a member of the QSR team also attended a Board of Trustees meeting in order to 
observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission and charter goals.  

The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” in the Classroom Environment domain. Teachers created warm 
and caring classroom environments. Students worked collaboratively together in centers. Transitions from learning centers were seamless and 
required little to no mediation by the teachers. Student behavior was generally appropriate across classrooms. Teachers preempted misbehavior 
by moving around the classrooms, praising students for positive behavior, and responding gently to cases of misbehavior. 
 
The QSR team scored 92% of the observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Instructional Delivery domain. Teachers presented content 
clearly, using rich and sophisticated language while ensuring that students were following along. Teachers asked a combination of lower and 
higher order questioning to establish a knowledge base before pushing students to think more deeply. Students had ample opportunities to 
interact with each other at centers and completed a range of learning tasks, such as puzzles, art related to the theme of paleontology, dramatic 
play involving dinosaurs and observers, and reading at the class library. In small groups, teachers clearly presented lessons around rhyming 
words, phonemes, and letter sounds, assessing students individually to gauge knowledge.  
 
The school has extensive strategies in place to meet the needs of all learners. The student-to-teacher ratio at this campus was approximately six-
to-one, giving students access to individualized instruction where needed. The review team saw teachers continuously checking in with 
individual students and providing feedback. Teachers differentiated instruction by providing students with a range of centers and learning tasks, 
many of which focused on the theme of paleontology, which the students had been studying.  Teachers leveraged students’ different learning 
styles, providing time for singing songs, tactile learning (as by drawing numbers in pretend sand), and visual learning (as by showing words on 
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flash cards and asking students to match the word with its beginning letter sound). There was one student identified as having a disability at this 
campus and the student’s dedicated aid provided opportunities for this student to stay engaged in the general class setting and to be successful at 
the learning tasks. 
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CHARTER MISSION, GOALS, ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS, AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 
 
This table summarizes AppleTree PCS – Lincoln Park’s goals and academic achievement expectations as detailed in its charter and subsequent 
Accountability Plans, and the evidence that the Qualitative Site Review (QSR) team observed of the school meeting those goals during the 
Qualitative Site Review Visit.  
 

Mission and Goals Evidence 
 

Mission: The mission of AppleTree Early Learning PCS is to provide 
young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations 
that will enable them to succeed in school. 

 

 
The QSR team observed robust evidence that AppleTree PCS – 
Lincoln Park is meeting its mission.  
 
Social and emotional foundations: 
Teachers consistently emphasized social skills in interactions with 
students by modeling respectful behavior and by praising students for 
positive interactions with peers. One teacher had a conversation with a 
student about the difference between tattling on a child misbehaving 
but not harming anyone versus telling an adult when a student is 
putting himself or others in danger. A small group of students worked 
in a small “social skills” group where they learned about age-
appropriate social skills and had the opportunity to practice and 
demonstrate what they learned. 
 
Teachers supported emotional development by (1) having students 
watch other students follow directions in a “Sit and Watch” chair in 
order to get the student back on track, (2) praising students for staying 
on task and paying attention to the teacher’s directions, and (3) 
allowing the students to choose their own activities during center time. 
Students demonstrated social and emotional proficiency as they 
transitioned smoothly from center to center and through the absence of 
serious misbehavior.  
 
Cognitive foundation: 
Teachers supported students in building their cognitive foundation by 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
asking open-ended questions requiring students to think beyond 
memorization, to draw on background knowledge, and to explain their 
thinking. One teacher practiced rhyming words with a small group of 
students and asked students to explain how they knew that one word 
rhymed with another. In another observation the teacher asked a 
student the best place for sea creatures and the student responded, “a 
bed.” Rather than correct the student or dismiss the remark, the teacher 
proceeded to help the child rationalize why a bed would not be the best 
place for a sea creature.  
 

 
PMF Goal #1: Student Progress – Academic Improvement over 
time 
Effective instruction supporting student academic progress and 
achievement in reading and math. 
 
 

 
Teachers presented literacy instruction by emphasizing isolated letter 
sounds, modeling combining sounds to form words, and leading small 
groups of students in practicing beginning, ending and medial sounds. 
Teachers worked with small groups to identify words in a group that 
rhymed and asked students to explain to peers how they knew that the 
words rhymed. During Morning Meeting students looked at the words 
of a song on a monitor as they sang. One teacher presented a lesson on 
phonemes to a small Guided Reading group. Teachers used advanced 
vocabulary with students across all observations.  
 
The QSR team predominantly saw literacy instruction during the 
observations, however the team noticed the integration of math 
concepts at various points during the observed lessons. A few teachers 
asked students to count as they transitioned from one activity to 
another.  
 

 
PMF Goal #2: Student Achievement – Meeting or exceeding 
academic standards 
Moving students to advanced levels of proficiency in reading and math 

 
Teachers provided differentiated instruction in reading and assessed 
students to determine progress. Teachers pulled small, homogeneous 
groups of students to work at their skill-level and asked each student to 
demonstrate the particular skill that they were working on e.g., 
choosing pairs of rhyming words, identifying beginning, ending, and 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
medial sounds, and naming words that began with a certain sound. 
Teachers provided timely and constructive feedback to students and 
retaught when students had trouble answering questions. In one 
classroom in the Dramatic Play center, a student demonstrated 
knowledge of advanced vocabulary by telling an observer that he was 
an herbivore meaning, “I don’t eat meat!” 
 
The teachers generally used all time for instruction. One teacher asked 
students to count to 20 while she searched for a song they had 
requested to sing. The teacher gave the students a choice in how they 
wanted to count: doing jumping jacks, clapping their hands, or 
jumping. This teacher also asked students what day it was based on the 
date from yesterday, asking one student to explain this to the rest of the 
class. The teacher then had all of the students practice drawing the date 
in sand. The QSR team did not see differentiation or assessment 
beyond counting and practicing drawing numbers. One of the three 
members of the QSR team did not notice any math instruction.  
 

 
PMF Goal # 3: Gateway – Outcomes in key subjects that predict 
future educational success 
Promotion of reading proficiency by third grade and math proficiency 
by eighth grade 
 

 
See evidence described in the reading and math goals above. 

 
PMF Goal #4: Leading Indicators – Predictors of future student 
progress and achievement 
Culture of learning and support in the classrooms 

 
Teachers promoted a strong culture of learning and support in 
classrooms. Teachers waited for all students to be ready to learn, 
making sure students’ heads were not on the table during small group 
and ensuring that students were tracking the teacher during whole 
group instruction. Teachers supported time on task, praising students as 
they followed directions, and gently refocused those students who were 
not.  
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
Teachers provided a strong culture of support across classrooms. 
Teachers demonstrated genuine caring for students, asking them 
questions about life beyond school. Teachers asked students about their    
doctor’s appointments and their family members. Teachers addressed 
students’ individual needs. When a student entered the classroom with 
a hurt knee from the walk to school; a teacher attended to the student 
while the rest of the class began Morning Meeting. Teachers supported 
students by scaffolding instruction in small groups i.e., giving students 
an appropriate amount of time to answer challenging questions. 
 

 
Board Governance 

 
Two overlapping governing boards that attend one joint meeting 
oversee AppleTree Institute and AppleTree Early Learning Public 
Charter School. A PCSB staff member observed the board meeting on 
January 28, 2014. Both boards carried out business for both entities at 
this meeting. It was not clear which board members were on which 
board. At the January 28th board meeting, seventeen board members 
were in attendance and they voted for Cal Leonard (consultant from the 
New Schools Venture Fund) to join the board. It was unclear which 
board he joined, but all 17 members voted, which leads PCSB to 
believe he is part of the Institute’s board but not the charter school’s. 
On May 2, 2014, AppleTree clarified that the eleven members of the 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS Board are also on the AppleTree 
Institute board with other members. While on paper there is a 
distinction, in practice, there still appears to be a conflict of interest. 
Additionally while not in conflict with the School Reform Act, the 
board chair of the school is also the President and CEO of AppleTree 
Early Learning PCS, which is not a best practice.  
 
AppleTree Institute provides services to other DC public charter 
schools, including CLASS observation evaluations and has proposed to 
PCSB to conduct the CLASS observations for the AppleTree Early 
Learning PCS campuses. While the board meeting is divided into two 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
sections and the board chair stopped a vote on charter school finances 
during the AppleTree Institute portion of the meeting, acknowledging 
the PCSB observer, this division of the Board’s business is not enough 
to provide sufficient independence between the two entities to allow for 
AppleTree Institute to evaluate AppleTree Early Learning PCS.   
 
During the public charter school portion of the meeting, Anne Malone, 
Chief of Schools, reported on attendance goals and MySchoolDC 
applications. Ms. Malone also spoke on teacher retention and school 
culture. The board approved an amended budget and discussed the 
upcoming charter 10-year review. 
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CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT1 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Classroom Environment domain of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below "proficient" to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools.  The QSR team scored 100% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Classroom Environment domain.!!! 
 

Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Creating an Environment of 
Respect and Rapport 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Creating an Environment of Respect and Rapport, with the vast majority of 
these observations rated as exemplary! Teachers demonstrated caring and 
knowledge of students’ lives beyond school. Teachers respected students’ 
incorrect responses by helping students come to the correct answer on their 
own. Teachers promoted a warm and caring environment by greeting students 
when they entered the classroom and by having students greet each other 
during Morning Meeting.  
 
Students exhibited respect for each other, working collaboratively in centers 
without mediation by the teachers. In one observation students demonstrated 
respect for their classmate who had a disability by not reacting negatively when 
the student called out of turn. Students showed respect for the teacher by 
listening, tracking, and following directions. 
. 

 
 

Exemplary 
 

83% 

Proficient 17% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 Teachers may be observed more than once by different review team members. 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Establishing a Culture for 
Learning 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Establishing a Culture for Learning. Teachers demonstrated high regard for 
student ability, praising them for work on their song and for responses to 
questions about the date and about sea creatures, and saying, “You guys are so 
smart and you’re getting smarter every day!” Teachers explicitly told students 
how to show they were ready to learn, e.g., tracking the teacher, keeping their 
heads off their desks, keeping their hands to themselves in their laps, and sitting 
up on the carpet.  
 
Teachers told students that they expected their best work, saying, “You are going 
to sing this song in your best voice.” Teachers recognized student effort in small 
groups as they asked each student a question related to the skill they were 
learning. Teachers said, “I like how you are repeating the words that you heard,” 
and “Nice job!” Students praised each other for good work, saying, “Super, good 
job!” and “You’re doing a great job!”  
 
Teachers were highly passionate and enthusiastic as they presented content to 
students related to word sounds and rhyming words. Students helped each other 
be successful in learning activities such as matching a picture to the beginning 
letter. 
 

Exemplary 33% 

Proficient 67% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Managing Classroom Procedures 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Classroom Procedures. Across all classrooms students transitioned 
smoothly without assistance from the teacher during center time. Teachers 
established routines and rituals effectively throughout all classrooms, as 
students quietly entered classrooms at the beginning of the day and sat on the 
carpet, walked up the stairs quietly with their hands on the railing for safety, 
and cleaned up from snack on their own. Students responded consistently to 
cues and transition techniques, such as, “Everybody stop, hands on top,” which 
caused all students to quiet down and raise hands to show they were listening.   
 
In one exemplary observation, a student led the transition to writing time; with 
little prompting from the teacher, the student told the group, “Put your Ws up.” 
The students chanted, “It’s writing time, it’s writing time!” Additionally, 
teachers effectively used a bell to get students to stop and listen to directions for 
the next transition. Teachers ensured that no instructional time was lost in 
transitions, encouraging students to count to a certain number while moving to 
the next activity. 
 

Exemplary 33% 

Proficient 67% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Managing Student Behavior 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Student Behavior. In half of the observations, student behavior was 
entirely appropriate with no evidence of misbehavior. Standards of conduct 
throughout classrooms were well established. Teachers monitored student 
behavior effectively and gently, moving around the classroom to use proximity to 
get students back on track, entering conversations at learning centers to note what 
students were doing, praising artwork, noticing writing, and acting as the 
audience during Dramatic Play.  

In one observation a teacher used a subtle technique to help the student with a 
disability understand appropriate times to whisper or be loud; the teacher carried 
pictures with examples (e.g., inside voice, loud, and whisper) of the behavior 
most appropriate at any given time.  If the student yelled out during a quiet 
activity or circle time, the teacher would point to one of the pictures to indicate 
that the student should whisper or use an inside voice.  

In instances of misbehavior teachers responded effectively by telling students, “It 
is not time to be laying on the floor.” A teacher also asked a student to go to the 
“Sit and Watch” chair to learn from other students who were following directions. 
Teachers acknowledged students for appropriate behavior, calling on students 
with a “nice quiet hand.” 

 

Exemplary 50% 

Proficient 50% 

 

The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY

This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Instructional Delivery elements of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below “proficient” to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools.  The QSR team scored 92% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Instructional Delivery domain.    
 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Communicating with Students 
 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Communicating with Students. Teachers explained content clearly, using 
advanced vocabulary, particularly around the paleontology theme. 
Explanations of content were error-free and age-appropriate. Teachers were 
explicit in describing the purpose for learning, particularly in small groups 
where students learned about phonemes, rhyming words, and parts of the 
word and their sounds.  
 
Students consistently demonstrated their understanding of the learning task 
as they worked in small groups and centers. With little to no mediation 
from the teacher, students read in the library center, completed art work 
related to their dinosaur theme, participated in dramatic play by pretending 
they were dinosaurs, and worked puzzles on their own or with peers. 
Teachers invited students to explain content to the class and to small 
groups. Teachers also asked students to draw on their background 
knowledge about sea creatures to tell their peers where sea creatures lived. 
Students demonstrated their understanding of learning tasks as they 
responded appropriately during small group lessons and story time.  

 

Exemplary 17% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Using Questioning and Discussion 
Techniques 

 
The QSR team rated 83% of the observations as proficient in Using 
Questioning and Discussion Techniques. Teachers generally used a mix of 
open-ended and single-path questions, inviting students to think and offer 
multiple possible answers after establishing their base knowledge. Teachers 
asked students to brainstorm a list of words that began with a certain sound, 
types of sea creatures, and ways that they could greet fellow students.  
 
Teachers asked open-ended questions during story time related to students’ 
prior knowledge of dinosaurs as well as questions related to the plot of the 
book. Students extended the discussion by asking their own higher order 
questions, like why dinosaurs lived before humans. During snack time 
teachers walked around the classroom, asking students what they were 
learning and if their snacks were healthy, prompting students to freely discuss 
with both teachers and peers.  
 
Teachers called on all students, including a student with a speech delay and 
students who did not volunteer to participate. Discussions among students 
happened organically throughout centers.  
 !

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The review team rated 17% of the observations as below proficient in Using 
Questioning and Discussion Techniques. In one observation students had little 
opportunity to respond directly to one another. During one activity, only a few 
students consistently responded to the teacher’s questions. 
 

Satisfactory 17% 

Limited 0% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Engaging Students in Learning 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Engaging Students in Learning, with the majority rated as exemplary. Student 
engagement was universally high across classrooms. Teachers gave students 
hands-on learning tasks at centers allowing them to manipulate letter cubes, 
play with plastic dinosaurs, build using blocks, create art projects, practice 
writing their names on sentence strips, and write their name on the board next 
to their idea.  
Students had choice in learning tasks as teachers permitted them to move 
around learning centers with little mediation. Students changed grouping 
patterns at centers, sometimes transitioning to another center with a student 
they had been working with previously or joining a new group of students at a 
different center. The pacing of lessons was effective, as teachers continuously 
rotated small groups to their tables during center time, ensuring that students 
had enough time for other centers.  
During a read aloud in a whole group setting, a student with a disability had 
an individual book and the student’s dedicated aid remained at the student’s 
side to support engagement by pointing out key pictures and asking general 
questions about the story. The student demonstrated engagement by calling 
out the names of the dinosaurs that other students were discussing. 

Exemplary 67% 

Proficient 33% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Using Assessment in Instruction 

 
The QSR team rated 83% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Using Assessment in Instruction. Teachers monitored student understanding 
continuously in small groups, rotating many small groups through targeted 
work with the teacher during center time. During the small group instruction, 
teachers asked each student to respond to questions in order to gauge 
understanding.  
 
Teachers provided timely feedback and scaffolding. Teachers praised the 
students for correct answers and persistence and helped students get to the 
correct answers when needed. In one observation of a small group doing 
targeted work on social skills, the teacher asked each student to say one thing 
that he or she learned and every student was able to do so.  
 
Students commented on each other’s work in a group that was tracing letters 
with markers. Students had the opportunity to assess themselves as they 
scored their own bingo cards, working on letter and sound tasks.   

Exemplary 17% 

Proficient 66% 

 
The QSR team rated 17% of the observations as below proficient in Using 
Assessment in Instruction with no observations rated as limited. One teacher 
monitored student understanding using only one method by asking students 
globally to help spell certain words on a flip chart in front of the class. It was 
unclear which students were able to sound out the words and which students 
may have needed additional practice. 
 

Satisfactory 17% 

Limited 0% 
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APPENDIX I: CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Creating an 
Environment 
of Respect 
and Rapport 

 
Classroom interactions, both 
between the teacher and students 
and among students, are negative or 
inappropriate and characterized by 
sarcasm, putdowns, or conflict 

 
Classroom interactions are generally 
appropriate and free from conflict 
but may be characterized by 
occasional displays of insensitivity.  

 
Classroom interactions reflect general 
warmth and caring, and are respectful 
of the cultural and developmental 
differences among groups of students. 

 
Classroom interactions are highly 
respectful, reflecting genuine 
warmth and caring toward 
individuals. Students themselves 
ensure maintenance of high levels 
of civility among member of the 
class.  
 

 
Establishing a 
Culture for 
Learning 

 
The classroom does not represent a 
culture for learning and is 
characterized by low teacher 
commitment to the subject, low 
expectations for student 
achievement, and little student pride 
in work.  

 
The classroom environment reflects 
only a minimal culture for learning, 
with only modest or inconsistent 
expectations for student 
achievement, little teacher 
commitment to the subject, and little 
student pride in work. Both teacher 
and students are performing at the 
minimal level to “get by.” 

 
The classroom environment represents 
a genuine culture for learning, with 
commitment to the subject on the part 
of both teacher and students, high 
expectations for student achievement, 
and student pride in work.  

 
Students assumes much of the 
responsibility for establishing a 
culture for learning in the 
classroom by taking pride in their 
work, initiating improvements to 
their products, and holding the 
work to the highest standard. 
Teacher demonstrates as 
passionate commitment to the 
subject. 
  

 
Managing 
Classroom 
Procedures 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are either nonexistent or inefficient, 
resulting in the loss of much 
instruction time.  
 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established but function 
unevenly or inconsistently, with 
some loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established and function 
smoothly for the most part, with little 
loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are seamless in their operation, and 
students assume considerable 
responsibility for their smooth 
functioning.  
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Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Managing 
Student 
Behavior 

 
Student behavior is poor, with no 
clear expectations, no monitoring of 
student behavior, and inappropriate 
response to student misbehavior.  

 
Teacher makes an effort to establish 
standards of conduct for students, 
monitor student behavior, and 
respond to student misbehavior, but 
these efforts are not always 
successful.  

 
Teacher is aware of student behavior, 
has established clear standards of 
conduct, and responds to student 
misbehavior in ways that are 
appropriate and respectful of the 
students. 

 
Student behavior is entirely 
appropriate, with evidence of 
student participation in setting 
expectations and monitoring 
behavior. Teacher’s monitoring of 
student behavior is subtle and 
preventive, and teachers’ response 
to student misbehavior is sensitive 
to individual student needs.  
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APPENDIX II: INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

Communicating 
with Students 

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains errors or is 
unclear or inappropriate to students. 
Teacher’s purpose in a lesson or unit 
is unclear to students. Teacher’s 
explanation of the content is unclear 
or confusing or uses inappropriate 
language.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains no errors, 
but may not be completely 
appropriate or may require further 
explanations to avoid confusion.  
Teacher attempts to explain the 
instructional purpose, with limited 
success. Teacher’s explanation of 
the content is uneven; some is 
done skillfully, but other portions 
are difficult to follow.  

 
Teacher communicates clearly and 
accurately to students both orally 
and in writing. Teacher’s purpose 
for the lesson or unit is clear, 
including where it is situation 
within broader learning. Teacher’s 
explanation of content is appropriate 
and connects with students’ 
knowledge and experience.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication is clear and 
expressive, anticipating possible 
student misconceptions. Makes the 
purpose of the lesson or unit clear, 
including where it is situated 
within broader learning, linking 
purpose to student interests. 
Explanation of content is 
imaginative, and connects with 
students’ knowledge and 
experience. Students contribute to 
explaining concepts to their peers.  
 

Using 
Questioning and 
Discussion 
Techniques 

 
Teacher makes poor use of 
questioning and discussion 
techniques, with low-level questions, 
limited student participation, and 
little true discussion.  
 

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques is uneven 
with some high-level question; 
attempts at true discussion; 
moderate student participation.  

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques reflects high-
level questions, true discussion, and 
full participation by all students.  

 
Students formulate may of the 
high-level questions and assume 
responsibility for the participation 
of all students in the discussion.  

Engaging 
Students in 
Learning 

 
Students are not at all intellectually 
engaged in significant learning, as a 
result of inappropriate activities or 
materials, poor representations of 
content, or lack of lesson structure.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
only partially, resulting from 
activities or materials or uneven 
quality, inconsistent representation 
of content or uneven structure of 
pacing.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
throughout the lesson, with 
appropriate activities and materials, 
instructive representations of 
content, and suitable structure and 
pacing of the lesson.  

 
Students are highly engaged 
throughout the lesson and make 
material contribution to the 
representation of content, the 
activities, and the materials. The 
structure and pacing of the lesson 
allow for student reflection and 
closure.  
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Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Using 
Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
Students are unaware of criteria and 
performance standards by which their 
work will be evaluated, and do not 
engage in self-assessment or 
monitoring. Teacher does not 
monitor student learning in the 
curriculum, and feedback to students 
is of poor quality and in an untimely 
manner.  

 
Students know some of the criteria 
and performance standards by 
which their work will be evaluated, 
and occasionally assess the quality 
of their own work against the 
assessment criteria and 
performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of the class 
as a whole but elicits no diagnostic 
information; feedback to students 
is uneven and inconsistent in its 
timeliness.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and performance standards 
by which their work will be 
evaluated, and frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment criteria 
and performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of groups of 
students in the curriculum, making 
limited use of diagnostic prompts to 
elicit information; feedback is 
timely, consistent, and of high 
quality.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and standards by which 
their work will be evaluated, have 
contributed to the development of 
the criteria, frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment 
criteria and performance standards, 
and make active use of that 
information in their learning. 
Teacher actively and 
systematically elicits diagnostic 
information from individual 
students regarding understanding 
and monitors progress of 
individual students; feedback is 
timely, high quality, and students 
use feedback in their learning.  
 

 



 
May 23, 2014 
 
Jack McCarthy, Board Chair 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Oklahoma Ave 
330 21st Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20002 
 
Dear Mr. McCarthy:  
 
The Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducts Qualitative Site Reviews (QSR) to gather and 
document evidence to support school oversight. According to the School Reform Act § 38-1802.11, 
PCSB shall monitor the progress of each school in meeting the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations specified in the school’s charter. Your school was selected to undergo a QSR during the 
2013-14 school year for the following reason: 
 

o School is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year 
 
Qualitative Site Review Report 
A QSR team conducted on-site review visits of AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Oklahoma Ave 
between March 31 and April 11, 2014 The purpose of the site review is for PCSB to gauge the extent to 
which the school’s goals and student academic achievement expectations were evident in the everyday 
operations of the public charter school. To ascertain this PCSB staff and consultants evaluated your 
classroom teaching by using an abridged version of the Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching 
observation rubric. Members of the QSR team conducted 30 to 45 minute observations in classrooms. 
The QSR team scored each observation based on the critical attributes outlined in the Framework for 
Teaching. The team also visited a board meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates 
to fulfilling its mission, and charter goals. 
 
The QSR team’s report is attached. You will find that the Qualitative Site Review Report focuses 
primarily on the following areas: charter mission and goals, classroom environments, and instructional 
delivery. The QSR results for the school were exceptionally strong.  Congratulations! 
 
We appreciate the assistance and hospitality that you and your staff gave the monitoring team in 
conducting the Qualitative Site Review at AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Oklahoma Ave. Thank you 
for your continued cooperation as PCSB makes every effort to ensure that AppleTree Early Learning 
PCS is in compliance with its charter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Naomi DeVeaux 
Deputy Director 
 
 
Enclosures 
cc: School Leader 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – Oklahoma Ave (AppleTree PCS – Oklahoma Ave) serves approximately 160 students in pre-
kindergarten - 3 (PK3) through pre-kindergarten - 4 (PK4) and is part of a five campus pre-kindergarten network serving over 600 students.  The 
DC Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducted a Qualitative Site Review (QSR) at all campuses because AppleTree PCS is eligible for a 
10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year.  
 
The QSR team conducted observations over the course of a two-week window, from March 31 - April 11, 2014. A team of two PCSB staff 
members (including a PCSB staff member with extensive special education experience) and one consultant conducted 12 observations. In each of 
the classrooms at AppleTree PCS- Oklahoma Ave, there was a lead teacher, teaching assistant, and teaching fellow. All of the observations were 
based on the student-teacher interactions among all of the teaching staff in the classroom. For the purpose of this report, an adult delivering 
instruction to students will be referred to as a “teacher.” The spirit of the QSR process is to observe the educational experience for all students, 
inclusive of students with disabilities, at a particular school. The results of this QSR reflect what the QSR team observed in all learning 
environments within the school, including the one Special Education teacher observed in an inclusion setting.  In some instances the review team 
observed a teacher twice. The QSR team used Charlotte Danielson’s Framework for Teaching Rubric throughout the observations and observed 
classrooms in mornings and afternoons. In addition to this two-week window, a member of the QSR team also attended a Board of Trustees 
meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission and charter goals.  

The QSR team rated 79% of the observations as proficient or above in the domain of Classroom Environments. The highest rated component 
within the Classroom Environments domain was Establishing a Culture for Learning with 100% of observations rated as proficient or exemplary. 
The teachers communicated the importance of learning and questions from many students indicated a desire to understand and explore the 
content. The lowest rated component in this domain was Managing Student Behavior, where 67% of observations were proficient or exemplary. 
At times the teachers’ response to student misbehavior was inconsistent or unnecessarily harsh.  

The QSR team rated 85% of the observations as proficient or above in the Instructional Delivery domain. The highest rated components within 
this domain were Communicating with Students, Using Discussion and Questioning Technique, and Engaging Student in Learning, with 92% of 
observations scoring proficient or exemplary in all three components. Teachers clearly communicated what the students were learning and 
incorporated a wide range of vocabulary when talking with the students. The lowest scoring component in this domain was Using Assessment in 
Instruction with 67% of observations scoring proficient or above. During a small number of observations, the teachers globally assessed 
understanding without giving specific feedback to students.  
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CHARTER MISSION, GOALS, ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS, AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 
 
This table summarizes AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Oklahoma Ave’s goals and academic achievement expectations as detailed in its charter 
and subsequent Accountability Plans, and the evidence that the Qualitative Site Review (QSR) team observed of the school meeting those goals 
during the Qualitative Site Review Visit.  
 
 

Mission and Goals Evidence 
 
Mission: The mission of AppleTree Early Learning PCS is to provide 
young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations 
that will enable them to succeed in school. 

 

 
AppleTree PCS – Oklahoma Ave is meeting the mission of the school. 
The daily schedule provides the foundation to provide young children 
with the social, emotional, and cognitive foundations that will help 
them succeed in school. During the day students have time for small 
group/center activities, outdoor play, read aloud, journals, gross motor 
skills, and songs. Teachers adhere to the daily schedule and students 
know and understand the routines. Students transition through the 
activities with little loss of instructional time. Teachers maximize 
transitions by asking students to count, sing songs, or discuss alphabet 
letters while moving between activities.  
 
Social and emotional foundations: 
Teachers consistently implement the school’s mission during all 
activities. To provide students with the social foundation to succeed in 
school, teachers help students work together, share, and cooperate. 
Teachers discussed these components with students using stories, 
questions, and one-on-one time. One teacher read a book about sharing 
and then led the class through questions and a discussion about how to 
share supplies and how to cooperate with others.  
 
All classrooms at AppleTree PCS – Oklahoma Ave also focused on 
providing an emotional foundation to enable students to succeed. One 
common theme in all observations was teachers asking the students if 
something was a “big deal” or “little deal.” For example a teacher 
would ask the class, “Is it a big deal or a little deal if I don’t have a 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
chance to call on you to answer the question right now?” The students 
would shout, “Little deal!” In addition to teachers discussing emotional 
learning with students, students also had a “Sit and Watch” chair and 
Feeling Center to go to when frustrated. Sometimes the teacher would 
direct the student to either station to calm down. In one PK4 classroom, 
a student went to the Feeling Center (a mat off to one side of the room) 
and took out the Feelings Journal where he sketched his feelings and 
then returned to the activity.  
 
Cognitive foundation: 
To provide students with the cognitive foundation to succeed, 
AppleTree PCS – Oklahoma Ave has implemented a challenging 
curriculum to engage all students. Literacy and mathematics skills were 
incorporated throughout the day as students work on theme projects. 
Many students studied paleontologists and fossils during the two-week 
observation window. Students accessed the thematic unit on dinosaurs 
and paleontologists through writing, singing, centers, and class 
discussions Teachers provided a variety of activities and increased 
level of choice to keep students engaged and focused on the learning 
tasks.  
 

 
PMF Goal # 1: Student Progress – Academic Improvement over 
time 
Effective Instruction supporting student academic progress and 
achievement in reading and math. 
  

 
The teachers incorporated developmentally appropriate reading and 
math instruction into all activities of the day. During morning meetings 
students graphed the weather, practiced the sounds from the letters of 
the week, discussed the day and the month of the year, and talked about 
the numbers of the week. Students also sang songs they chose and had 
the opportunity to “get the wiggles out” while dancing.  
 
Pre-literacy skills were infused throughout the day. Read Aloud time 
enabled the teacher to dissect a book in many ways. Teachers asked 
questions about the sequence of events and conducted pictures walks. 
In rooms where students had evidently read the book a few times, the 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
teachers asked about the main characters, setting, and character traits. 
Students practiced singing songs that focused on letters, sounds, and a 
variety of vocabulary terms during song time and practiced letters or 
words during journal time. 
 
The school has implemented effective instruction in math to support 
students’ academic progress. Teachers incorporated math instruction 
throughout the day including songs that were focused on numbers and 
counting. However, the math instruction was not as structured as the 
literacy instruction.  One teacher asked students to hold a thumb up if 
they like the paleontologist song and directed one student to count the 
thumbs. The class then compared that number to the number of 
students who liked the bear hunt song.  
 

 
PMF Goal #2: Student Achievement – Meeting or exceeding 
academic standards 
Moving students to advanced levels of proficiency in reading and math. 
 

 
Teachers had multiple opportunities to differentiate learning for 
students throughout the day in both reading and math instruction. 
Generally, students worked in leveled groups in all classrooms and the 
teachers rotated through, differentiating instruction by spending more 
time with students who needed more attention.  
 
The teachers wrote notes throughout the lessons, assessing and tracking 
the skills of the students during most observations.  
 

 
PMF Goal #3: Gateway – Outcomes in key subjects that predict 
future educational success 
Promotion of reading proficiency by third grade and math proficiency 
by eighth grade 
 

 
See evidence described in goals #1 and #2 above. 

 
PMF Goal #4: Leading Indicators – Predictors of future student 
progress and achievement 

 
The school has created a culture of learning and support in the 
classrooms. In addition to the literacy, mathematics, social, and 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
Culture of learning and support in the classrooms 
 

emotional skills discussed under the school’s implementation of its 
mission and goals #1 and #2, the curriculum allows students to explore 
arts, social studies, scientific inquiry, communication, physical 
development, and approaches to learning. As evidence that the school 
has incorporated the multiple early childhood domains into the daily 
activities observers saw teachers encourage students to use a variety of 
materials, including scissors, glue, construction paper, colored pencils, 
and crayons. During center time activities such as water tables, sand 
tables, toy tools, and painting helped to incorporate the learning theme. 
Students uncovered fossils with paintbrushes and toy pliers and gently 
moved them to the museum or painted the landscape in which 
dinosaurs lived during the week of archeology and paleontology. 
 
 

 
Board Governance 

 
Two overlapping governing boards that attend one joint meeting 
oversee AppleTree Institute and AppleTree Early Learning Public 
Charter School. A PCSB staff member observed the board meeting on 
January 28, 2014. Both boards carried out business for both entities at 
this meeting. It was not clear which board members were on which 
board. At the January 28th board meeting, seventeen board members 
were in attendance and they voted for Cal Leonard (consultant from the 
New Schools Venture Fund) to join the board. It was unclear which 
board he joined, but all 17 members voted, which leads PCSB to 
believe he is part of the Institute’s board but not the charter school’s. 
On May 2, 2014, AppleTree clarified that the eleven members of the 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS Board are also on the AppleTree 
Institute board with other members. While on paper there is a 
distinction, in practice, there still appears to be a conflict of interest. 
Additionally while not in conflict with the School Reform Act, the 
board chair of the school is also the President and CEO of AppleTree 
Early Learning PCS, which is not a best practice.  
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
AppleTree Institute provides services to other DC public charter 
schools, including CLASS observation evaluations and has proposed to 
PCSB to conduct the CLASS observations for the AppleTree Early 
Learning PCS campuses. While the board meeting is divided into two 
sections and the board chair stopped a vote on charter school finances 
during the AppleTree Institute portion of the meeting, acknowledging 
the PCSB observer, this division of the Board’s business is not enough 
to provide sufficient independence between the two entities to allow for 
AppleTree Institute to evaluate AppleTree Early Learning PCS.   
 
During the public charter school portion of the meeting, Anne Malone, 
Chief of Schools, reported on attendance goals and MySchoolDC 
applications. Ms. Malone also spoke on teacher retention and school 
culture. The board approved an amended budget and discussed the 
upcoming charter 10-year review. 
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CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT1 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Classroom Environment domain of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below "proficient" to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools.  The QSR team scored 79% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Classroom Environment domain.!!! 
 

Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Creating an Environment of 
Respect and Rapport 

 
The QSR Team rated 75% of the observations proficient or exemplary in Creating 
an Environment of Respect and Rapport.  In these classrooms teachers referred to 
students as “friends” and supported students through high-fives and praise, such 
as “Good job!” and “You are an awesome girl!” Teachers consistently responded 
to and redirected disrespectful behavior.  
 
Students initiated a compliment to another student who had been working hard or 
behaving positively in a few observations. One teacher awarded stars because 
everyone participated in the activity. 

 

 
 

Exemplary 
 

 
25% 

Proficient 50% 

 
In 25% of the observations, teachers either exhibited a lack of warmth or used 
harsh tones when interacting with students. In one observation the teacher used a 
harsh tone with interacting with a student and the student’s body language 
indicated feelings of hurt. Another teacher was particularly impatient when 
working with small groups, saying, “Just write it down.” and “I told you to write 
it here.”  
 

Satisfactory 17% 

Limited 8% 

 
Establishing a Culture for 
Learning 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Establishing a Culture for Learning. All teachers communicated the importance of 
learning to students, saying, “It is important that we all learn this, it will help us 
be good at other things.” and, “That is good, you all knew it. Students, can we do 

Exemplary 25% 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 Teachers may be observed more than once by different review team members. 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
one more?” Teachers expected effort and participation from all students. Students 
responded by being persistent and completed high quality work. Students were 
excited to share their work with the teacher and other students.  
 

Proficient 75% 

 
The QSR team scored 0% of the observations as below proficient. Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Classroom Procedures 

 
The QSR Team rated 75% of the observations proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Classroom Procedures. Teachers used countdowns, claps, or bells to 
quickly transition students. Instructional time was maximized due to the efficient 
routines and procedures.  
 
During one observation students were acting out a bear hunt with the music. 
When the teacher needed them to lower their voices and focus on her, she said, 
“Please catch a bubble.” Another teacher indicated she needed quiet for a task and 
students put their fingers to their lips. 
 
When teachers signaled the change of an activity, the students took the initiative 
to distribute and collect materials needed for the next lesson.  
 

Exemplary 33% 

Proficient 42% 

 
In 25% of the observations, transitions and routines functioned unevenly resulting 
in lost instructional time. For example, one uneven transition occurred when some 
students left the carpet while others waited for the teacher to excuse them.  
 
 

Satisfactory 25% 

Limited 0% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Managing Student Behavior 

 
The QSR Team rated 67% of the observations proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Student Behavior. Standards of conduct were established and the 
teachers’ response to misbehavior was effective and consistent in these 
classrooms. Teachers praised positive behavior. Teachers directed students who 
were not following directions to sit in the “Sit and Watch” chair to learn from 
other students who were on task and behaving appropriately. Students also knew 
they could go to the “Feeling Center” if they needed to calm down.  
 
In a few observations student behavior was entirely appropriate and there was no 
evidence of student misbehavior. Even in these exemplary instances, teachers still 
monitored student behavior, at times without speaking, just moving about the 
classroom.  
 

Exemplary 17% 

Proficient 50% 

 
In 33% of the observations, the teachers’ response to student misbehavior was 
inconsistent and sometimes very harsh. In a few classrooms it appeared that the 
teacher struggled with how to maintain positive behavior for some students. 
When one student hit another student with her pencil, the teacher yelled at the 
student, “We don’t do that.”  When the student would not apologize, the teacher 
ignored the student for approximately 10 minutes. In another instance when a 
student refused to go to the “Sit and Watch” chair, the teacher pulled her over. 
The student refused to sit down the teacher and student argued until the teacher 
left.  
  

Satisfactory 33% 

Limited 0% 
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INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY

This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Instructional Delivery elements of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below “proficient” to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools.  The QSR team scored 85% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Instructional Delivery domain.    
 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Communicating with Students 
 

 
The QSR team rated 92% of the observations proficient or exemplary in 
Communicating with Students. Teachers clearly stated the purpose of the 
lesson and used challenging, age-appropriate vocabulary in all classrooms. 
The teachers’ explanation of the content was clear which invited student 
participation and thinking. Teachers also incorporated additional vocabulary 
when reading books to the class, such as “cooperate,” “compromise,” 
“museum,” and “illustrate.” Teachers modeled vocabulary and then invited 
students to use the new words in sentences.  
 

Exemplary 25% 

Proficient 67% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below 
proficient. 
 

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Questioning and Discussion 
Techniques 

 
The QSR team rated 92% of the observations as proficient in Using 
Questioning and Discussion Techniques with none scoring exemplary. In 
these classrooms teachers used open-ended questions inviting students to 
discuss multiple possible answers. For example teachers asked students, 
“What words start with our letters of the week?” and, “How can a dinosaur 

Exemplary 0% 



Qualitative Site Review Report AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Oklahoma Ave  May 23, 2014 
11 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
defend itself?” Teachers then used students’ responses to continue the 
discussion. Students had the opportunity to write their name next their 
responses when brainstorming.  

Student discussions also occurred during small group and center time. These 
discussions were related to the activity and to the thematic unit. One group of 
students was playing with measuring tapes and toy dinosaurs. The students 
were discussing how long each dinosaur was and comparing lengths of the 
dinosaurs.  
 

Proficient 92% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below 
proficient. 

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Engaging Students in Learning 

 
The QSR team rated 92% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Engaging Students in Learning. Virtually all students were highly engaged in 
the lessons in many classrooms. Students had extensive choice in how they 
completed tasks and the materials and resources supported the learning goals. 
Students actively worked on completing graphic organizers, writing their own 
ideas, designing their own artwork, and creating their own play experiences.!
Additionally the pacing of the lessons provided the time needed for students 
to be intellectually engaged. !
 

Exemplary 33% 

Proficient 58% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below 
proficient. 
 

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Assessment in Instruction 

 
The QSR team rated 67% of the observations proficient in Using Assessment 
in Instruction. Teachers posed questions, monitored student progress by 
taking notes, and provided accurate, specific feedback in many classrooms. 

Exemplary 0% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
Teachers circulated throughout all of the centers to monitor student learning 
and offer feedback on tasks. During small-group instruction teacher elicited 
evidence of individual student understanding letters, sounds, and the structure 
of the story.  
 

Proficient 67% 

 
The QSR team rated 33% of the observations below proficient. In some 
observations teachers made global statements for feedback, such as “Does 
anyone have a question?” One teacher focused on behavior instead of 
monitoring the students’ learning. One teacher only asked questions to the left 
side of the group and did not address any to the students on the right. 
 

Satisfactory 25% 

Limited 8% 
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APPENDIX I: CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Creating an 
Environment 
of Respect 
and Rapport 

 
Classroom interactions, both 
between the teacher and students 
and among students, are negative or 
inappropriate and characterized by 
sarcasm, putdowns, or conflict 

 
Classroom interactions are generally 
appropriate and free from conflict 
but may be characterized by 
occasional displays of insensitivity.  

 
Classroom interactions reflect general 
warmth and caring, and are respectful 
of the cultural and developmental 
differences among groups of students. 

 
Classroom interactions are highly 
respectful, reflecting genuine 
warmth and caring toward 
individuals. Students themselves 
ensure maintenance of high levels 
of civility among member of the 
class.  
 

 
Establishing a 
Culture for 
Learning 

 
The classroom does not represent a 
culture for learning and is 
characterized by low teacher 
commitment to the subject, low 
expectations for student 
achievement, and little student pride 
in work.  

 
The classroom environment reflects 
only a minimal culture for learning, 
with only modest or inconsistent 
expectations for student 
achievement, little teacher 
commitment to the subject, and little 
student pride in work. Both teacher 
and students are performing at the 
minimal level to “get by.” 

 
The classroom environment represents 
a genuine culture for learning, with 
commitment to the subject on the part 
of both teacher and students, high 
expectations for student achievement, 
and student pride in work.  

 
Students assumes much of the 
responsibility for establishing a 
culture for learning in the 
classroom by taking pride in their 
work, initiating improvements to 
their products, and holding the 
work to the highest standard. 
Teacher demonstrates as 
passionate commitment to the 
subject. 
  

 
Managing 
Classroom 
Procedures 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are either nonexistent or inefficient, 
resulting in the loss of much 
instruction time.  
 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established but function 
unevenly or inconsistently, with 
some loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established and function 
smoothly for the most part, with little 
loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are seamless in their operation, and 
students assume considerable 
responsibility for their smooth 
functioning.  
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Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Managing 
Student 
Behavior 

 
Student behavior is poor, with no 
clear expectations, no monitoring of 
student behavior, and inappropriate 
response to student misbehavior.  

 
Teacher makes an effort to establish 
standards of conduct for students, 
monitor student behavior, and 
respond to student misbehavior, but 
these efforts are not always 
successful.  

 
Teacher is aware of student behavior, 
has established clear standards of 
conduct, and responds to student 
misbehavior in ways that are 
appropriate and respectful of the 
students. 

 
Student behavior is entirely 
appropriate, with evidence of 
student participation in setting 
expectations and monitoring 
behavior. Teacher’s monitoring of 
student behavior is subtle and 
preventive, and teachers’ response 
to student misbehavior is sensitive 
to individual student needs.  
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APPENDIX II: INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

Communicating 
with Students 

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains errors or is 
unclear or inappropriate to students. 
Teacher’s purpose in a lesson or unit 
is unclear to students. Teacher’s 
explanation of the content is unclear 
or confusing or uses inappropriate 
language.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains no errors, 
but may not be completely 
appropriate or may require further 
explanations to avoid confusion.  
Teacher attempts to explain the 
instructional purpose, with limited 
success. Teacher’s explanation of 
the content is uneven; some is 
done skillfully, but other portions 
are difficult to follow.  

 
Teacher communicates clearly and 
accurately to students both orally 
and in writing. Teacher’s purpose 
for the lesson or unit is clear, 
including where it is situation 
within broader learning. Teacher’s 
explanation of content is appropriate 
and connects with students’ 
knowledge and experience.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication is clear and 
expressive, anticipating possible 
student misconceptions. Makes the 
purpose of the lesson or unit clear, 
including where it is situated 
within broader learning, linking 
purpose to student interests. 
Explanation of content is 
imaginative, and connects with 
students’ knowledge and 
experience. Students contribute to 
explaining concepts to their peers.  
 

Using 
Questioning and 
Discussion 
Techniques 

 
Teacher makes poor use of 
questioning and discussion 
techniques, with low-level questions, 
limited student participation, and 
little true discussion.  
 

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques is uneven 
with some high-level question; 
attempts at true discussion; 
moderate student participation.  

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques reflects high-
level questions, true discussion, and 
full participation by all students.  

 
Students formulate may of the 
high-level questions and assume 
responsibility for the participation 
of all students in the discussion.  

Engaging 
Students in 
Learning 

 
Students are not at all intellectually 
engaged in significant learning, as a 
result of inappropriate activities or 
materials, poor representations of 
content, or lack of lesson structure.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
only partially, resulting from 
activities or materials or uneven 
quality, inconsistent representation 
of content or uneven structure of 
pacing.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
throughout the lesson, with 
appropriate activities and materials, 
instructive representations of 
content, and suitable structure and 
pacing of the lesson.  

 
Students are highly engaged 
throughout the lesson and make 
material contribution to the 
representation of content, the 
activities, and the materials. The 
structure and pacing of the lesson 
allow for student reflection and 
closure.  
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Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Using 
Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
Students are unaware of criteria and 
performance standards by which their 
work will be evaluated, and do not 
engage in self-assessment or 
monitoring. Teacher does not 
monitor student learning in the 
curriculum, and feedback to students 
is of poor quality and in an untimely 
manner.  

 
Students know some of the criteria 
and performance standards by 
which their work will be evaluated, 
and occasionally assess the quality 
of their own work against the 
assessment criteria and 
performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of the class 
as a whole but elicits no diagnostic 
information; feedback to students 
is uneven and inconsistent in its 
timeliness.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and performance standards 
by which their work will be 
evaluated, and frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment criteria 
and performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of groups of 
students in the curriculum, making 
limited use of diagnostic prompts to 
elicit information; feedback is 
timely, consistent, and of high 
quality.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and standards by which 
their work will be evaluated, have 
contributed to the development of 
the criteria, frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment 
criteria and performance standards, 
and make active use of that 
information in their learning. 
Teacher actively and 
systematically elicits diagnostic 
information from individual 
students regarding understanding 
and monitors progress of 
individual students; feedback is 
timely, high quality, and students 
use feedback in their learning.  
 

 



 
May 23, 2014 
 
Jack McCarthy, Board Chair 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – Southeast  
2017 Savannah Terrace SE 
Washington, DC 20020 

 
Dear Mr. McCarthy: 
 
The DC Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducts Qualitative Site Reviews (QSR) to gather and 
document evidence to support school oversight. According to the School Reform Act § 38-1802.11, 
PCSB shall monitor the progress of each school in meeting the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations specified in the school’s charter. Your school was selected to undergo a QSR during the 
2013-14 school year for the following reason: 
 

o School is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year 
 
Qualitative Site Review Report 
A QSR team conducted on-site review visits of AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – 
Southeast (AppleTree PCS – Southeast) between March 31 and April 11, 2014. The purpose of the site 
review is for PCSB to gauge the extent to which the school’s goals and student academic achievement 
expectations were evident in the everyday operations of the public charter school. To ascertain this 
PCSB staff and consultants evaluated your classroom teaching by using an abridged version of the 
Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching observation rubric. Members of the QSR team conducted 
30 to 45 minute observations in classrooms. The QSR team scored each observation based on the critical 
attributes outlined in the Framework for Teaching. The team also visited a board meeting in order to 
observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission, and charter goals. 
 
The QSR team’s report is attached. You will find that the Qualitative Site Review Report focuses 
primarily on the following areas: charter mission and goals, classroom environments, and instructional 
delivery. The QSR results for the school were exceptionally strong. Congratulations! 
 
We appreciate the assistance and hospitality that you and your staff gave the monitoring team in 
conducting the Qualitative Site Review at AppleTree PCS – Southeast. Thank you for your continued 
cooperation as PCSB makes every effort to ensure that AppleTree PCS is in compliance with its charter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Naomi DeVeaux 
Deputy Director 
 
 
Enclosures 
cc: School Leader 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – Southeast (AppleTree PCS – Southeast) serves students in pre-kindergarten - 3 (PK3) and 
pre-kindergarten - 4 (PK4) at the Douglas Knoll and Parklands facilities located in Southeast Washington, DC. Both facilities contain PK3 and 
PK4 classrooms. The school serves 74 students in PK3 through PK4 and is part of a five campus pre-kindergarten network serving over 600 
students. The DC Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducted a Qualitative Site Review (QSR) at both the Douglas Knoll and Parklands 
facilities in April 2014 because AppleTree PCS is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during 2014-15. 
 
The QSR team conducted observations over a two-week window from March 31 through April 11, 2014. A team of one PCSB staff member and 
one consultant conducted observations of eight classrooms, four at each facility. In each of the classrooms, there was a lead teacher, teaching 
assistant, and teaching fellow. For the purpose of this report, an adult delivering instruction to students will be referred to as a “teacher.” The 
spirit of the QSR process is to identify the educational experience for all students, inclusive of students with disabilities, at a particular school. 
The results of this QSR are thus reflective of what the QSR teams observed in all learning environments. Members of the QSR team visited the 
school on multiple days throughout this two-week window and saw classes in the morning and in the afternoon. In some instances the QSR team 
may have observed one teacher twice. In addition to this two-week window, a PCSB staff member attended the January 28, 2014 Board of 
Trustees meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission and charter goals. 
 
AppleTree PCS’s mission is to provide young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations that will enable them to succeed in 
school. The QSR team saw evidence that the school is fulfilling its mission and meeting its goals throughout AppleTree PCS – Southeast. 
Students participated in frequent social interaction during the observations. Teachers asked open-ended questions and students discussed what 
they learned with peers. In several observations teachers worked in small groups and gave students individualized instruction and feedback. 
Students also tried to solve their own conflicts with teacher guidance. 
 
The QSR team rated 84% of classroom observations as proficient or above in the Classroom Environment domain. The highest rated component 
within the Classroom Environment domain was Establishing a Culture for Learning with 100% of classroom observations rated as proficient or 
exemplary. Teachers expressed a high regard for students’ abilities. Additionally teachers recognized and expected student effort. Routines and 
procedures were well established and students transitioned smoothly, even without teacher direction in a couple cases. The lead teachers, 
teaching assistants, and teaching fellows worked in tandem to monitor student behavior and encourage positive interactions. 
 
The QSR team scored 66% of the observations as proficient or above in the Instructional Delivery domain. The highest rated component within 
the Instructional Delivery domain was Using Questioning/Prompts and Discussion Techniques with 75% of the observations scoring proficient. 
Teachers asked questions that prompted students to give a variety of answers in almost all of the observations.  In several cases teachers 
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encouraged student to build on peers’ responses. Students were consistently engaged in learning tasks, and teachers provided choice in the 
learning for students. Teachers presented content to small groups of students and modeled how to complete learning tasks. In the observations 
scoring below proficient, teachers asked primarily recall questions and did not use appropriate vocabulary or pacing in the lessons. 
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CHARTER MISSION, GOALS, ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS, AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 
 
This table summarizes AppleTree PCS’s goals and academic achievement expectations as detailed in its charter and subsequent Accountability 
Plans, and the evidence that the Qualitative Site Review (QSR) team observed of the school meeting those goals during the QSR Visit.  
 
 

Mission and Goals Evidence 
 
Mission: The mission of AppleTree Early Learning PCS is to provide 
young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations 
that will enable them to succeed in school. 

 
The QSR team observed evidence that AppleTree PCS – Southeast is 
carrying out its mission. 
 
Social and emotional foundation: 
There was evidence that the school provides students with a social 
foundation. The students played and worked together in every 
observation. Teachers reminded students how to share appropriately, 
when necessary, and the students were generally comfortable 
completing tasks with each other. The QSR team also observed 
teachers using a “Sit and Watch” chair. Students were directed to sit in 
this chair and watch other students who were following directions.  
 
The classroom environments allowed students to celebrate each other’s 
successes. Teachers encouraged students to keep trying when they 
made a mistake. In one classroom where parents visited, the students 
told the parents about how they learned to tell whether things were a 
“big deal” or a “little deal,” as it related to how they learned to address 
issues that arose in class.  
 
Cognitive foundation: 
The QSR team saw evidence that the school provides a cognitive 
foundation. Teachers asked open-ended questions and created 
opportunities for students to express their thinking. Students received 
small group instruction where teachers targeted questions and feedback 
to students individually. Teachers assessed students individually on 
skill development. 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
 

 
PMF Goal # 1: Student Progress – Academic Improvement over time 
Effective Instruction supporting student academic progress and 
achievement in reading and math. 
  

 
Teachers instructed students in phonics where students learned about 
letter sounds and rhyming words. Classroom activities included 
students practicing the sounds that individual letters and letter pairings 
made as well as choosing the rhyming words in a poem. Students also 
explored literacy within the centers instruction through a variety of 
activities. 
 
Teachers worked with students on counting and foundational 
numeracy. The QSR team observed students doing various counting 
activities from singing along with a counting video to counting to a 
certain number in order to be dismissed to snack. Counting numbers 
were posted on the stairs and in the hallways for students to practice. 
 

 
PMF Goal #2: Student Achievement – Meeting or exceeding academic 
standards 
Moving students to advanced levels of proficiency in reading and math. 
 

 
Students worked in small groups with a teacher in the majority of 
observations. Teachers gave students individual attention in the small 
groups and assessed their work in real-time. In a few observations 
teachers also gave students feedback on their work quickly and guided 
students to make adjustments.  
 
When students were in the whole group setting, teachers asked open-
ended questions and encouraged different approaches to responding. 
One teacher asked the class what they knew about dinosaurs. Students 
gave answers ranging from their size to their diet to their time period. 
The teacher reminded the class about a book they had read on 
dinosaurs when students ran out of ideas. 
 

 
PMF Goal #3: Gateway – Outcomes in key subjects that predict future 
educational success 
Promotion of reading proficiency by third grade and math proficiency 

 
See evidence described in goals #1 and #2 above. 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
by eighth grade 
 
 
PMF Goal #4: Leading Indicators – Predictors of future student 
progress and achievement 
Culture of learning and support in the classrooms 
 

 
Teachers promoted a culture of learning and support in classrooms by 
creating warm and welcoming environments for students in which 
students help one another.  Teachers greeted students and talked to 
them at eye level. Teachers encouraged students to celebrate peers after 
a student volunteered to do a job or give an answer. In one observation 
of a class at Outdoor Play, students rushed in to help when a classmate 
fell down on the playground. Additionally, teachers gave students 
strategies to talk to their peers rather than just intervening to solve the 
dispute when students had disagreements. 
 
Please refer to the Classroom Environment domain of Establishing a 
Culture for Learning for additional information. 
 

 
Board Governance 

Two overlapping governing boards that attend one joint meeting 
oversee AppleTree Institute and AppleTree Early Learning Public 
Charter School. A PCSB staff member observed the board meeting on 
January 28, 2014. Both boards carried out business for both entities at 
this meeting. It was not clear which board members were on which 
board. At the January 28th board meeting, seventeen board members 
were in attendance and they voted for Cal Leonard (consultant from the 
New Schools Venture Fund) to join the board. It was unclear which 
board he joined, but all 17 members voted, which leads PCSB to 
believe he is part of the Institute’s board but not the charter school’s. 
On May 2, 2014, AppleTree clarified that the eleven members of the 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS Board are also on the AppleTree 
Institute board with other members. While on paper there is a 
distinction, in practice, there still appears to be a conflict of interest. 
Additionally while not in conflict with the School Reform Act, the 
board chair of the school is also the President and CEO of AppleTree 
Early Learning PCS, which is not a best practice.  
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
 
AppleTree Institute provides services to other DC public charter 
schools, including CLASS observation evaluations and has proposed to 
PCSB to conduct the CLASS observations for the AppleTree Early 
Learning PCS campuses. While the board meeting is divided into two 
sections and the board chair stopped a vote on charter school finances 
during the AppleTree Institute portion of the meeting, acknowledging 
the PCSB observer, this division of the Board’s business is not enough 
to provide sufficient independence between the two entities to allow for 
AppleTree Institute to evaluate AppleTree Early Learning PCS.   
 
During the public charter school portion of the meeting, Anne Malone, 
Chief of Schools, reported on attendance goals and MySchoolDC 
applications. Ms. Malone also spoke on teacher retention and school 
culture. The board approved an amended budget and discussed the 
upcoming charter 10-year review. 
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CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT1 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Classroom Environment domain of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below "proficient" to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools. The QSR team scored 84% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Classroom Environment domain.!! 
 

Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Creating an Environment 
of Respect and Rapport 

 
The QSR team scored 88% of the observations as proficient in Creating an 
Environment of Respect and Rapport. Teachers and students generally had 
positive interactions throughout the observations. In the rare instances when 
students behaved disrespectfully toward each other, teachers responded quickly 
and students changed their behavior. Several teachers connected with students by 
getting down on the carpet and working with students on their level. In a couple 
of observations parents visited the classroom for family engagement day. They 
were welcomed by the teachers and students and invited to explore the classroom 
and participate in activities. 
 
Teachers and students engaged in positive interactions through actions and words. 
Students asked teachers for help with tying shoes and opening snack bags by 
regularly saying “please” and “thank you.” Students called classmates by their 
first names when speaking to each other. Teachers also used hand motions and 
signals such as clapping hands, smiling faces, and high fives when students met 
or exceed expectations to indicate feelings. 
 

 
 

Exemplary 
 

0% 

Proficient 88% 

 
Observations scoring below proficient had inconsistent interactions between 
teachers and students. In one instance a teacher loudly reproached a student for 
eating out of the trashcan at the end of snack time, which caused the other 
students to tease that student. The teacher did not redirect the teasing. 
 

Satisfactory 12% 

Limited 0% 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 Teachers may be observed more than once by different review team members. 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Establishing a Culture for 
Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Establishing a Culture for Learning. Teachers encouraged students to try their 
best and expressed belief in students’ ability to do good work. Teachers continued 
to work with students who struggled to come up a correct response. Two students 
took the initiative to correct themselves when they answered a question 
incorrectly. 
 
Teachers recognized students for high quality work in the classroom. They gave 
students high-fives after responses and encouraged the students to congratulate 
classmates on good work. Students gave a classmate high-fives as he returned to 
his seat from the board without any prompting in one observation. Teachers also 
made frequent comments like, “You guys are so smart.”  
 

Exemplary 12% 

Proficient 88% 

 
The QSR team scored none of the observations below proficient. Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Classroom 
Procedures 

 
The QSR team scored 75% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Classroom Procedures. The classrooms in these observations had 
established procedures that students executed consistently well. No instructional 
time was lost during transitions because students knew what to do and did it 
efficiently. One teacher sang a short song to remind students that one minute 
remained in the activity, then students cleaned up and prepared to transition on 
their own. Another teacher rang a bell, and all of the students froze in place to 

Exemplary 25% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
wait for the next direction. 
 
Students initiated classroom procedures in two of the observations; they knew 
exactly what do and did it without any assistance from the teachers. In the art 
center the students took charge of putting on smocks, getting out paper and 
paintbrushes, and starting to paint while the teacher assigned other students to 
centers across the room. 
 

Proficient 50% 

 
The observations that scored less than proficient lost instructional time due to 
uneven transitions. Teachers had established routines, but they were not 
consistently enforced or followed. For example a teacher had nametags for 
students to hang next to the centers they wished to attend to help with 
overcrowding. Each center only had four hangers so that no more than four 
students could work at each center at a time. The students, however, moved freely 
between centers without moving their nametags causing two centers to become 
overcrowded and chaotic. In another observation the teacher called on students to 
choose a center, but once the students chose a center, they did not move to the 
center immediately. This delay disturbed the other students waiting to be called.  
 

Satisfactory 25% 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Student 
Behavior 

 
The QSR team scored 75% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Managing Student Behavior. Student behavior in these observations was 
generally appropriate. In the few instances when students did not behave 
appropriately, teachers swiftly responded to the behaviors and students corrected 
the issues. A student in one observation tossed a toy car into the air and the 
teacher immediately approached the student, picked up the toy, and told the 
student that she would hold it for the student. The student refocused on the lesson 
without further distractions. 
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 75% 

 Satisfactory 25% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
In two observations teachers did not implement standards for student conduct 
consistently. A teacher in one observation attempted to keep track of poor student 
conduct saying, “The next time I ask, you’re going to Sit and Watch,” but the 
teacher did not have a clear system to keep track of the misbehavior so that when 
the student misbehaved again, s/he was not sent to the “Sit and Watch” chair. 
Another teacher did not administer consequences consistently sending one student 
to the “Sit and Watch” chair for refusing to work with the small group while 
ignoring other students who were exhibiting similar behavior. 
 

Limited 0% 
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INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY

This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Instructional Delivery elements of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below “proficient” to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools. The QSR team scored 66% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Instructional Delivery domain.  
 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Communicating with Students 
 

 
The QSR team scored 63% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Communicating with Students. Teachers in these observations articulated the 
purpose of the activity to students and students repeated back to her or to one 
another. Teachers gave explanations using age-appropriate language and clear 
directions causing students to engage with the learning activities appropriately 
and without needing clarification. One teacher modeled a color identification 
activity for students, and all of the students did it correctly. A teacher in 
another observation stopped at intentional places in a read aloud to ask 
questions that pushed students to recall details, make predictions, and use 
predictive text features. 
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 63% 

 
In the observations scoring below proficient, teachers gave directions, which 
required students to ask clarifying questions in order to do the activities. One 
teacher gave directions to the whole group on how to do a rhyming words 
activity; however, every time a new student came up to the chart paper to do 
the activity, the student asked what to do. One teacher used vocabulary in a 
poem that was too advanced for the students, so she ended up skipping some 
words and students became confused. 
 

Satisfactory 37% 

Limited 0% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Using Questioning and 
Discussion Techniques 

 
The QSR team scored 75% of observations as proficient in Using Questioning 
and Discussion Techniques. Teachers asked open-ended questions and 
welcomed multiple approaches to answering questions. All of the 
observations scoring proficient included teachers asking students questions 
like “What words start with the letter N?” and “Tell me what you mean by 
‘big’,” which prompted students to share ideas and talk freely. One teacher 
asked students to respond by adding on to what their classmates had said. 
 
Teachers encouraged student participation. The students were generally eager 
to answer questions and almost every student raised a hand to be called on 
after every question. When a student was not getting to the answer quickly in 
one observation, the teacher waited, allowing the student to collect his 
thoughts and respond. 
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 75% 

 
In the observations rated below proficient, students did not have opportunities 
to discuss what they were learning. Teachers asked recall questions about the 
content, but students were not invited to respond to each other or expand 
responses beyond the expected answer. Two students in one observation 
answered the majority of questions asked. 
 

Satisfactory 25% 

Limited 0% 

 
Engaging Students in Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 63% of the observations as proficient or exemplary in 
Engaging Students in Learning. Teachers used activities that kept almost all 
students intellectually engaged throughout the observation. In several 
observations students worked in centers where they were able to take multiple 
approaches to tasks. Students had significant choice and were able to move 
freely between centers without teacher direction or waiting for peers to be 

Exemplary 13% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
done. Additionally teachers used a variety of materials and resources when 
working with small and whole groups of students. Virtually all students in the 
observations scoring proficient or above enthusiastically engaged in the 
lesson.  
 

Proficient 50% 

 
The QSR team scored 37% of the observations as below proficient. Students 
did not have opportunities to be fully engaged in these observations. Teachers 
primarily modeled the work without including students or students watched 
their peers solve problems without an invitation to comment.  
 
Some teachers did not call on the students who were distracted or sitting 
improperly, causing only students who could sit quietly to fully participate in 
the learning task. Some students had trouble keeping the pace with a video of 
a song, which resulted in about half of the students not participating in that 
activity.   

Satisfactory 37% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
The QSR team scored 63% of the observations as proficient in Using 
Assessment in Instruction. Teachers gave students feedback on the activities 
and their learning. One teacher monitored students as they created patterns 
with connecting cubes, allowed students to try out different patterns, and gave 
them immediate feedback to help them adjust if they made an error. In two 
observations teachers assessed students individually where students isolated 
the number of phonemes in given terms. Teachers also assessed students on 
using pictures of “rare words,” where students produced the name of each 
picture.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 63% 

 
In the observations scoring below proficient, teachers did not consistently 
provide feedback to students. One teacher watched students working in 
centers but made no attempt to give students feedback when they were not 

Satisfactory 25% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
completing the activities at the center properly according to the instructions. 
Another teacher attempted to assess students’ understanding by asking them 
to identify words and sounds, but the teacher gave students the answer before 
they could respond. 
 

Limited 12% 
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APPENDIX I: CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Creating an 
Environment 
of Respect 
and Rapport 

 
Classroom interactions, both 
between the teacher and students 
and among students, are negative or 
inappropriate and characterized by 
sarcasm, putdowns, or conflict 

 
Classroom interactions are generally 
appropriate and free from conflict 
but may be characterized by 
occasional displays of insensitivity.  

 
Classroom interactions reflect general 
warmth and caring, and are respectful 
of the cultural and developmental 
differences among groups of students. 

 
Classroom interactions are highly 
respectful, reflecting genuine 
warmth and caring toward 
individuals. Students themselves 
ensure maintenance of high levels 
of civility among member of the 
class.  
 

 
Establishing a 
Culture for 
Learning 

 
The classroom does not represent a 
culture for learning and is 
characterized by low teacher 
commitment to the subject, low 
expectations for student 
achievement, and little student pride 
in work.  

 
The classroom environment reflects 
only a minimal culture for learning, 
with only modest or inconsistent 
expectations for student 
achievement, little teacher 
commitment to the subject, and little 
student pride in work. Both teacher 
and students are performing at the 
minimal level to “get by.” 

 
The classroom environment represents 
a genuine culture for learning, with 
commitment to the subject on the part 
of both teacher and students, high 
expectations for student achievement, 
and student pride in work.  

 
Students assumes much of the 
responsibility for establishing a 
culture for learning in the 
classroom by taking pride in their 
work, initiating improvements to 
their products, and holding the 
work to the highest standard. 
Teacher demonstrates as 
passionate commitment to the 
subject. 
  

 
Managing 
Classroom 
Procedures 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are either nonexistent or inefficient, 
resulting in the loss of much 
instruction time.  
 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established but function 
unevenly or inconsistently, with 
some loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established and function 
smoothly for the most part, with little 
loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are seamless in their operation, and 
students assume considerable 
responsibility for their smooth 
functioning.  
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Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Managing 
Student 
Behavior 

 
Student behavior is poor, with no 
clear expectations, no monitoring of 
student behavior, and inappropriate 
response to student misbehavior.  

 
Teacher makes an effort to establish 
standards of conduct for students, 
monitor student behavior, and 
respond to student misbehavior, but 
these efforts are not always 
successful.  

 
Teacher is aware of student behavior, 
has established clear standards of 
conduct, and responds to student 
misbehavior in ways that are 
appropriate and respectful of the 
students. 

 
Student behavior is entirely 
appropriate, with evidence of 
student participation in setting 
expectations and monitoring 
behavior. Teacher’s monitoring of 
student behavior is subtle and 
preventive, and teachers’ response 
to student misbehavior is sensitive 
to individual student needs.  
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APPENDIX II: INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

Communicating 
with Students 

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains errors or is 
unclear or inappropriate to students. 
Teacher’s purpose in a lesson or unit 
is unclear to students. Teacher’s 
explanation of the content is unclear 
or confusing or uses inappropriate 
language.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains no errors, 
but may not be completely 
appropriate or may require further 
explanations to avoid confusion. 
Teacher attempts to explain the 
instructional purpose, with limited 
success. Teacher’s explanation of 
the content is uneven; some is 
done skillfully, but other portions 
are difficult to follow.  

 
Teacher communicates clearly and 
accurately to students both orally 
and in writing. Teacher’s purpose 
for the lesson or unit is clear, 
including where it is situation 
within broader learning. Teacher’s 
explanation of content is appropriate 
and connects with students’ 
knowledge and experience.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication is clear and 
expressive, anticipating possible 
student misconceptions. Makes the 
purpose of the lesson or unit clear, 
including where it is situated 
within broader learning, linking 
purpose to student interests. 
Explanation of content is 
imaginative, and connects with 
students’ knowledge and 
experience. Students contribute to 
explaining concepts to their peers.  
 

Using 
Questioning and 
Discussion 
Techniques 

 
Teacher makes poor use of 
questioning and discussion 
techniques, with low-level questions, 
limited student participation, and 
little true discussion.  
 

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques is uneven 
with some high-level question; 
attempts at true discussion; 
moderate student participation.  

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques reflects high-
level questions, true discussion, and 
full participation by all students.  

 
Students formulate may of the 
high-level questions and assume 
responsibility for the participation 
of all students in the discussion.  

Engaging 
Students in 
Learning 

 
Students are not at all intellectually 
engaged in significant learning, as a 
result of inappropriate activities or 
materials, poor representations of 
content, or lack of lesson structure.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
only partially, resulting from 
activities or materials or uneven 
quality, inconsistent representation 
of content or uneven structure of 
pacing.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
throughout the lesson, with 
appropriate activities and materials, 
instructive representations of 
content, and suitable structure and 
pacing of the lesson.  

 
Students are highly engaged 
throughout the lesson and make 
material contribution to the 
representation of content, the 
activities, and the materials. The 
structure and pacing of the lesson 
allow for student reflection and 
closure.  
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Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Using 
Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
Students are unaware of criteria and 
performance standards by which their 
work will be evaluated, and do not 
engage in self-assessment or 
monitoring. Teacher does not 
monitor student learning in the 
curriculum, and feedback to students 
is of poor quality and in an untimely 
manner.  

 
Students know some of the criteria 
and performance standards by 
which their work will be evaluated, 
and occasionally assess the quality 
of their own work against the 
assessment criteria and 
performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of the class 
as a whole but elicits no diagnostic 
information; feedback to students 
is uneven and inconsistent in its 
timeliness.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and performance standards 
by which their work will be 
evaluated, and frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment criteria 
and performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of groups of 
students in the curriculum, making 
limited use of diagnostic prompts to 
elicit information; feedback is 
timely, consistent, and of high 
quality.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and standards by which 
their work will be evaluated, have 
contributed to the development of 
the criteria, frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment 
criteria and performance standards, 
and make active use of that 
information in their learning. 
Teacher actively and 
systematically elicits diagnostic 
information from individual 
students regarding understanding 
and monitors progress of 
individual students; feedback is 
timely, high quality, and students 
use feedback in their learning.  
 

 



!

 
May 23, 2014 
 
Jack McCarthy, Board Chair 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southwest 
330 21st Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20002 
 
Dear Mr. McCarthy:  
 
The Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducts Qualitative Site Reviews (QSR) to gather and 
document evidence to support school oversight. According to the School Reform Act § 38-1802.11, 
PCSB shall monitor the progress of each school in meeting the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations specified in the school’s charter. Your school was selected to undergo a QSR during the 
2013-14 school year for the following reason: 
 

o School is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year 
 
Qualitative Site Review Report 
A QSR team conducted on-site review visits of AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School – 
Southwest (AppleTree PCS-Southwest) between March 31, 2014 – April 11, 2014. The purpose of the 
site review is for PCSB to gauge the extent to which the school’s goals and student academic 
achievement expectations were evident in the everyday operations of the public charter school. To 
ascertain this PCSB staff and consultants evaluated your classroom teaching by using an abridged 
version of the Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching observation rubric. Members of the QSR 
team conducted 30 to 45 minute observations in classrooms. The QSR team scored each observation 
based on the critical attributes outlined in the Framework for Teaching. The team also visited a board 
meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission, and charter 
goals. 
 
The QSR team’s report is attached. You will find that the Qualitative Site Review Report focuses 
primarily on the following areas: charter mission and goals, classroom environments, and instructional 
delivery. The QSR results for the school were exceptionally strong. Congratulations! 
 
We appreciate the assistance and hospitality that you and your staff gave the monitoring team in 
conducting the Qualitative Site Review at AppleTree PCS. Thank you for your continued cooperation as 
PCSB makes every effort to ensure that AppleTree PCS – Southwest is in compliance with its charter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Naomi DeVeaux 
Deputy Director 
 
Enclosures 



!

cc: School Leader 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Southwest (AppleTree PCS - Southwest) serves 74 students in pre-kindergarten-3 (PK3) 
through pre-kindergarten-4 (PK4) and is part of a five campus pre-kindergarten network serving over 600 students. Both facilities contain PK3 
and PK4 classrooms. The mission of AppleTree PCS is to provide young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations that will 
enable them to succeed in school. DC Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducted a Qualitative Site Review (QSR) because AppleTree PCS 
is eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year.  
 
The QSR team conducted observations over the course of a two-week window, from March 31 through April 11, 2014. A team of one PCSB 
staff member and one consultant conducted observations of all four classrooms. In each of the classrooms, there was a lead teacher, teaching 
assistant and teaching fellow. For the purpose of this report, an adult delivering instruction to students will be referred to as a “teacher.”!All of 
the observations are based on the student-teacher interactions among all of the teaching staff in the classroom. The spirit of the QSR process is to 
observe the educational experience for all students, inclusive of students with disabilities, at a particular school. The results of this QSR reflect 
what the QSR team observed in all learning environments within your school. The QSR team used Charlotte Danielson’s Framework for 
Teaching Rubric throughout the observations and observed classrooms in mornings and afternoons. In addition to this two-week window, a 
member of the QSR team also attended a Board of Trustees meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its 
mission and charter goals. !

The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient or exemplary for the Classroom Environment domain. The students and teaching 
staff were extremely kind and respectful to one another. The students were focused on their learning and the teachers maintained high 
expectations for behavior and work completion. The students understood the routines and procedures well and helped facilitate them in the 
classrooms. The QSR team rated two of the observations as exemplary in the Managing Classroom Procedures component. Throughout all of the 
observations, every minute of instruction was maximized with opportunities for extending learning material. As the students lined up for their 
mid-morning snack, the teacher asked students math questions and reading comprehension questions about stories they had previously read. 
There were very few instances of student misbehavior. The teachers dealt with student misbehavior in a fair manner and maintained the students’ 
dignity. The classrooms were colorful and print-rich with numerous samples of student work displayed.  
 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient for the Instructional Delivery domain. In each of the classrooms, there was a 
common instructional theme observed as well as a similar classroom schedule for centers, small group instruction, and whole group activities. 
The communication with students by all of the teaching staff was thorough and clear.  In many instances it was unclear who the lead teacher, 
teaching assistant, and teaching fellow were in the classrooms. The teachers asked open-ended questions inviting students to think and offer 
multiple possible answers. The students also had some choice in how learning tasks were completed during whole group instruction and while 
they were in learning centers. 
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CHARTER MISSION, GOALS, ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS, AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 
 
This table summarizes AppleTree’s goals and academic achievement expectations as detailed in its charter and subsequent Accountability Plans, 
and the evidence that the Qualitative Site Review (QSR) team observed of the school meeting those goals during the Qualitative Site Review 
Visit.  
 
 

Mission and Goals Evidence 
 
The mission of AppleTree PCS is to provide young children with the 
social, emotional and cognitive foundations that will enable them to 
succeed in school. 

 
There was evidence of the school implementing its mission to provide 
young children with the social, emotional, and cognitive foundations 
that will enable them to succeed in school.  
 
Social and emotional foundations: 
Students managed their feelings and behaviors and also worked 
cooperatively in their small groups. The students had healthy 
interactions with their classmates and were not observed having many 
behavioral issues. The teaching staff modeled the appropriate behavior 
that they wanted to see from students and redirected students’ 
misbehavior in a positive manner. Teachers used a “Sit and Watch” 
chair for students who were having trouble following directions. A 
student would sit and learn from other students who were on task and 
behaving appropriately. Some of the students hugged the teaching staff 
when they entered the classrooms.  
 
Cognitive foundation: 
The students had classroom jobs and actively participated in all 
components of the lesson. The students were excited about what they 
were learning and completed a variety of instructional activities 
cooperatively and independently during the observations. The students 
practiced emergent reading and writing skills in all of the classrooms 
observed.  
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
PMF Goal # 1: Student Progress – Academic Improvement over 
time 
Effective Instruction supporting student academic progress and 
achievement in reading and math. 
  

AppleTree students explored literacy and math using whole group 
instruction, small group instruction, and learning centers. During all of 
the classroom observations, nearly all of the instruction was aligned to 
the theme of dinosaurs. Most of the reading passages and instruction 
were focused on stories or poems about dinosaurs. Students learned 
how to break down phonemes and identified sight words during small 
group instruction.  
 
Students could choose between several learning centers. Students were 
able to participate in activities they were interested in completing such 
as building an excavation site, designing a dinosaur museum, or 
reading books about dinosaurs in the library. During one of the small 
groups, students learned emergent writing skills as they practiced 
writing letters to their dinosaur pen pals. Students also worked on 
identifying letters and practicing writing their name.  
 
Although explicit math instruction was not observed, students in one of 
the centers worked on identifying and writing two and three digit 
numbers on their whiteboards. Students also used counter blocks to 
count the number of sounds within a word.  
 

 
PMF Goal #2: Student Achievement – Meeting or exceeding 
academic standards 
Moving students to advanced levels of proficiency in reading and math. 
 

 
There were several examples of the teachers differentiating reading 
instruction to move students to advanced levels of proficiency.  The 
teachers varied the level of questioning and support of students during 
small group rotations.  
 
During one of the observations, all of the students learned sight words 
beginning with the letter F. The teacher differentiated the level of 
support to students by having one group engage in extra practice 
identifying sight words. The teachers were able to individually assess 
student learning through questioning and observation. During two 
classroom observations students were assessed individually using the 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
Every Child Readiness Curriculum (ECR). Teachers also assessed 
students using pictures of “rare words.” Students were expected to tell 
the name of each picture.  
 

 

PMF Goal #3: Gateway – Outcomes in key subjects that predict 
future educational success 

Promotion of reading proficiency by third grade and math proficiency 
by eighth grade 

 

 
See evidence described in goals #1 and #2 above. 
 

 
PMF Goal #4: Leading Indicators – Predictors of future student 
progress and achievement 
 
Culture of learning and support in the classrooms 
 

 
There are three teaching staff members in each classroom responsible 
for student learning. Each adult played an integral role in the classroom 
instruction. The teachers worked hard to ensure that students were on 
task throughout the observation and that students moved through 
transitions quickly. The schedule for the day was posted in each class 
with student pictures and times prominently labeled to indicate each 
activity.  
 
The students appeared to enjoy learning in the classrooms. The 
students willingly participated in activities and were often heard 
laughing while working with their peers or during a read-aloud about 
dinosaurs. The teachers frequently communicated learning and 
behavior expectations to students. The students often responded 
positively to their requests.   
 

 
Board Governance 

 
Two overlapping governing boards that attend one joint meeting 
oversee AppleTree Institute and AppleTree Early Learning Public 
Charter School. A PCSB staff member observed the board meeting on 
January 28, 2014. Both boards carried out business for both entities at 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
this meeting. It was not clear which board members were on which 
board. At the January 28th board meeting, seventeen board members 
were in attendance and they voted for Cal Leonard (consultant from the 
New Schools Venture Fund) to join the board. It was unclear which 
board he joined, but all 17 members voted, which leads PCSB to 
believe he is part of the Institute’s board but not the charter school’s. 
On May 2, 2014, AppleTree clarified that the eleven members of the 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS Board are also on the AppleTree 
Institute board with other members. While on paper there is a 
distinction, in practice, there still appears to be a conflict of interest. 
Additionally while not in conflict with the School Reform Act, the 
board chair of the school is also the President and CEO of AppleTree 
Early Learning PCS, which is not a best practice.  
 
AppleTree Institute provides services to other DC public charter 
schools, including CLASS observation evaluations and has proposed to 
PCSB to conduct the CLASS observations for the AppleTree Early 
Learning PCS campuses. While the board meeting is divided into two 
sections and the board chair stopped a vote on charter school finances 
during the AppleTree Institute portion of the meeting, acknowledging 
the PCSB observer, this division of the Board’s business is not enough 
to provide sufficient independence between the two entities to allow for 
AppleTree Institute to evaluate AppleTree Early Learning PCS.   
 
During the public charter school portion of the meeting, Anne Malone, 
Chief of Schools, reported on attendance goals and MySchoolDC 
applications. Ms. Malone also spoke on teacher retention and school 
culture. The board approved an amended budget and discussed the 
upcoming charter 10-year review. 
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CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT1 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Classroom Environment domain of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below "proficient" to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools. The QSR team scored 100% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Classroom Environment domain.!! 
 

Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Creating an Environment of 
Respect and Rapport 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient. The teachers and 
students had positive, respectful interactions with one another. The teachers’ 
words and actions set the tone for the classroom and conveyed that they cared 
about the students. The students spoke positively to one another and used first 
names. When students danced or celebrated, the teachers gleefully clapped along. 
The teachers encouraged students to actively listen to one another and were warm 
and caring when communicating expectations to students.  
 

 
 

Exemplary 
 

0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Establishing a Culture for 
Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient. The teachers had 
high expectations for all students. In all of the classrooms, the teacher reviewed 
the schedule for the day along with all of the learning tasks. The teacher 
explained all activities and expectations for all centers and stations. One of the 
teachers reminded students to do their best in the writing center. The students in 
self-guided centers worked independently. The teacher used a calendar and 
symbols to help students generate appropriate responses for questions posed and 
action statements given.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. Satisfactory 0% 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 Teachers may be observed more than once by different review team members. 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Classroom Procedures 

 
The QSR teamed rated 100% of the observations as proficient. The teachers had 
established procedures and routines that ensured a smoothly running classroom 
and allowed for the efficient use of time. The transitions in student classrooms 
were seamless and required relatively no teacher involvement. Some of the 
teachers used a Smart TV to call small groups of students to the table for 
instruction and intervention. Other teachers circulated the classroom and assisted 
students as needed in various centers. The students were able to transition without 
direction or intervention from the teachers. Students also retrieved materials and 
resources as needed (e.g., markers, crayons, and books).  
  

Exemplary 50% 

Proficient 50% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Student Behavior 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient. The teachers 
effectively monitored and responded to student behavior. The classrooms had a 
“time out” / “time to myself” chair for students to sit in while they reflected on 
their actions. The teachers and students used community language to encourage 
students to be in control of their actions and behaviors and to manage their 
feelings saying things like - “It’s a little deal,” “We can handle this,” and 
“Remember, be kind to others.” While there were very few instances of student 
misbehavior – some students only became upset when centers were full or 
resources were taken. The teachers quickly redirected these students and 
reintegrated them into the lesson.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 
 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Instructional Delivery elements of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below “proficient” to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools. The QSR team scored 100% of the 
observations as “proficient” for the Instructional Delivery domain.   
 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Communicating with Students 
 

 
The QSR team rated 100% of the observations as proficient. The teachers 
effectively communicated the lesson and expectations for learning to students. 
The teachers often shared the lesson purpose as well as the scope and 
sequence of the daily activities. The teachers often shared the purpose of the 
story or any assessments prior to the start of the activity. The teachers used 
accurate syntax and a rich vocabulary for students. During story time the 
teachers used imaginative language to pique the students’ interest. There were 
strong expectations for learning. The classrooms were joyful, and students 
moved throughout a variety of activities with high levels of engagement.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Questioning and Discussion 
Techniques 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient. Teachers used 
questioning and discussion techniques to deepen student understanding. The 
teachers asked a variety of questions to students with various levels of 
difficulty. Questions were posed to students during story time, centers, and 
while assessments were taking place. Nearly all students were given 
opportunities to participate in class conversations. The questions were 
engaging and charged students with recalling details, connecting ideas, and 
making predictions. When students were asked to share what they knew about 
some of the story themes, they often made text-to-self connections.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Engaging Students in Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient. Students were 
intellectually engaged in assignments. Teachers provided learning tasks that 
required high levels of student thinking. All of the students participated in 
each learning center. The small group instruction was well paced and afforded 
appropriate time for deep learning and synthesis of content.  
 
The learning centers and small group instruction were comprised of activities 
and learning opportunities that allowed students to experiment with 
manipulatives and develop basic reading and writing skills. The teachers used 
a variety of materials and resources when working with small and whole 
groups of students. The teachers also used timers to measure time on task and 
time spent completing tasks and assessments.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Assessment in Instruction 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as proficient. Teachers 
effectively used assessment to monitor student learning. See goal #2 for 
evidence of assessment and differentiation during observations.   
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 100% 

 
The QSR team did not rate any observations as below proficient. 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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APPENDIX I: CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Creating an 
Environment 
of Respect 
and Rapport 

 
Classroom interactions, both 
between the teacher and students 
and among students, are negative or 
inappropriate and characterized by 
sarcasm, putdowns, or conflict 

 
Classroom interactions are generally 
appropriate and free from conflict 
but may be characterized by 
occasional displays of insensitivity.  

 
Classroom interactions reflect general 
warmth and caring, and are respectful 
of the cultural and developmental 
differences among groups of students. 

 
Classroom interactions are highly 
respectful, reflecting genuine 
warmth and caring toward 
individuals. Students themselves 
ensure maintenance of high levels 
of civility among member of the 
class.  
 

 
Establishing a 
Culture for 
Learning 

 
The classroom does not represent a 
culture for learning and is 
characterized by low teacher 
commitment to the subject, low 
expectations for student 
achievement, and little student pride 
in work.  

 
The classroom environment reflects 
only a minimal culture for learning, 
with only modest or inconsistent 
expectations for student 
achievement, little teacher 
commitment to the subject, and little 
student pride in work. Both teacher 
and students are performing at the 
minimal level to “get by.” 

 
The classroom environment represents 
a genuine culture for learning, with 
commitment to the subject on the part 
of both teacher and students, high 
expectations for student achievement, 
and student pride in work.  

 
Students assumes much of the 
responsibility for establishing a 
culture for learning in the 
classroom by taking pride in their 
work, initiating improvements to 
their products, and holding the 
work to the highest standard. 
Teacher demonstrates as 
passionate commitment to the 
subject. 
  

 
Managing 
Classroom 
Procedures 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are either nonexistent or inefficient, 
resulting in the loss of much 
instruction time.  
 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established but function 
unevenly or inconsistently, with 
some loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established and function 
smoothly for the most part, with little 
loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are seamless in their operation, and 
students assume considerable 
responsibility for their smooth 
functioning.  
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Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Managing 
Student 
Behavior 

 
Student behavior is poor, with no 
clear expectations, no monitoring of 
student behavior, and inappropriate 
response to student misbehavior.  

 
Teacher makes an effort to establish 
standards of conduct for students, 
monitor student behavior, and 
respond to student misbehavior, but 
these efforts are not always 
successful.  

 
Teacher is aware of student behavior, 
has established clear standards of 
conduct, and responds to student 
misbehavior in ways that are 
appropriate and respectful of the 
students. 

 
Student behavior is entirely 
appropriate, with evidence of 
student participation in setting 
expectations and monitoring 
behavior. Teacher’s monitoring of 
student behavior is subtle and 
preventive, and teachers’ response 
to student misbehavior is sensitive 
to individual student needs.  
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APPENDIX II: INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

Communicating 
with Students 

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains errors or is 
unclear or inappropriate to students. 
Teacher’s purpose in a lesson or unit 
is unclear to students. Teacher’s 
explanation of the content is unclear 
or confusing or uses inappropriate 
language.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains no errors, 
but may not be completely 
appropriate or may require further 
explanations to avoid confusion. 
Teacher attempts to explain the 
instructional purpose, with limited 
success. Teacher’s explanation of 
the content is uneven; some is 
done skillfully, but other portions 
are difficult to follow.  

 
Teacher communicates clearly and 
accurately to students both orally 
and in writing. Teacher’s purpose 
for the lesson or unit is clear, 
including where it is situation 
within broader learning. Teacher’s 
explanation of content is appropriate 
and connects with students’ 
knowledge and experience.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication is clear and 
expressive, anticipating possible 
student misconceptions. Makes the 
purpose of the lesson or unit clear, 
including where it is situated 
within broader learning, linking 
purpose to student interests. 
Explanation of content is 
imaginative, and connects with 
students’ knowledge and 
experience. Students contribute to 
explaining concepts to their peers.  
 

Using 
Questioning and 
Discussion 
Techniques 

 
Teacher makes poor use of 
questioning and discussion 
techniques, with low-level questions, 
limited student participation, and 
little true discussion.  
 

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques is uneven 
with some high-level question; 
attempts at true discussion; 
moderate student participation.  

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques reflects high-
level questions, true discussion, and 
full participation by all students.  

 
Students formulate may of the 
high-level questions and assume 
responsibility for the participation 
of all students in the discussion.  

Engaging 
Students in 
Learning 

 
Students are not at all intellectually 
engaged in significant learning, as a 
result of inappropriate activities or 
materials, poor representations of 
content, or lack of lesson structure.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
only partially, resulting from 
activities or materials or uneven 
quality, inconsistent representation 
of content or uneven structure of 
pacing.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
throughout the lesson, with 
appropriate activities and materials, 
instructive representations of 
content, and suitable structure and 
pacing of the lesson.  

 
Students are highly engaged 
throughout the lesson and make 
material contribution to the 
representation of content, the 
activities, and the materials. The 
structure and pacing of the lesson 
allow for student reflection and 
closure.  
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Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Using 
Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
Students are unaware of criteria and 
performance standards by which their 
work will be evaluated, and do not 
engage in self-assessment or 
monitoring. Teacher does not 
monitor student learning in the 
curriculum, and feedback to students 
is of poor quality and in an untimely 
manner.  

 
Students know some of the criteria 
and performance standards by 
which their work will be evaluated, 
and occasionally assess the quality 
of their own work against the 
assessment criteria and 
performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of the class 
as a whole but elicits no diagnostic 
information; feedback to students 
is uneven and inconsistent in its 
timeliness.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and performance standards 
by which their work will be 
evaluated, and frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment criteria 
and performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of groups of 
students in the curriculum, making 
limited use of diagnostic prompts to 
elicit information; feedback is 
timely, consistent, and of high 
quality.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and standards by which 
their work will be evaluated, have 
contributed to the development of 
the criteria, frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment 
criteria and performance standards, 
and make active use of that 
information in their learning. 
Teacher actively and 
systematically elicits diagnostic 
information from individual 
students regarding understanding 
and monitors progress of 
individual students; feedback is 
timely, high quality, and students 
use feedback in their learning.  
 

 



 
May 23, 2014 
 
Jack McCarthy, Board Chair 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School-Columbia Heights 
2750 14th Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20009 
 
Dear Mr. McCarthy:  
 
The Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducts Qualitative Site Reviews (QSR) to gather and 
document evidence to support school oversight. According to the School Reform Act § 38-1802.11, 
PCSB shall monitor the progress of each school in meeting the goals and student academic achievement 
expectations specified in the school’s charter. Your school was selected to undergo a QSR during the 
2013-14 school year for the following reason: 
 

o School eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during 2014-15 school year 
 
Qualitative Site Review Report 
A QSR team conducted on-site review visits of the Columbia Heights campus of AppleTree Early 
Learning Public Charter School-Columbia Heights (AppleTree PCS-Columbia Heights) between March 
31 and April 11. The purpose of the site review is for PCSB to gauge the extent to which the school’s 
goals and student academic achievement expectations were evident in the everyday operations of the 
public charter school. To ascertain this PCSB staff and consultants evaluated your classroom teaching 
by using an abridged version of the Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching observation rubric. 
Members of the QSR team conducted 30 to 45 minute observations in classrooms. The QSR team scored 
each observation based on the critical attributes outlined in the Framework for Teaching. The team also 
visited a board meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission, 
and charter goals. 

 
The QSR team’s report is attached. You will find that the Qualitative Site Review Report focuses 
primarily on the following areas: charter mission and goals, classroom environments, and instructional 
delivery. The QSR results for the school were exceptionally strong. Congratulations! 
 
We appreciate the assistance and hospitality that you and your staff gave the monitoring team in 
conducting the Qualitative Site Review at AppleTree PCS-Columbia Heights. Thank you for your 
continued cooperation as PCSB makes every effort to ensure that Apple Tree PCS-Columbia Heights is 
in compliance with its charter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Naomi DeVeaux 
Deputy Director 
 
 



Enclosures 
cc: School Leader 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School–Columbia Heights (AppleTree PCS–Columbia Heights) serves approximately 150 students in 
pre-kindergarten-3 (PK3) through pre-kindergarten-4 (PK4) and is part of a five campus pre-kindergarten network serving over 600 students.  
DC Public Charter School Board (PCSB) conducted a Qualitative Site Review (QSR) at all campuses in April 2014 because AppleTree PCS is 
eligible for a 10-year Charter Review during the 2014-15 school year.  
 
The QSR team conducted observations over the course of a two-week window from March 31 through April 11, 2014. A team of two PCSB staff 
members including PCSB’s Special Education Specialist and one consultant conducted 13 observations. In each of the classrooms at AppleTree 
PCS–Columbia Heights, there was a lead teacher, teaching assistant, and teaching fellow. For the purpose of this report, an adult delivering 
instruction to students will be referred to as a “teacher.” All of the observations were based on the student-teacher interactions among all of the 
teaching staff in the classroom. The spirit of the QSR process is to identify the educational experience for all students, inclusive of students with 
disabilities, at a particular school. The results of this QSR are thus reflective of what the QSR team observed in all learning environments within 
your school where students with disabilities are being serviced, including the one Special Education teacher observed in the inclusion setting. In 
some instances the review team may have observed a teacher twice. The QSR team used Charlotte Danielson’s Framework for Teaching Rubric 
throughout the observations and observed classrooms in mornings and afternoons. In addition to this two-week window, a member of the QSR 
team also attended a Board of Trustees meeting in order to observe the school’s governance as it relates to fulfilling its mission and charter goals.  

The QSR team scored 87.5% of the observations as proficient or exemplary for the Classroom Environment domain.!!The highest rated 
component within the Classroom Environment domain was Managing Student Behavior with 100% of observations rated as proficient or 
exemplary. The teachers and staff exhibited patience and skilled management of students’ individual behavior. Teachers also encouraged sharing 
and respect between students. The lowest rated component in this domain was Establishing a Culture for Learning, where 67% of observations 
were proficient or exemplary. In a few isolated observations, teachers were not engaged with the students during center time and exhibited a low 
level of energy for the work.  

The QSR team scored 85% of the observations as proficient or exemplary for the Instructional Delivery domain. The highest rated component 
within this domain was Communicating with Students, with 92% of observations scoring proficient or exemplary. Teachers clearly 
communicated expectations for learning, directions, and procedures to the students through oral and written communication. The lowest scoring 
components in this domain were Using Discussion and Questioning Techniques, Engaging Students in Learning, and Using Assessment in 
Instruction with 83% of observations scoring proficient or exemplary in all three components. In a small number of observations, teachers did not 
pace the lessons well or adjust the lessons based on the student responses or participation level.  
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CHARTER MISSION, GOALS, ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT EXPECTATIONS, AND BOARD GOVERNANCE 
 
This table summarizes AppleTree PCS–Columbia Heights’s goals and academic achievement expectations as detailed in its charter and 
subsequent Accountability Plans, and the evidence that the Qualitative Site Review (QSR) team observed of the school meeting those goals 
during the Qualitative Site Review Visit.  
 

Mission and Goals Evidence 
 

Mission: The mission of AppleTree Early Learning PCS is to provide 
young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations 
that will enable them to succeed in school. 

 

 
The QSR team observed evidence that AppleTree–PCS Columbia 
Heights is carrying out its mission. Teachers and staff structure the 
classroom environment and instruction to support the students’ social, 
emotional, cognitive, and motor development.  
 
Social and emotional foundations: 
Discussions between teachers and students and between students 
themselves encouraged social and language development. Students 
worked together in groups during center time, while teachers facilitated 
other students putting on puppet shows in one observation.  
 
Teachers used behavior charts and the “Sit and Watch” chair to help 
students learn how to regulate their own behavior.  A few students sat 
in this chair for a short while if they had trouble participating or 
engaging in a class activity. After certain activities, the teacher put 
stickers on the behavior chart and highlighted appropriate behavior.  
 
One particular area of the classroom setting highlighted the school’s 
focus on emotional development. Each classroom had a “calm down 
station.” The calm down station contained a beanbag or comfortable 
chair. Charts posted on the wall listed various emotions: happy, sad, 
excited, angry, etc. Each label had an accompanying face expressing 
the emotion. The area also contained a mirror. Students could go to the 
center to calm down.  
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
 
The QSR team observed teachers helping students who were upset and 
needed extra attention. Teachers helped crying students calm down by 
encouraging the students to take deep breaths, leaving the room with 
them briefly to get water, and speaking softly to them.  
 
Cognitive foundations 
Teachers led reading, writing, and math instruction in whole and small 
groups. Teachers used language and math manipulatives to introduce 
concepts. Students engaged in hands-on learning in structured 
environments such as teacher-led small groups and less structured 
environments such as free play in the block center or sand table. 
Common centers among the classrooms included a writing center, art 
studio, investigation location, construction zone, exploration station, 
library, dramatic play/puppet theater, etc. Each center reflected the 
current academic thematic unit. During this two-week window, the 
thematic unit was dinosaurs and excavation. 
 

 
PMF Goal # 1: Student Progress – Academic Improvement over 
time 
Effective Instruction supporting student academic progress and 
achievement in reading and math 
 

 
Teachers worked with students in small groups to blend sounds, read 
sight words, and write in journals about the thematic unit. Students also 
read books about dinosaurs in the library center. Teachers read books 
aloud in a whole group setting, stopping to ask the students about the 
book and engage them in a discussion about the topic.  
 
Teachers introduced addition in a whole group setting. The teachers 
used small dinosaur toys to provide a visual representation of the 
numbers in the equation. Teachers also delivered math instruction in 
small groups using laminated placemats for counting and adding. 
Students used manipulatives to solve math problems.  
 

 
PMF Goal #2: Student Achievement – Meeting or exceeding 

 
Teachers worked with some students individually to support more 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
academic standards 
Moving students to advanced levels of proficiency in reading and math 
 

independent reading and writing. Teachers also modeled writing in a 
whole group setting while differentiating levels of what the students 
could do. Some students were encouraged to draw a picture and explain 
it while others were asked to label their drawings in their journals.  
 
Teachers also led small group math instruction and presented different 
levels of problems to different groups of students. Students also had 
opportunities to work independently.  
 

 
PMF Goal #3: Gateway – Outcomes in key subjects that predict 
future educational success 
Promotion of reading proficiency by third grade and math proficiency 
by eighth grade 
 

 
See evidence described in goals #1 and #2 above.  

 
PMF Goal #4: Leading Indicators – Predictors of future student 
progress and achievement 
Culture of learning and support in the classrooms 
 

 
Teachers prepared and delivered structured lessons while 
communicating the purpose and importance of the content. Teachers 
held high expectations for students and encouraged independence. 
Students were encouraged to write a number on the board before being 
dismissed from the rug to start center work. Students showed pride in 
their work by concentrating on completing a task and sharing the result 
with the class e.g., sharing journal writing from the author’s chair.  
 

 
Board Governance 

 
Two overlapping governing boards that attend one joint meeting 
oversee AppleTree Institute and AppleTree Early Learning Public 
Charter School. A PCSB staff member observed the board meeting on 
January 28, 2014. Both boards carried out business for both entities at 
this meeting. It was not clear which board members were on which 
board. At the January 28th board meeting, seventeen board members 
were in attendance and they voted for Cal Leonard (consultant from the 
New Schools Venture Fund) to join the board. It was unclear which 
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Mission and Goals Evidence 
board he joined, but all 17 members voted, which leads PCSB to 
believe he is part of the Institute’s board but not the charter school’s. 
On May 2, 2014, AppleTree clarified that the eleven members of the 
AppleTree Early Learning PCS Board are also on the AppleTree 
Institute board with other members. While on paper there is a 
distinction, in practice, there still appears to be a conflict of interest. 
Additionally while not in conflict with the School Reform Act, the 
board chair of the school is also the President and CEO of AppleTree 
Early Learning PCS, which is not a best practice.  
 
AppleTree Institute provides services to other DC public charter 
schools, including CLASS observation evaluations and has proposed to 
PCSB to conduct the CLASS observations for the AppleTree Early 
Learning PCS campuses. While the board meeting is divided into two 
sections and the board chair stopped a vote on charter school finances 
during the AppleTree Institute portion of the meeting, acknowledging 
the PCSB observer, this division of the Board’s business is not enough 
to provide sufficient independence between the two entities to allow for 
AppleTree Institute to evaluate AppleTree Early Learning PCS.   
 
During the public charter school portion of the meeting, Anne Malone, 
Chief of Schools, reported on attendance goals and MySchoolDC 
applications. Ms. Malone also spoke on teacher retention and school 
culture. The board approved an amended budget and discussed the 
upcoming charter 10-year review. 
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CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT1 
This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Classroom Environment domain of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below "proficient" to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools.  The QSR team scored 87.5% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Classroom Environment domain.!!! 
 

Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Creating an Environment of 
Respect and Rapport 

 
The QSR team scored 92% of the observations as exemplary or proficient in 
Creating an Environment of Respect and Rapport. Teacher and student 
interactions were warm and respectful. Teachers encouraged sharing and helped 
students cooperate as needed.  

One exemplary observation involved a teacher pulling a child aside to talk about 
some things happening outside of school. This exchange was discreet and carried 
out calmly in a caring manner. 
 

 
 

Exemplary 
 

8% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below proficient.  

!
!!

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Establishing a Culture for 
Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 83% of the observations as proficient in Establishing a 
Culture for Learning. Students exhibited a determination to stick with tasks and 
obtain correct answers in small groups. Teachers maintained high expectations for 
students and encouraged them to keep trying. Students who were having trouble 
blending some sounds continued to practice and were rewarded with praise after 
accomplishing the task.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The QSR team scored 17% of the observations below proficient in Establishing a 
Culture for Learning. In a few isolated observations, staff members were not 

Satisfactory 17% 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 Teachers may be observed more than once by different review team members. 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
engaged in the work with students and missed opportunities to facilitate 
exploration and learning. In a small number of observations, the teachers’ energy 
and observed commitment to the work was relatively low.  
  

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Classroom Procedures 

 
The QSR team scored 83% of the observations as proficient in Managing 
Classroom Procedures. Teachers used management techniques to gain students’ 
attention, give instructions, highlight appropriate behavior, and transition students 
throughout the day. Examples include turning the lights off and on, using special 
calling voices, and positive reinforcement. 

Students used wooden sticks with their names on them to move from center to 
center. In order to join a new center, students looked to see if there was an open 
space indicated by a free Velcro piece outside of the center. Each student would 
stick his or her stick on that Velcro piece and participate in the center. The 
students took their sticks with them as they freely moved around the room. 
Students understood the expectations and managed their movement without 
teacher redirection. 
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below proficient.  
 

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Managing Student Behavior 

 
The QSR team scored 100% of the observations as exemplary or proficient in 
Managing Student Behavior. Teachers managed student behavior with patience 
and understanding. They used behavior charts and the “Sit and Watch” chair 
when appropriate. Teachers placed stickers on the behavior charts to highlight 
appropriate behavior and talked about each student’s behavior as they placed the 

Exemplary 8% 
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Classroom Environment Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
stickers next to the names. The “Sit and Watch” chair was used sparingly. The 
few students who sat in it were there for a brief time before they reentered the 
class activity.  

Teachers handled crying students in a calm manner with soft voices. Some were 
briefly removed from the room to get a drink. Teachers encouraged students to 
take deep breaths and explain why they were upset.  
 

Proficient 92% 

 

The QSR team did not score any of the observations as below proficient. 

 

Satisfactory 0% 

Limited 0% 
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INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY

This table summarizes the school’s performance on the Instructional Delivery elements of the rubric during the unannounced visits. PCSB 
considers any rating below “proficient” to be under the standard of quality expected of DC charter schools. The QSR team scored 85% of the 
observations as “proficient” or “exemplary” for the Instructional Delivery domain.    
 

Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
Communicating with Students 
 

 
The QSR team scored 92% of the observations proficient in Communicating 
with Students. Teachers clearly stated the purpose of the lessons and repeated 
the purpose throughout the lesson as needed. Teachers communicated 
directions to students and modeled instructional tasks. Teachers embedded 
ways to gauge student understanding of the material such as asking students 
to give a thumbs up if they understood or agreed with another student’s 
answer.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 92% 

 
The QSR team scored fewer than 10% of the observations as below 
proficient.  
 

Satisfactory 8% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Questioning and Discussion 
Techniques 

 
The QSR team scored 83% of the observations as proficient in Using 
Questioning and Discussion Techniques. Students participated in discussions 
in whole group and small group settings during all of the observations. 
Teachers paused during read alouds to ask higher-level questions, encourage 
students to predict the next part of the book, and engage in discussions. 
During a whole group math lesson, the teacher called on different students to 
participate in solving an equation. Students arranged small dinosaurs to fit the 
equation and took turns writing answers to the equations on the board.  
 

Exemplary 0% 

Proficient 83% 

 
The QSR team scored 17% of the observations as below proficient in Using 
Questioning and Discussion Techniques. In a small number of observations, 

Satisfactory 17% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
teachers were not encouraging students to respond to the material.  
 Limited 0% 

 
Engaging Students in Learning 

 
The QSR team scored 83% of the observations as exemplary or proficient in 
Engaging Students in Learning. Instructional lessons were aligned to learning 
expectations. Students were highly engaged in classroom activities. Teachers 
encouraged participation in whole group by having students act out some 
dinosaur actions such as pouncing. Students participated in the “dino-pokey,” 
which was a variation of the hokey pokey but with dinosaur body parts such 
as a tail.  
 

Exemplary 8% 

Proficient 75% 

 
The QSR team scored 17% of the observations as below proficient in 
Engaging Students in Learning. The pacing of the lessons was not 
appropriately aligned to abilities of the students. In one observation the lesson 
moved too quickly for a few students. The teacher repeatedly moved on to the 
question when a student was not able to answer correctly instead of helping 
the students work out the solution.  
 

Satisfactory 17% 

Limited 0% 

 
Using Assessment in Instruction 

 
The QSR team scored 83% of the observations as exemplary or proficient in 
Using Assessment in Instruction. The team observed ongoing assessment and 
feedback. Teachers posed numerous questions to elicit student responses 
during whole and small group instruction. Teachers repeated aspects of the 
lesson such as putting sounds together to form a word when a student did not 
arrive at the correct answer. Teachers also moved to more challenging tasks 
depending on student responses. When students finished a set of addition 
problems during small group work, the teacher moved on to more difficult 
equations with bigger numbers.  

 

Exemplary 8% 

Proficient 75% 
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Instructional Delivery Evidence Observed School Wide Rating 
 
The QSR team scored 17% of the observations below proficient. Teachers did 
not always adjust instruction based on the needs of the students. During one 
observation of small group math instruction, the teacher focused more on 
finishing the addition activity than making sure students had complete 
understanding. The teacher did not adjust the task by breaking the problem 
down for the students who were getting wrong answers.  
 

Satisfactory 17% 

Limited 0% 

 
  



Qualitative Site Review Report AppleTree PCS-Columbia Heights May 23, 2014 
12 

APPENDIX I: CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Creating an 
Environment 
of Respect 
and Rapport 

 
Classroom interactions, both 
between the teacher and students 
and among students, are negative or 
inappropriate and characterized by 
sarcasm, putdowns, or conflict 

 
Classroom interactions are generally 
appropriate and free from conflict 
but may be characterized by 
occasional displays of insensitivity.  

 
Classroom interactions reflect general 
warmth and caring, and are respectful 
of the cultural and developmental 
differences among groups of students. 

 
Classroom interactions are highly 
respectful, reflecting genuine 
warmth and caring toward 
individuals. Students themselves 
ensure maintenance of high levels 
of civility among member of the 
class.  
 

 
Establishing a 
Culture for 
Learning 

 
The classroom does not represent a 
culture for learning and is 
characterized by low teacher 
commitment to the subject, low 
expectations for student 
achievement, and little student pride 
in work.  

 
The classroom environment reflects 
only a minimal culture for learning, 
with only modest or inconsistent 
expectations for student 
achievement, little teacher 
commitment to the subject, and little 
student pride in work. Both teacher 
and students are performing at the 
minimal level to “get by.” 

 
The classroom environment represents 
a genuine culture for learning, with 
commitment to the subject on the part 
of both teacher and students, high 
expectations for student achievement, 
and student pride in work.  

 
Students assumes much of the 
responsibility for establishing a 
culture for learning in the 
classroom by taking pride in their 
work, initiating improvements to 
their products, and holding the 
work to the highest standard. 
Teacher demonstrates as 
passionate commitment to the 
subject. 
  

 
Managing 
Classroom 
Procedures 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are either nonexistent or inefficient, 
resulting in the loss of much 
instruction time.  
 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established but function 
unevenly or inconsistently, with 
some loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
have been established and function 
smoothly for the most part, with little 
loss of instruction time. 

 
Classroom routines and procedures 
are seamless in their operation, and 
students assume considerable 
responsibility for their smooth 
functioning.  
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Classroom 
Environment Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Managing 
Student 
Behavior 

 
Student behavior is poor, with no 
clear expectations, no monitoring of 
student behavior, and inappropriate 
response to student misbehavior.  

 
Teacher makes an effort to establish 
standards of conduct for students, 
monitor student behavior, and 
respond to student misbehavior, but 
these efforts are not always 
successful.  

 
Teacher is aware of student behavior, 
has established clear standards of 
conduct, and responds to student 
misbehavior in ways that are 
appropriate and respectful of the 
students. 

 
Student behavior is entirely 
appropriate, with evidence of 
student participation in setting 
expectations and monitoring 
behavior. Teacher’s monitoring of 
student behavior is subtle and 
preventive, and teachers’ response 
to student misbehavior is sensitive 
to individual student needs.  
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APPENDIX II: INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY OBSERVATION RUBRIC 
 

Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

Communicating 
with Students 

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains errors or is 
unclear or inappropriate to students. 
Teacher’s purpose in a lesson or unit 
is unclear to students. Teacher’s 
explanation of the content is unclear 
or confusing or uses inappropriate 
language.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication contains no errors, 
but may not be completely 
appropriate or may require further 
explanations to avoid confusion.  
Teacher attempts to explain the 
instructional purpose, with limited 
success. Teacher’s explanation of 
the content is uneven; some is 
done skillfully, but other portions 
are difficult to follow.  

 
Teacher communicates clearly and 
accurately to students both orally 
and in writing. Teacher’s purpose 
for the lesson or unit is clear, 
including where it is situation 
within broader learning. Teacher’s 
explanation of content is appropriate 
and connects with students’ 
knowledge and experience.  

 
Teacher’s oral and written 
communication is clear and 
expressive, anticipating possible 
student misconceptions. Makes the 
purpose of the lesson or unit clear, 
including where it is situated 
within broader learning, linking 
purpose to student interests. 
Explanation of content is 
imaginative, and connects with 
students’ knowledge and 
experience. Students contribute to 
explaining concepts to their peers.  
 

Using 
Questioning and 
Discussion 
Techniques 

 
Teacher makes poor use of 
questioning and discussion 
techniques, with low-level questions, 
limited student participation, and 
little true discussion.  
 

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques is uneven 
with some high-level question; 
attempts at true discussion; 
moderate student participation.  

 
Teacher’s use of questioning and 
discussion techniques reflects high-
level questions, true discussion, and 
full participation by all students.  

 
Students formulate may of the 
high-level questions and assume 
responsibility for the participation 
of all students in the discussion.  

Engaging 
Students in 
Learning 

 
Students are not at all intellectually 
engaged in significant learning, as a 
result of inappropriate activities or 
materials, poor representations of 
content, or lack of lesson structure.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
only partially, resulting from 
activities or materials or uneven 
quality, inconsistent representation 
of content or uneven structure of 
pacing.  

 
Students are intellectually engaged 
throughout the lesson, with 
appropriate activities and materials, 
instructive representations of 
content, and suitable structure and 
pacing of the lesson.  

 
Students are highly engaged 
throughout the lesson and make 
material contribution to the 
representation of content, the 
activities, and the materials. The 
structure and pacing of the lesson 
allow for student reflection and 
closure.  
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Instructional 
Delivery Limited Below Proficient Proficient Exemplary 

 
Using 
Assessment in 
Instruction 

 
Students are unaware of criteria and 
performance standards by which their 
work will be evaluated, and do not 
engage in self-assessment or 
monitoring. Teacher does not 
monitor student learning in the 
curriculum, and feedback to students 
is of poor quality and in an untimely 
manner.  

 
Students know some of the criteria 
and performance standards by 
which their work will be evaluated, 
and occasionally assess the quality 
of their own work against the 
assessment criteria and 
performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of the class 
as a whole but elicits no diagnostic 
information; feedback to students 
is uneven and inconsistent in its 
timeliness.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and performance standards 
by which their work will be 
evaluated, and frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment criteria 
and performance standards. Teacher 
monitors the progress of groups of 
students in the curriculum, making 
limited use of diagnostic prompts to 
elicit information; feedback is 
timely, consistent, and of high 
quality.  

 
Students are fully aware of the 
criteria and standards by which 
their work will be evaluated, have 
contributed to the development of 
the criteria, frequently assess and 
monitor the quality of their own 
work against the assessment 
criteria and performance standards, 
and make active use of that 
information in their learning. 
Teacher actively and 
systematically elicits diagnostic 
information from individual 
students regarding understanding 
and monitors progress of 
individual students; feedback is 
timely, high quality, and students 
use feedback in their learning.  
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix H 



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Amidon  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Amidon  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but make sure 
to keep the odd number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Columbia Heights  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Columbia Heights  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Non-Compliant
AppleTree is in progress of obtaining an 
updated Certificate of Occupancy for the 
Columbia Heights campus.

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep the 
odd number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Douglass Knoll  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Douglass Knoll  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep the 
odd number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Lincoln Park  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Lincoln Park  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep the 
odd number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Oklahoma Avenue  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Oklahoma Avenue  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Non-Compliant
AppleTree is in progress of obtaining an 
updated Certificate of Occupancy for the 
Oklahoma Avenue campus.

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep the 
odd number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School-- Parklands  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School-- Parklands  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Non-Compliant
AppleTree is in progress of obtaining an 
updated Certificate of Occupancy for the 
Parklands campus.

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep odd 
number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Riverside  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment of New Students

Fair enrollment process.
Enrollment application; written 
lottery procedures with dates for 
enrollment process.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06. Compliant

Pursuant to the School Reform Act of 1995 
(Sec 38-1802.06) as amended, a charter 
school may not limit enrollment based on 
student's race, color, religion and other 
factors. The request for potty training 
violates open enrollment and must be 
removed from the application and 
resubmitted to the PCSB.

Student Suspension and Expulsion

Notice and due process.

Current year student handbook or 
other written document that 
outlines the school's discipline 
policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents.  

Compliant

Student Health Records
Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff .

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications.

Compliant

Background Checks on Employees and Volunteers

Health and safety of students.

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
of date background check 
conducted and that a copy of the 
report is on file.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4). Compliant

Employee Handbook

Employment policies and the protection 
of confidential information.

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school.

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, FERPA, the Public 
Education Reform Amendment Act of 
2007, and applicable state and federal 
employment laws.

Compliant

Health and safety of students.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 
2007.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School--Riverside  
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2011-2012

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Insurance

Appropriate insurance. Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4). Compliant

School Facility

Certificate of occupancy.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - a Certificate 
of Occupancy is required at opening and 
for a relocation to a new facility.

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) - lease or 
purchase agreement is required at 
opening, for a relocation to a new 
facility, and for amendments to a lease 
once it expires.

Compliant

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

School quality and choice.

Communication with parents on 
school's compliance with NCLB 
before September 1 or within 14  
days of school AYP results. 

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance. Compliant N/A for AppleTree

High quality teachers.

For Title I schools, current year 
teacher roster with grade and 
subject(s) taught, HQ status, and 
how the status was met (HOUSSE, 
Praxis, Degree, 
License/Certificate); action plans 
for all non-HQT staff.

Compliance with NCLB and ESEA 
guidance to ensure that all elementary 
and secondary subject area teachers are 
highly qualified.

Compliant N/A for AppleTree

Board of Trustees

Composition. Board roster with names and titles. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Non-Compliant

One more current parent board member is 
needed (currently there is 1 ), but keep odd 
number composition.

Fiduciary Duty. Board meeting minutes. Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05. Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement and 
certificate of occupancy.



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Amidon 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Amidon 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

In Progress
School has filed an application for an 
updated Certificate of Occupancy with 
DCRA.

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Amidon 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Douglas Knoll 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Douglas Knoll 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Douglas Knoll 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Lincoln Park 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Lincoln Park 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Lincoln Park 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Oklahoma Ave. 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Oklahoma Ave. 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Oklahoma Ave. 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Parklands 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Parklands 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

In Progress
School has filed an application for an 
updated Certificate of Occupancy with 
DCRA.

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Parklands 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Enrollment application for SY 
2013-2014 Compliant

Written lottery procedures Compliant

Notice and Due Process (suspension 
and expulsion)

Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures.

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

Compliant

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 Compliant

School Emergency Response Plan Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) Compliant

Student Safety

Student Health
Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

Fair Enrollment Process Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06

Compliant



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school, including employee 
handling of student records

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

Compliant

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) Compliant

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

Compliant

Lease/Purchase Agreement Compliant

Basic Business License Compliant

High Quality Teachers: Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

N/A 

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility



AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School - Riverside 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2012-2013

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster with names and titles Compliant

Board meeting minutes submitted Compliant

Board calendar with meeting dates Compliant

Board Bylaws Compliant

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 Compliant

School Organization School Organization Chart Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
nonapplicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) Compliant

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) N/A

Submission of Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2011-2012) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) Compliant

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) Compliant

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Columbia Heights 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Disicpline Policy and Due Process
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

COMPLIANT

Attendance Policy
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
attendance policy and procedures

Compliance with the Attendance 
Accountability Amendment Act; fidelity 
to the school's charter

COMPLIANT

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 COMPLIANT

School Emergency Response Plan 
(Assurance letter)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

COMPLIANT

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Columbia Heights 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

COMPLIANT

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) COMPLIANT

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

COMPLIANT

Lease/Purchase Agreement 
(submitted for new campuses or 
new leases only)

COMPLIANT

Basic Business License COMPLIANT

Highly Qualified Teachers: 
Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

COMPLIANT

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Columbia Heights 
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster COMPLIANT

Board meeting minutes submitted COMPLIANT

Board calendar with meeting dates COMPLIANT

Board Bylaws (submitted for new 
LEAs or revised bylaws only) COMPLIANT

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation (submitted 
for new LEAs or revisions only)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 COMPLIANT

Special Education Continuum of Services Chart Compliance with DCMR Rule 5-E3012 
and IDEA §300.115 COMPLIANT

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
non-applicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a); school's charter N/A

Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2012-2013) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) COMPLIANT

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) COMPLIANT

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Oklahoma Ave
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Disicpline Policy and Due Process
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

COMPLIANT

Attendance Policy
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
attendance policy and procedures

Compliance with the Attendance 
Accountability Amendment Act; fidelity 
to the school's charter

COMPLIANT

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 COMPLIANT

School Emergency Response Plan 
(Assurance letter)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

COMPLIANT

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Oklahoma Ave
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

COMPLIANT

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) COMPLIANT

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

COMPLIANT

Lease/Purchase Agreement 
(submitted for new campuses or 
new leases only)

COMPLIANT

Basic Business License COMPLIANT

Highly Qualified Teachers: 
Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

COMPLIANT

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning PCS –  Oklahoma Ave
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster COMPLIANT

Board meeting minutes submitted COMPLIANT

Board calendar with meeting dates COMPLIANT

Board Bylaws (submitted for new 
LEAs or revised bylaws only) COMPLIANT

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation (submitted 
for new LEAs or revisions only)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 COMPLIANT

Special Education Continuum of Services Chart Compliance with DCMR Rule 5-E3012 
and IDEA §300.115 COMPLIANT

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
non-applicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a); school's charter N/A

Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2012-2013) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) COMPLIANT

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) COMPLIANT

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southeast
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Disicpline Policy and Due Process
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

COMPLIANT

Attendance Policy
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
attendance policy and procedures

Compliance with the Attendance 
Accountability Amendment Act; fidelity 
to the school's charter

COMPLIANT

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 COMPLIANT

School Emergency Response Plan 
(Assurance letter)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

COMPLIANT

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southeast
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

COMPLIANT

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) COMPLIANT

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

COMPLIANT

Lease/Purchase Agreement 
(submitted for new campuses or 
new leases only)

COMPLIANT

Basic Business License COMPLIANT

Highly Qualified Teachers: 
Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

COMPLIANT

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southeast
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster COMPLIANT

Board meeting minutes submitted COMPLIANT

Board calendar with meeting dates COMPLIANT

Board Bylaws (submitted for new 
LEAs or revised bylaws only) COMPLIANT

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation (submitted 
for new LEAs or revisions only)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 COMPLIANT

Special Education Continuum of Services Chart Compliance with DCMR Rule 5-E3012 
and IDEA §300.115 COMPLIANT

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
non-applicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a); school's charter N/A

Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2012-2013) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) COMPLIANT

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) COMPLIANT

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southwest
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Disicpline Policy and Due Process
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

COMPLIANT

Attendance Policy
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
attendance policy and procedures

Compliance with the Attendance 
Accountability Amendment Act; fidelity 
to the school's charter

COMPLIANT

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 COMPLIANT

School Emergency Response Plan 
(Assurance letter)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

COMPLIANT

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southwest
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

COMPLIANT

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) COMPLIANT

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

COMPLIANT

Lease/Purchase Agreement 
(submitted for new campuses or 
new leases only)

COMPLIANT

Basic Business License COMPLIANT

Highly Qualified Teachers: 
Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

COMPLIANT

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning PCS – Southwest
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster COMPLIANT

Board meeting minutes submitted COMPLIANT

Board calendar with meeting dates COMPLIANT

Board Bylaws (submitted for new 
LEAs or revised bylaws only) COMPLIANT

Articles of Incorporation Articles of Incorporation (submitted 
for new LEAs or revisions only)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 COMPLIANT

Special Education Continuum of Services Chart Compliance with DCMR Rule 5-E3012 
and IDEA §300.115 COMPLIANT

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
non-applicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a); school's charter N/A

Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2012-2013) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) COMPLIANT

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) COMPLIANT

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



AppleTree Early Learning PCS - Lincoln Park
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Disicpline Policy and Due Process
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
discipline policy and procedures

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.06 (g); guidance for 
PCSB staff when contacted by parents  

COMPLIANT

Attendance Policy
Student handbook or other written 
document that outlines the school's 
attendance policy and procedures

Compliance with the Attendance 
Accountability Amendment Act; fidelity 
to the school's charter

COMPLIANT

Option 1: Notice of assigned nurse 
on staff 

Option 2: Copy of staff certificate 
to administer medications

Current roster of all employees and 
volunteers (working greater than 10 
hours at the school) with indication 
that background check has been 
conducted

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Sexual Violation Protocol 
Assurance Policy

Compliance with Mandated Reporter 
laws in DC Code Section 4-1321.02 COMPLIANT

School Emergency Response Plan 
(Assurance letter)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) COMPLIANT

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4) and the 
Student Access to Treatment Act of 2007

COMPLIANT

Student Safety

Student Health



AppleTree Early Learning PCS - Lincoln Park
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Charter School Employees

Employee handbook or other 
written document on policies and 
procedures governing employment 
at the school

Compliance with School Reform Act  
Section 38-1802.04, 38-1802.07, 
FERPA, the Public Education Reform 
Amendment Act of 2007, and applicable 
state and federal employment laws

COMPLIANT

Insurance Certification that appropriate levels 
of insurance have been secured

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (b)(4) COMPLIANT

Certificate of occupancy with an 
occupant load equal or greater than 
the number of students and staff in 
the building

IN PROGRESS

 Certificate load is not equal or greater to the 
number of students plus staff that could be in 
the building on a given day.  School is 
applying for an updated Certificate with 
DCRA

Lease/Purchase Agreement 
(submitted for new campuses or 
new leases only)

COMPLIANT

Basic Business License COMPLIANT

Highly Qualified Teachers: 
Elementary and Secondary 
Education Act (ESEA)

For Title I schools, teacher roster 
with HQ status, and how the status 
was met; action plans indicated for 
all non-HQT staff

Compliance with ESEA guidance to 
ensure that all elementary and secondary 
subject area teachers are highly qualified

COMPLIANT (N/A)

Occupancy, Lease and License for 
the Facility

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c)(4)



AppleTree Early Learning PCS - Lincoln Park
COMPLIANCE  REVIEW REPORT

2013-2014

INDICATOR DOCUMENTATION RATIONALE COMPLIANCE 
STATUS COMMENTS

Board roster COMPLIANT

Board meeting minutes submitted COMPLIANT

Board calendar with meeting dates COMPLIANT

Board Bylaws (submitted for new 
LEAs or revised bylaws only) COMPLIANT

Articles of Incorporation
Articles of Incorporation 
(submitted for new LEAs or 
revisions only)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 COMPLIANT

Special Education Continuum of Services Chart Compliance with DCMR Rule 5-E3012 
and IDEA §300.115 COMPLIANT

Litigation Status Litigation Proceedings Calendar (or 
non-applicable memo)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

School Calendar School Calendar Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a) COMPLIANT

High School Courses for Graduation High School Course Offering Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.11 (a); school's charter N/A

Annual Report Annual Report (SY 2012-2013) Compliance with the School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.04 (c) (11) COMPLIANT

Accreditation Status
Letter or license of accreditation or 
seeking accreditation (schools at 
least 5 years in operation)

Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.02 (16) COMPLIANT

Fiduciary Duty: Board of Trustees Compliance with School Reform Act 
Section 38-1802.05



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#Appretree&Early&Learning&PCS&
January#15,#2015

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Charter's)Board)Calendar Compliant 7/25/14 ✔
School)Calendar Compliant 7/25/14 ✔
Quarterly)Financial)Statements)=)4th Compliant 7/31/14 ✔
Annual)Teacher)and)Principal)Evaluation)Reflection)(LEA) Compliant 8/15/14 ✔
Auditor)Engagement)Letter Compliant 8/15/14 ✔
Annual)Report)SY2013=2014 Compliant 9/5/14 ✔
Professional)Development)Calendar)(Title)I)Schools) Compliant 9/30/14 ✔
Accreditation Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Board)Roster Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Child)Find)Policy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Employee)Handbook:)Employment)Policies Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Litigation)Proceedings)Calendar Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Student)Handbook Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Board)Meeting)Approved)Minutes Compliant 10/24/14 ✔
Quarterly)Financial)Statements)=)1st Compliant 10/31/14 ✔
Audited)Financial)Statements Compliant 11/3/14 ✔
Audited)Financial)Statements)=)FAR)Data)Entry)Form Compliant 11/7/14 ✔
Certificate)of)Insurance Compliant 11/21/14 ✔



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#AppleTree'Early'Learning'PCS'2'Columbia'Heights'

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Fire%Drills Compliant 7/25/14 ✔

Annual%Teacher%and%Principal%Evaluation%Reflection%(Campus) Compliant 8/1/14 ✔
Charter%School%Athletics%Compliance Compliant 8/31/14 ✔
Early%Childhood%(EC)%PMF%Assessment%Selection%Form Compliant 10/1/14 ✔
Basic%Business%License Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Certificate%of%Occupancy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Lease/Purchase%Agreement%M%Certification%of%Completion Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Emergency%Response%Plan Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Nurse%Notification%OR%Certified%Staff%to%Administer%
Medication Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Sexual%Violation%Protocol%Assurance%Letter Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
SPEDMContinuum%of%Services Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Staff/Volunteer%Roster%and%Background%Checks%M%10/10/2014 Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Fire%Drills Compliant 12/5/14 ✔



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#AppleTree'Early'Learning'PCS'2'Lincoln'Park'

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Fire%Drills Compliant 7/25/14 ✔

Annual%Teacher%and%Principal%Evaluation%Reflection%(Campus) Compliant 8/1/14 ✔
Charter%School%Athletics%Compliance Compliant 8/31/14 ✔
Early%Childhood%(EC)%PMF%Assessment%Selection%Form Compliant 10/1/14 ✔
Basic%Business%License Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Certificate%of%Occupancy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Lease/Purchase%Agreement%M%Certification%of%Completion Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Emergency%Response%Plan Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Nurse%Notification%OR%Certified%Staff%to%Administer%
Medication Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Sexual%Violation%Protocol%Assurance%Letter Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
SPEDMContinuum%of%Services Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Staff/Volunteer%Roster%and%Background%Checks%M%10/10/2014 Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Fire%Drills Compliant 12/5/14 ✔



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#AppleTree'Early'Learning'PCS'2'Oklahoma'Ave'

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Fire%Drills Compliant 7/25/14 ✔

Annual%Teacher%and%Principal%Evaluation%Reflection%(Campus) Compliant 8/1/14 ✔
Charter%School%Athletics%Compliance Compliant 8/31/14 ✔
Early%Childhood%(EC)%PMF%Assessment%Selection%Form Compliant 10/1/14 ✔
Basic%Business%License Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Certificate%of%Occupancy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Lease/Purchase%Agreement%M%Certification%of%Completion Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Emergency%Response%Plan Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Nurse%Notification%OR%Certified%Staff%to%Administer%
Medication Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Sexual%Violation%Protocol%Assurance%Letter Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
SPEDMContinuum%of%Services Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Staff/Volunteer%Roster%and%Background%Checks%M%10/10/2014 Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Fire%Drills Compliant 12/5/14 ✔



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#AppleTree'Early'Learning'PCS'2'Southeast''

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Fire%Drills Compliant 7/25/14 ✔

Annual%Teacher%and%Principal%Evaluation%Reflection%(Campus) Compliant 8/1/14 ✔
Charter%School%Athletics%Compliance Compliant 8/31/14 ✔
Early%Childhood%(EC)%PMF%Assessment%Selection%Form Compliant 10/1/14 ✔
Basic%Business%License Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Certificate%of%Occupancy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Lease/Purchase%Agreement%M%Certification%of%Completion Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Emergency%Response%Plan Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Nurse%Notification%OR%Certified%Staff%to%Administer%
Medication Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Sexual%Violation%Protocol%Assurance%Letter Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
SPEDMContinuum%of%Services Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Staff/Volunteer%Roster%and%Background%Checks%M%10/10/2014 Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Fire%Drills Compliant 12/5/14 ✔



SY#2014(2015#DC#Public#Charter#School#Board#Compliance#Review#Report
For#LEA/Campus:#AppleTree'Early'Learning'PCS'2'Southwest'

Requirement Compliance#Status Due On#Time
Fire%Drills Compliant 7/25/14 ✔

Annual%Teacher%and%Principal%Evaluation%Reflection%(Campus) Compliant 8/1/14 ✔
Charter%School%Athletics%Compliance Compliant 8/31/14 ✔
Early%Childhood%(EC)%PMF%Assessment%Selection%Form Compliant 10/1/14 ✔
Basic%Business%License Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Certificate%of%Occupancy Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Lease/Purchase%Agreement%M%Certification%of%Completion Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Emergency%Response%Plan Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Sexual%Violation%Protocol%Assurance%Letter Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
SPEDMContinuum%of%Services Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
Staff/Volunteer%Roster%and%Background%Checks%M%10/10/2014 Compliant 10/10/14 ✔
School%Nurse%Notification%OR%Certified%Staff%to%Administer%
Medication Compliant 11/21/14 ✔
Fire%Drills Compliant 12/5/14 ✔



2014%15'Compliance'Review'Requirements

Requirement Description

2014%15'School'Calendar

Calendar'must'include'the'following:

%minimum'180'days'of'school'(6+'hours)

%first'and'last'day'of'school'listed

%start'and'end'times'listed

%instructional'days'and'holidays'listed

%make%up'days'for'inclement'weather'listed

%indicate'staggered'start'dates'if'applicable'

*If'different'campuses'within'the'LEA'have'different'calendar'days,'please'make'note'on'the'calendar,'or'submit'

separate'calendars'for'each'campus

Charter'Board'Calendar
List'of'all'days'the'Board'of'Trustees'is'scheduled'to'meet'for'the'2014%2015'school'year'(this'schedule'should'reflect'

what'is'in'the'school's'bylaws)

High'School'Course'Offering%%Assurance All'courses'and'credits'offered'to'high'school'students;'include'graduation'requirements

Fire'Drill'Schedule

Fire'drill'schedule

%Must'include'TWO'drills'within'the'first'two'weeks'of'the'school'year

%monthly'thereafter'(total'of'10'per'year)

Audited'Financial'Statement'Engagement'

Letter'%'FY2015

The'annual'examination'and'evaluation'of'the'financial'statements'of'a'charter'school.''The'audit'is'performed'by'a'

PCSB'approved'auditor.

Monthly'Financial'Statements'%'FY2015
Statement'of'Activities'and'Statement'of'Financial'Position'(for'the'period'ending'and'year%to%date).'The'files'must'be'

submitted'in'Excel.'

Charter'School'Athletics'Compliance
Evidence'that'appropriate'medical/'trainer'personnel'are'present'at'every'interscholastic'sporting'event;'fill'out'the'

template'provided

'Annual'Report

2013%14'Annual'Report'includes:

%Narrative'(description'of'performance'and'progress;'goal'attainment;'school'program)

%Data'Report

%Appendices'(staff'roster;'board'roster;'financials)

Monthly'Financial'Statements'%'FY2015
Statement'of'Activities'and'Statement'of'Financial'Position'(for'the'period'ending'and'year%to%date).'The'files'must'be'

submitted'in'Excel.'

ESEA'Focus'and'Priority'Schools'(Cohort'I):'

Update'web%based'Intervention/Turnaround'

Plan

Assurance'letter'stating'that'the'school'has'updated'their'Improvement'plan'in'web%based'tool.

ESEA'Focus'Schools:'web%based'Sub%group'

Intervention'Plan
Assurance'letter'stating'that'the'school'uploaded'their'plan'for'supporting'Focus'sub%groups'into'web%based'tool



2014%15'Compliance'Review'Requirements

Requirement Description

Professional'Development'Calendar,'Title'I'

schools

Include'all'activities'related'to'professional'development.''(As'part'of'its'accountability'functions'under'Title'I,'Part'A'of'

ESEA'for'District'public'charter'schools,'PCSB'must'review,'at'least'annually,'each'public'charter'school’s'activities'

related'to'professional'development.)

Early'Childhood'Assessments

EC'PMF'assessment'form'indicating'what'assessments'the'school'plans'to'administer'for'the'current'school'year.'''Each'

school'with'early'childhood'grades'(PK3%2)'must'let'PCSB'know'which'assessments'the'school'will'be'held'accountable'

to'for'the'EC'PMF.

Certificate'of'Occupancy
Includes'school'name'and'current'address;

Occupancy2load2on2form2is2equal2to2or2greater'than2the2sum2of2staff2and2students

Insurance'Certificate

Includes:'general'liability,'directors'and'officers'liability,'umbrella'coverage,'property/lease'insurance,'auto'liability'

insurance,'workers'compensation'(or'all'coverage'listed'in'school's'charter2agreement);'should'include'all'addresses/'
campuses'of'an'LEA

Basic'Business'License Current'Basic'Business'License

School'Nurse'Notification'OR'Certified'Staff'

to'Administer'Medicine

DOH'notice'of'assigned'nurse'on'staff;'OR

copy'of'staff'certificate'to'administer'medications'(not'expired)

Board'Roster

Board'makeup'must'include:

%Odd'number'of'voting'members'(odd'number'of'voting'members/'doesn’t'include'ex%officio)

%Greater'than'3'but'no'more'than'15

%Majority'of'members'residing'in'DC'(include'address'or'city'of'residence)

%2'parent'members'(voting'members)'*'

*Adult'schools'may'use'alumnae'or'adult'students'to'satisfy'the'parent'requirement

Litigation'Proceedings'Calendar

Includes'schedule'of'litigation'or'federal'complaints'issued'against'the'school,'includes:''SPED%related'legal'

proceedings,'settlement'agreements,'and'hearing'officer'decisions'pending'or'occuring'in'the'past'school'year;'federal'

complaints'issued'against'the'school'within'the'past'year;'or'non%applicable'memo

Board'Meeting'Minutes%%1st'Quarter
Minutes'from'all'board'meetings'held/'approved'between'July'and'October'2014;'should'reflect'decisions'made'by'the'

Board'that'are'consistent'with'the'Charter'granted'to'the'school,'the'School'Reform'Act,'and'applicable'law

School'Emergency'Response'Plan

Evidence'or'assurance'that'the'school'worked'with'Student'Support'Center'to'develop'their'Emergency'Response'Plan.

OR,'an'assurance'letter'confirming'that'the'school'has'established'procedures,'protocol'and'drills'in'order'to'respond'

to'potential'crises'(i.e.,'fire,'tornado,'earthquake,'hurricane,'lockdown,'active'shooter,'health'outbreak/'communicable'

diseases).'The'plan'must'be'aligned'with'the'guidelines'of''agencies'such'as'Fire'and'EMS,'MPD,'and'CFSA.

Sexual'Violation'Protocol

An'assurance'letter'confirming'that'the'school's'policy'regarding'sexual'violations'has'been'read'by'all'staff'members

*Should'confirm'staff's'understanding'of'their'obligation'for'reporting'sexual'abuse'of'student.



2014%15'Compliance'Review'Requirements

Requirement Description

Child'Find'Policy

An'LEA’s'Child'Find'procedures'should'include,'but'is'not'limited'to,'a'written'description'of'how'the'LEA'conducts:'

•'Part'C'Identification'(if'applicable'to'your'student'population)%'Assessment,'Obtaining'Consent,'Determining'

Eligibility,'Referral,'Evaluation,'Assessment'

•'Part'B'Identification%'Transitioning'students'from'Part'C'to'Part'B'(if'applicable'to'your'student'population),'Public'

Awareness,'Screening,'Referral,'Evaluation,'Assessment''

Staff'Roster'&'Background'Checks

Staff/volunteer'name,'position,'indication'that'background'check'has'been'conducted'within'the'past'TWO2years

*All'volunteers'working'more'than'10'hrs/'week'must'have'background'checks

Employee'Handbook'(or'submit'individual'

policies)

Includes'school'board%approved'policies'around'compliance'with'applicable'employment'laws'including:

*sexual'harassment'

*equal'opportunity

*drug%free'workplace

*complaint'Resolution'Process

*Whistle'blower'Policy'(best'practice,'not'mandatory)

Accreditation

Letter'and/or'license'of'accreditation;'or

memo'explaining'where'in'the'process'the'school'is'(undergoing'accreditation);

Schools'not'yet'5'years'old'may'submit'an'N/A'memo'if'they'have'not'begun'the'accreditation'process

SPED%%Continuum'of'Services Description'of'the'school's'continuum'of'services'available'to'students'with'disabilities'(template'accurately'filled'out)

Student'Handbook

or'submit'policies:''

*Discipline'Policy

*Attendance'Policy

*Safeguard'of'Student'Information

Discipline2Policy
<clear'explanation'of'infractions
%clear'explanation'of'consequences'(basis'for'suspensions/'expulsions)

%manifestation'determination'process'for'students'with'disabilities

%due'process'and'appeals'procedures'for'student/'parents'for'disciplinary'incidents

Attendance2Policy
<clear'explanation'of'consequences'of'tardiness'and'absences
%clear'explanation'of'what'constitutes'an'excused'absence'(including'documentation'required)'

%aligned'with'state'law'(i.e.,'truancy'mandatory'reporting,'Attendance'Accountability'Act'of'2013)

Safeguard2of2Student2Information2Policy%%aligns'with'FERPA'regulations

Lease Lease

Charter'Renewal'Application PCSB'requests'that'schools'submit'charter'renewal'applications'by'this'suggested'date

Enrollment'Ceiling'Increase'Request Request'to'increase'maximum'student'enrollment'level'beyond'what'is'currently'in'the'charter

Charter'Amendment Submission'of'requests'and'notifications'of'changes'in'the'charter'agreement'(refer'to'charter'amendment'guidelines)



2014%15'Compliance'Review'Requirements

Requirement Description

Monthly'Financial'Statements'%'FY2015
Statement'of'Activities'and'Statement'of'Financial'Position'(for'the'period'ending'and'year%to%date).'The'files'must'be'

submitted'in'Excel.'

Quarterly'Financial'Statements'%'FY2015
Statement'of'Activities'and'Statement'of'Financial'Position'(for'the'period'ending'and'year%to%date).'The'files'must'be'

submitted'in'Excel.'

Audited'Financial'Statements
The'annual'examination'and'evaluation'of'the'financial'statements'of'a'charter'school.''The'audit'is'performed'by'a'

PCSB'approved'auditor.

Audited'Financial'Statements'%'FAR'Data'

Entry'Form

Use'the'FAR'Data'Entry'Form'to'upload'data'from'your'school's'financial'statement'for'the'Finance'and'Audit'Review'

report.

Monthly'Financial'Statements'%'FY2015
Statement'of'Activities'and'Statement'of'Financial'Position'(for'the'period'ending'and'year%to%date).'The'files'must'be'

submitted'in'Excel.'

Annual'Financial'Audit'%'PCSB'Schedules'%'

FY2014

Submission'of'functional'expense'schedule'and'contracts'schedule'using'PCSB'template.''The'file'must''be'submitted'in'

Excel.

Enrollment'Projections Forecast'of'the'student'enrollment'for'the'subsequent'school'year.''It'must'be'submitted'in'Excel.''

ESEA'Focus'and'Priority'Schools'(Cohort'I):'

Update'web%based'Intervention/Turnaround'

Plan

Update%%Assurance'letter'stating'that'the'school'has'updated'their'Improvement'plan'in'web%based'tool.

2015%2016'Student'Application

Application'may'only'ask:'student'name,'date'of'birth,'grade'level,'address,'gender,'siblings'currently'attending'school;'

parent/guardian'name,'parent/'guardian'address,'parent/'guardian'phone'number

Must'NOT'contain'questions'referring'to'IEPs'or'SPED,'birth'certificate,'report'cards,'nationality,'race,'language,'

interview

*should'include'a'non%discrimination'clause'

2015%2016'Lottery'Procedures
Lottery'date;'explanation'of'provisions'for'waitlisted'students;'provisions'for'notifying'students'of'placement

Fire'Drills'Conducted List'of'dates'the'school'has'conducted'a'fire'drill'thus'far'in'the'year;'tentative'dates'for'drills'for'remainder'of'year
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ENCLOSURE 2 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR (FFY) 2010 IDEA PART B LEA PERFORMANCE DETERMINATIONS 
 

LEA: AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School  

Final Percentage 
Rating: 90% 

 
Determination Level: 

 
Meets Requirements 

 
                                            SUMMARY OF EACH REQUIRED ELEMENT AND RATING ASSIGNED 

Item 
Number Element 

 
 

Determination 
 
 

Number of 
Points 
Earned 

1 

History, nature and length of 
time of any reported 
noncompliance (APR Indicators 
4b, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13) 

x Indicator 4b – N/A  
x Indicator 9 –  N/A  
x Indicator 10 –  N/A  
x Indicator 11 – not in compliance  
x Indicator 12 –  N/A  
x Indicator 13 –  N/A  

           0 

2 

 
Information regarding timely, 
valid and reliable data 

 

 
x All data are valid and reliable and 

submitted timely 
 

           4 

3a 

 
Identified noncompliance from 
on-site compliance monitoring 
and/or  focused monitoring  
(student and/or LEA level) 
 

x LEA did not receive a report in FFY 
2010 as the result of an on-site 
monitoring visit 

     N/A 

3b 

 
Dispute resolution findings 
(student and/or LEA level) 
 

 

x No dispute resolution complaints 
were filed against the LEA.      N/A 



 
 

 2 

4 

 
Outcomes of sub-recipient audit 
reports 

 

 
x Timely submission of A-133 Report (if 

applicable) – 4 points 
x Type of Auditor’s A-133 Report Issued 

on Compliance (if applicable) – 4 points 
x Significant deficiencies identified by the 

Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points  

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points  

x Auditor’s designation as low-risk sub-
recipient in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 0 points 

x Significant deficiencies identified by the 
Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the annual independent 
audit – 4 points 

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the annual independent audit 
– 4 points 

x Noncompliance or other matters 
identified by the Auditor that is required 
to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standard – 4 points 

 

 
 
      3.5 
(average 
points) 

5 
 

 
Other data available to OSSE 
regarding the LEA’s compliance 
with the IDEA, including, but not 
limited to, relevant financial data 

 

 
x Timely submission of Phase I and II 

Applications and the sub-recipient 
sought valid reimbursement for a 
minimum of 45% of its IDEA, Section 
611 funds within the first fifteen 
months of the FFY 2010 grant cycle 

 

        4 

6 
Compliance with the IDEA 
Maintenance of Effort (MOE) 
requirement 

 
x LEA in compliance with the IDEA 

Maintenance of Effort (MOE) 
requirement and reported on MOE 
to OSSE timely 

 

        2 

7 

 
Performance on selected District 
of Columbia State Performance 
Plan (SPP) indicators 

 

 
x LEA did not meet minimum “n” size 

for disability subgroup 
 

x The LEA did not serve students in 
this category 

 

      
     N/A 
 
 
     N/A 

         



 
 

 3 

 
 

8 

 
Evidence of correction of findings 
of noncompliance, including 
progress toward full compliance 
(points added to total score) 

 
x The LEA did not receive any findings 

of noncompliance from FFY 2009 
that were due for correction in FFY 
2010 

 

 
     N/A 

Total Number of Points Earned + Additional Points 13.50 

Total Possible Points from Applicable Elements 15 

 
Percentage of Points from Applicable Elements 

 
90% 

 



 
 

ENCLOSURE 2 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR (FFY) 2010 IDEA PART B LEA PERFORMANCE DETERMINATIONS 
 

LEA: AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School  

Final Percentage 
Rating: 90% 

 
Determination Level: 

 
Meets Requirements 

 
                                            SUMMARY OF EACH REQUIRED ELEMENT AND RATING ASSIGNED 

Item 
Number Element 

 
 

Determination 
 
 

Number of 
Points 
Earned 

1 

History, nature and length of 
time of any reported 
noncompliance (APR Indicators 
4b, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13) 

x Indicator 4b – N/A  
x Indicator 9 –  N/A  
x Indicator 10 –  N/A  
x Indicator 11 – not in compliance  
x Indicator 12 –  N/A  
x Indicator 13 –  N/A  

           0 

2 

 
Information regarding timely, 
valid and reliable data 

 

 
x All data are valid and reliable and 

submitted timely 
 

           4 

3a 

 
Identified noncompliance from 
on-site compliance monitoring 
and/or  focused monitoring  
(student and/or LEA level) 
 

x LEA did not receive a report in FFY 
2010 as the result of an on-site 
monitoring visit 

     N/A 

3b 

 
Dispute resolution findings 
(student and/or LEA level) 
 

 

x No dispute resolution complaints 
were filed against the LEA.      N/A 



 
 

 2 

4 

 
Outcomes of sub-recipient audit 
reports 

 

 
x Timely submission of A-133 Report (if 

applicable) – 4 points 
x Type of Auditor’s A-133 Report Issued 

on Compliance (if applicable) – 4 points 
x Significant deficiencies identified by the 

Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points  

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points  

x Auditor’s designation as low-risk sub-
recipient in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 0 points 

x Significant deficiencies identified by the 
Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the annual independent 
audit – 4 points 

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the annual independent audit 
– 4 points 

x Noncompliance or other matters 
identified by the Auditor that is required 
to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standard – 4 points 

 

 
 
      3.5 
(average 
points) 

5 
 

 
Other data available to OSSE 
regarding the LEA’s compliance 
with the IDEA, including, but not 
limited to, relevant financial data 

 

 
x Timely submission of Phase I and II 

Applications and the sub-recipient 
sought valid reimbursement for a 
minimum of 45% of its IDEA, Section 
611 funds within the first fifteen 
months of the FFY 2010 grant cycle 

 

        4 

6 
Compliance with the IDEA 
Maintenance of Effort (MOE) 
requirement 

 
x LEA in compliance with the IDEA 

Maintenance of Effort (MOE) 
requirement and reported on MOE 
to OSSE timely 

 

        2 

7 

 
Performance on selected District 
of Columbia State Performance 
Plan (SPP) indicators 

 

 
x LEA did not meet minimum “n” size 

for disability subgroup 
 

x The LEA did not serve students in 
this category 

 

      
     N/A 
 
 
     N/A 

         



 
 

 3 

 
 

8 

 
Evidence of correction of findings 
of noncompliance, including 
progress toward full compliance 
(points added to total score) 

 
x The LEA did not receive any findings 

of noncompliance from FFY 2009 
that were due for correction in FFY 
2010 

 

 
     N/A 

Total Number of Points Earned + Additional Points 13.50 

Total Possible Points from Applicable Elements 15 

 
Percentage of Points from Applicable Elements 

 
90% 

 



 
 

ENCLOSURE 2 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR (FFY) 2011 IDEA PART B LEA PERFORMANCE DETERMINATIONS 
 

LEA: Apple Tree Early Learning Center PCS 

Final Percentage 
Rating: 71% 

 
Determination Level: 

 
Needs Assistance 

 
                                            SUMMARY OF EACH REQUIRED ELEMENT AND RATING ASSIGNED 

Element  Element Description  

 
 

Determination 
 
 

 
Number of 

Points 
Achieved  

Number of 
Points 

Possible 

1 
History, nature and length of time of 
any reported noncompliance (APR 
Indicators 4b, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13) 

 
• Indicator 4b – N/A 
• Indicator 9 –  N/A  
• Indicator 10 – N/A 
• Indicator 11 – Not in compliance 
• Indicator 12 – N/A 
• Indicator 13 – N/A 

0 1 

2 

 
Information regarding timely, valid and 
reliable data 

 

 
• All data are submitted timely  

 
4 4 

3a 

 
Identified noncompliance from on-site 
compliance monitoring and/or  focused 
monitoring  
 

 
• Less than 75% of reviewed student 

files in compliance  
 

0 2 

3b 

 
 
Dispute resolution findings  
 

 

 
 

• No dispute resolution complaints 
were filed against the LEA 

 
 

N/A N/A 



 
 

 2 

4 

 
Outcomes of sub-recipient audit 
reports 

 

 
• Timely submission of A-133 Report (if 

applicable) – 4 points 
• Type of Auditor’s A-133 Report Issued 

on Compliance (if applicable) – 4 points 
• Significant deficiencies identified by 

the Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points 

• Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 4 points 

• Auditor’s designation as low-risk sub-
recipient in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – 0 points 

• Significant deficiencies identified by 
the Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the annual independent 
audit – 4 points 

• Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the annual independent 
audit – 4 points 

• Noncompliance or other matters 
identified by the Auditor that is 
required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standard – 4 
points 

 

 
 
 

3.5 (average 
points) 

 
 
 

4 (average 
points) 

5 
 

 
Other data available to OSSE regarding 
the LEA’s compliance with the IDEA, 
including, but not limited to, relevant 
financial data 

 

 
 
• Timely LEA submission of Phase I and 

Phase II applications and 
reimbursement for a minimum of 45% 
of its IDEA, Section 611 funds within 
the first 15 months of the FFY 2011 
grants cycle 
 

4 4 

6 Compliance with the IDEA Maintenance 
of Effort (MOE) requirement 

 
 
• LEA in compliance with the IDEA MOE 

requirement and LEA reported on MOE 
to OSSE timely 
 

2 2 

7 

 
Performance on selected District of 
Columbia State Performance Plan (SPP) 
indicators 

 
 

 
• LEA did not meet minimum “n” size for 

disability subgroup 
  

0 0 



 
 

 3 

 
8 

 
Evidence of correction of findings of 
noncompliance, including progress 
toward full compliance  
 

• Less than 90% of noncompliance 
corrected within one year after the 
identification of the noncompliance 

 

 
0 

 
2 

Total Number of Points Achieved  13.50 

Total Possible Points from Applicable Elements 19.00 

 
Percentage of Points Achieved from Applicable Elements 

 
71% 

 
 
 
 



1 

 
 

ENCLOSURE 2 
 

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR (FFY) 2012 IDEA PART B LEA PERFORMANCE DETERMINATIONS 

LEA: 
 
AppleTree Early Learning Center Public Charter School 
 

Final Percentage 
Rating: 106% 

 
Determination Level: 

 
Meets Requirements 

 
                                            SUMMARY OF EACH REQUIRED ELEMENT AND RATING ASSIGNED 

Element  Element Description  
 

Determination Criteria 
 

Number of 
Points 

Achieved 

Number of 
Points 

Possible 

1 
History, nature and length of time of 
any reported noncompliance (APR 
Indicators 4b, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13) 

 
x Indicator 4b – N/A 
x Indicator 9 –  N/A 
x Indicator 10 –  N/A 
x Indicator 11 – compliant 
x Indicator 12 –  N/A 
x Indicator 13 –  N/A 

 

1 1 

2 

 
Information regarding timely, valid 
and reliable data 

 

 
x All data are submitted timely  

 
4 4 

3a 

 
Identified noncompliance from on-site 
compliance monitoring and/or  
focused monitoring  
 

 
x LEA did not receive a report in FFY 

2012 as the result of an on-site 
monitoring visit  

 

N/A N/A 

3b 

 
 
Dispute resolution findings  
 

 

 
LEA has 26-50 students with IEPs 

x No dispute resolution complaints 
were filed against the LEA or 0-4 
findings of noncompliance  
 

2 2 



 
 

 2 

4 

 
Outcomes of sub-recipient audit 
reports 

 

 
x Timely submission of A-133 Report (if 

applicable) – N/A 
x Type of Auditor’s A-133 Report Issued 

on Compliance (if applicable) –  
x Significant deficiencies identified by 

the Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – N/A 

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – N/A 

x Auditor’s designation as low-risk sub-
recipient in the A-133 Report (if 
applicable) – N/A 

x Significant deficiencies identified by 
the Auditor that are not a material 
weakness in the annual independent 
audit – 4 

x Material weaknesses identified by the 
Auditor in the annual independent 
audit – 4 

x Noncompliance or other matters 
identified by the Auditor that is 
required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standard – 4 
 

4 4 

5 
 

 
Other data available to OSSE 
regarding the LEA’s compliance with 
the IDEA, including, but not limited to, 
relevant financial data 

 

 
x Timely LEA submission of Phase I and 

Phase II applications and 
reimbursement for a minimum of 45% 
of its IDEA, Section 611 funds within 
the first 15 months of the FFY 2012 
grants cycle 
 

4 4 

6 
Compliance with the IDEA 
Maintenance of Effort (MOE) 
requirement 

 
x LEA in compliance with the IDEA MOE 

requirement and LEA reported on MOE 
to OSSE timely 
 

2 2 

7 

 
Performance on selected District of 
Columbia State Performance Plan 
(SPP) indicators 

 

 
x LEA did not meet minimum “n” size for 

disability subgroup 
x  

N/A N/A 



 
 

 3 

8 

Evidence of correction of findings of 
noncompliance, including progress 
toward full compliance (points added 
to total score) 

 
x The LEA was not issued any 

findings of noncompliance from 
FFY 2012 that were due for 
correction in FFY 2013 
 

N/A N/A 

 
x BONUS: LEA has no longstanding 

noncompliance from FFY 2011, 
2010 and 2009 

 

1  

 
Total Number of Points Achieved 

 
18 

 
Total Possible Points from Applicable Elements 

 
17 

 
Percentage of Points Achieved from Applicable Elements 106% 
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Appendix K 



Initial Evaluation Student Noncompliance: Quarter 3 (October 1, 2012-December
31, 2012)

Agency: AppleTree Early Learning Center PCS 
Initial Release Date: 5/17/2013 
Date of Notification: 7/15/2013 
Days Remaining: N/A 
Date of Verification: 2/24/2014 

The percent compliant = #C/(#C + #NC) Note: NA responses are not included in calculation.

Compliance Item N= #C #NC #NA % Corrective Action

Initial Evaluation

Timely Completion of Initial Evaluation  

300.301(c)

1 1 0 0 100.00% Complete the evaluation and upload into
SEDS. 
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As of June 30, 2012 2011

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 1,038,521$       608,102$          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 226,135            2,518,695         
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,264,656         3,126,797         

Accounts receivable 171,098            94,243              
Prepaid expenses 77,328              59,610              
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,513,082         3,280,650         

LONG TERM ASSETS
Property and equipment, net 4,643,339         2,577,374         
Bond issue costs, net 296,993            319,380            
TOTAL LONG TERM ASSETS 4,940,332         2,896,754         

TOTAL ASSETS 6,453,414$       6,177,404$       

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 58,152$            476,259$          
Accrued expenses 534,527            355,050            
Deferred revenue 458,935            122,278            
Bonds payable, current 219,792            -                        
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,271,406         953,587            

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Bonds payable, net of current 3,186,996         3,535,000         
TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES 3,186,996         3,535,000         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,458,402         4,488,587         

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted 1,995,012         1,688,817         
Temporarily restricted -                        -                        

Total Net Assets 1,995,012         1,688,817         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 6,453,414$       6,177,404$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

See Independent Auditors' Report and Accompanying Notes
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For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from contributors and grantors 11,458,537$    6,973,136$   
Cash paid to employees and suppliers (10,914,934)     (5,202,835)    
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 543,603           1,770,301     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of furniture and equipment (2,280,673)       (2,549,739)    
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,280,673)       (2,549,739)    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bond financing costs 3,141               (259,416)       
(Payments) proceeds from bond financing (128,212)          3,535,000     

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (125,071)          3,275,584     

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH (1,862,141)       2,496,146     

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,126,797        630,651        

CASH, END OF YEAR 1,264,656$      3,126,797$   

RECONCILIATION OF CHANGE IN NET ASSETS TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets 306,195$         1,231,303$   
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Bad debts -                       16,583          
Depreciation 214,708           41,278          
Amortization 19,246             13,036          
Gain on disposition of fixed assets -                       (443)              

(Increase) decrease in current assets:
Accounts receivable (76,855)            (44,330)         
Prepaid expenses (17,718)            (37,010)         

(Decrease) increase in current liabilities:
Accounts payable (418,107)          440,288        
Accrued expenses 179,477           63,496          
Deferred revenue 336,657           46,097          

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 543,603$         1,770,298$   

APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See Independent Auditor's Report and Accompanying Notes 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE A- ORGANIZATION AND PURPOSE 

 
AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School (School) was incorporated as a non-stock and not-for-profit 
organization on September 22, 2004 under the laws of the District of Columbia.  The mission is to provide 
young children with the social, emotional and cognitive foundations that will enable them to succeed in 
school.  The School is in the second year of piloting Every Child Ready, an evidence-based early education 
instructional program that builds children’s early language, literacy and memory skills. Every Child Ready 
was developed by AppleTree Institute through an Investing in Innovation development grant award by the 
U.S. Department of Education. AppleTree is open to any DC child in pre-school and pre-kindergarten, and 
admission is free.    
 
NOTE B- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Basis of  
Accounting The School’s financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of 

accounting. Therefore, revenue and related assets are recognized when earned 
and expenses and related liabilities are recognized as the obligations are incurred. 

 
Basis of  
Presentation  The School reports information regarding its financial position and activities 

according to three classes of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily 
restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets. The School also 
reports expenses as a decrease in unrestricted net assets whether they are incurred 
to satisfy a donor’s restrictions or not. 

 
Contributions and 
Grants  Contributions and grants received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily 

restricted or permanently restricted support, depending on the existence and/or 
nature of any donor restrictions.  When a restriction expires (that is, when a 
stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is accomplished), 
temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and 
reported in the Statement of Activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

 
Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE B- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents  The term cash as used in the accompanying financial statements includes 

currency on hand, demand deposits.  As of June 30, 2012 and 2011, the School 
had no funds in excess of the federally insured limit which covers all funds in 
non-interest bearing transaction accounts. 

 
Property and  
Equipment  Property and equipment having a cost of greater than $1,000 and a useful life of 

greater than one year are stated at cost, or if donated, at fair market value. 
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged against operations. 
Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of the asset are 
capitalized. The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives, ranging from five to 34 years. Depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method.  

 
Deferred  
Revenues  Deferred revenues result from the School recognizing grant income in the period 

in which the work is performed.  Accordingly, grant income which is awarded in 
the current fiscal year is deferred until the fiscal year in which the work is 
performed. 

 
Income Taxes   The School qualifies as a tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the 

Internal Revenue Code. In addition, the School is classified as an entity that is not 
a private foundation under Section 509(a)(1).   

 
The School has adopted the accounting of uncertainty in income taxes as required 
by the Income Taxes topic (Topic 740) of the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification. Topic 740 requires the School to determine whether a tax position is 
more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing 
authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based 
on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is 
measured as the largest amount of benefit that is more than fifty percent likely of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement which could result in the School recording 
a tax liability that would reduce its net assets 

 
The School has analyzed its tax positions, and has concluded that no liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits should be recorded related to any uncertain tax 
positions taken on returns filed for open tax years (2008-2010), or expected to be 
taken in its 2011 tax return.  The School is not aware of any tax positions for 
which it believes that there is a reasonable possibility that the total amounts of 
unrecognized tax benefits will change materially in the next twelve months. 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE B- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Functional  
Allocation of  
Expenses  The costs of providing the various programs and other activities of the School 

have been summarized on a functional basis in the Statement of Activities. 
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and 
supporting services benefited. 

Comparative  
Information  The statement of activities includes certain prior-year summarized comparative 

information in total but not by net asset class.  Such information does not include 
sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in 
conjunction with the School’s financial statement for the year ended June 30, 
2011, from which the summarized information was derived. 

 
NOTE C- RESTRICTED CASH 
 
As of June 30, 2012, approximately $208,000 is restricted as a debt service reserve fund to be used in the 
event of default on any payments by the School.  On or after December 1, 2015, provided that no event of 
default exists, and the School is in compliance with all loan covenants, the amount in the debt service reserve 
fund shall be released by the bond trustee. 
 
NOTE D- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
The following is a summary of furniture and equipment at June 30:  
 
Description   2012 2011 

    Furniture and equipment 
 

        588,752            284,621  
Leasehold improvements 

 
     4,400,539          2,423,996  

Less allowance for depreciation 
 

       (345,952)          (131,243) 
        
Property and Equipment, net    $  4,643,339   $  2,577,374  
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $214,708 and $41,278, respectively. 

 
NOTE E- BOND ISSUE COSTS 
 
Bond issue costs are comprised of acquisition costs related to the bond financing used to fund the School’s 
capital renovations at two campuses.  These costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the bonds.  Amortization expense amounted to $19,246 for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE F- BONDS PAYABLE 
 
On November 1, 2010 the School secured permanent financing in the amount of $3,535,000, for the 
renovation of two leased school buildings at 138 12th Street NE, Washington, DC (Capitol Hill) and at 2015-
17 Savannah Terrace SC, Washington, DC (Douglass Knolls) through the District of Columbia Revenue 
Bonds (AppleTree Early Learning Public Charter School Issue) Qualified School Construction Bonds 
(Taxable-Tax Credit Bonds) Series 2010.  The interest rate on the bonds was determined by taking the sum of 
the original purchaser’s five year cost of funds rate, plus 3.5%, less the tax credit rate of 5.37% which 
resulted in a zero interest rate to the School. 
 
The bonds are collateralized by the assets and the per pupil facilities fees at the two campuses.  The maturity 
date of the bonds is December 1, 2027, and required principal payments to a sinking fund are $18,316 per 
month commencing on December 1, 2011 and continuing until the maturity date.  The bonds are guaranteed 
in full by AppleTree Institute for Education Innovation, a related party. The bonds are also guaranteed by a 
credit enhancement facility agreement with the District of Columbia Office of Public Charter School 
Financing and Support in the amount of $400,000, which expires on June 30, 2014. 
 
Aggregate annual maturities of the bonds payable are as follows: 
 
 
For the Year Ending June 30,     
2013 

 
                      219,793  

2014 
 

                      219,793  
2015 

 
                      219,793  

2016 
 

                      219,793  
2017 

 
                      219,793  

Thereafter 
 

                   2,307,823  
Total Bonds Payable    $                3,406,788  
 
NOTE G- LEASE COMMITMENTS 

 
In June 2006, the School entered into a ten year agreement with a related party, AppleTree Institute, to lease 
facility space. The lease agreement has an expiration date of June 14, 2016, with an additional five year 
option to renew.   The annual rent is equal to the facility fee per student received by the school from the 
District of Columbia, and may vary in amount from year to year. In April 2012, the School and AppleTree 
Institute entered into a new master lease agreement with a commencement date of January 1, 2012 and 
expiring on June 30, 2015. Under the agreement, the School shall pay monthly rent based on the facilities 
allowance received by the School from the District of Columbia, subject to minimum and maximum monthly 
amounts based on the per pupil facilities allowance and fixed enrollment.  
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE G- LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued) 
 
In November 2010, the School entered into a sub-sub-lease with AppleTree Institute, a related party, for 
ground rent at its Douglass Knolls Campus.  The term of the lease is 35 years, expiring on November 22, 
2045, with an option to renew for two consecutive ten year periods.  Monthly obligations under this lease are 
$1, with a 10% escalation every tenth year. On June 13, 2012, both parties agreed to an amendment to the 
sub-sub-lease covering management expenses for the property, effective January 1, 2012. The management 
fees to be paid by the School are $1,075 per month. 
 
In July 2011, the School entered into a lease with AppleTree Institute, a related party, for ground rent at its 
Capitol Hill Campus.  The term of the lease is 20 years, with an option to extend the lease for 10 years.  
Monthly obligations under this lease are $5,531. On June 13, 2012, both parties agreed to an amendment to 
the sub-sub-lease covering management expenses for the property, effective January 1, 2012. The 
management fees to be paid by the School are $806 per month. 

 
The School leases office space under an agreement which expires March 31, 2017, with an additional option 
to renew for an additional five year term.  
 
Total rent expense for these and other short-term operating leases was $1,635,541 and $873,431 for the years 
ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

 
The future minimum lease payments on an annual basis are: 
 
For the Year Ending June 30,    Amount  
2013 

 
            698,978  

2014 
 

            702,627  
2015 

 
            706,458  

2016 
 

            710,480  
2017 

 
            647,381  

Thereafter 
 

            370,044  
      
Total future minimum lease payments    $      3,835,968  
 
NOTE H- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The School was designed by AppleTree Institute for Education Innovation, Inc. (the Institute), a not for profit 
organization whose mission is to increase the number of effective schools through innovation. The Institute 
supports the School as a strategic partner, and has made a commitment to fund any operating shortfalls of the 
School. The School leases its facilities from the Institute (see Note G). 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE H- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
In November 2010, the Institute transferred approximately $500,000 in City Build funds to the School to 
facilitate the Qualified School Construction Bond transaction in the absence of a qualifying joint venture 
entity for the project, which is located on property that the School is sub-leasing from the Institute. At the 
closing of the bond issue, $300,000 was paid toward an Institute’s loan from one of their board members. 
 
During the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, the School charged the Institute $34,477 and $51,253, 
respectively, for administrative costs. 
 
NOTE I- CONCENTRATIONS OF RISK 
 
The School is supported primarily through local and federal appropriations and grants.  For the years ended 
June 30, 2012 and 2011, 90% and 72% respectively, of total revenue was provided from one local 
government agency.  Reduction of this source of support would have a significant impact on the School’s 
programs and activities. 
 
NOTE J- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The School receives revenues from government grants and contracts.  The ultimate determination of amounts 
received under these programs generally is based upon allowable costs, which are subject to audit, and are 
reported to the government.  The School is of the opinion that adjustments, if any, arising from such audits 
will not have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
NOTE K- DONATED GOODS AND SERVICES 

 
During the year ended June 30, 2011 the School received donated furniture which was recorded as revenue at 
a value estimated by the donor. During the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 the School received donated 
goods and services in the amounts of $0 and $10,724, respectively. 

 
NOTE L- RETIREMENT PLAN 

 
The School has a 403(b) qualified retirement plan, under which the School makes an annual discretionary 
contribution for all eligible employees with two years of service. Typically, the amount is 5% of the eligible 
employee’s compensation. The total contributions made by the School for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011 were $76,924 and $56,778, respectively. 

 
NOTE M- AVERAGE COST PER STUDENT 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 the average cost per student was $17,654 and $18,141 
respectively.  This is calculated by dividing total noncapital expenditures, by the school’s full-time student 
enrollment. 
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

June 30, 2012 and 2011 
 

 
NOTE N- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
In accordance with FASB ASC 855, the School evaluated subsequent events through the date of the financial 
statements, which is the date these financial statements were available to be issued.  There were no material 
subsequent events that required recognition or additional disclosure in these financial statements. 



For the Years Ended June 30, 2011
Program Administration Fundraising Total Total

Personnel, Salaries, and Benefits
Salaries 5,390,858$      581,463$       5,972,321$      3,138,246$    
Benefits 546,522           55,982          602,504           371,622         
Payroll taxes 438,850           35,266          474,116           250,807         
Recruiting and development 11,824             31,610          43,434             17,713          
Total personnel, salaries, and benefits 6,388,054        704,321         -                    7,092,375        3,778,388      

Direct Student Costs
Direct student costs 465,249           80,562          545,811           260,505         
Enrollment outreach 5,666               43,094          48,760             76,158          
Total direct student costs 470,915           123,656         -                    594,571           336,663         

Occupancy Expense
Occupancy 1,863,295        195,564         2,058,859        1,134,601      
Total occupancy expense 1,863,295        195,564         -                    2,058,859        1,134,601      

Office Expense
Telephone 25,145             23,190          48,335             27,797          
Supplies 49,729             8,350            58,079             27,518          
Technology expense 11,635             9,536            21,171             18,507          
Printing and duplication 31,595             4,880            36,475             10,894          
Other office expenses 1,045               6,878            7,923               7,249            
Postage and delivery 709                  4,390            5,099               1,978            
Total office expense 119,858           57,224          -                    177,082           93,943          

General Expense
Food service 524,131           3,626            527,757           266,034         
Depreciation -                      97,269          97,269             41,278          
Miscellaneous 26,859             30,550          57,409             39,297          
Insurance -                      49,302          49,302             29,839          
Professional fees 73,822             125,146         198,968           25,831          
Meetings and entertainment 17,201             21,384          38,585             19,438          
Bad debts -                      -                    -                      16,583          
Amortization -                      19,246          19,246             13,036          
Travel 1,414               14,180          15,594             7,109            
Administrative charge -                      (34,477)         (34,477)            (51,253)         
Total general expense 643,427           326,226         -                    969,653           407,192         

TOTAL 9,485,549$      1,406,991$    -                    10,892,540$    5,750,787$      

2012

APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL
SCHEDULE OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
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APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012 
 

 
 
       Federal  

          Federal Grantor/Pass-through   CFDA    Federal  
      Grantor/Program or Cluster Title      Number     Expenditures 

 
U. S. Department of Education: 
 

ARRA – Education Jobs Fund 84.410A $       3 
 Special Education – 611 Grant to LEAs 84.027A 18,344 
 Special Education – 619 Preschool Grant to LEAs 84.173A 7,003 

Education of Homeless Children and Youth 84.196A         27,248 
 

  Sub-total Department of Education        52,598 
 

Department of Agriculture – Food and Nutrition Service: 
 

National School Lunch Program 10.555 307,273 
 
 Sub-total Department of Agriculture       307,273 

 
Department of Health and Human Services: 
 

Medicaid 93.778 4,534 
 
 Sub-total Department of Health and Human Services      4,534 

 
  
Congressional Appropriations: 
 

Teachers Compensation Grant N/A 62,600 
School Replication and Growth Grant N/A 303,948 
 
 Sub-total Congressional Appropriations    366,548 
 
  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS   $ 730,953 
 
NOTE A – BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity 
of the School and is presented in accordance with GAAP. The information in the schedule is 
presented in accordance with the requirements OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Government and Non-Profit Organizations.  Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule 
may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the financial statements. 

 



 

 

APPLETREE EARLY LEARNING PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012 
 

 
SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 
Financial Statements 
Type of auditor’s report issued  Unqualified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weaknesses identified        yes     X   no 
Significant deficiencies identified that are 
  not considered to be material weaknesses        yes     X   none 
reported 
 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted        yes    X    no 
 
Federal Awards 
 
Internal control over major programs: 

Material weaknesses identified        yes     X    no 
Significant deficiencies identified that are 
  not considered to be material weaknesses        yes      X   none 
reported 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance 
   for major programs Unqualified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
 to be reported in accordance with section 

  510(a) of OMB Circular A-133        yes      X   no 
 
 Identification of major programs: 
  CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
 

 Congressional Appropriation School Replication and Growth 
     

 Department of Agriculture 10.555 National School Lunch Program 
     
 
 Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
  type A and type B programs:  $300,000 
 
 Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?        yes     X    no 
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